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FOREWORD

uncharted heights to an existing mountain of cultural heritage. The River Alliance, a local conserva-

tion-advocacy group, has partnered with the National Park Service in exploring a potential gold
mine of information on local, state, and national history. The proposed historical research park at Congaree
Creek is a unique heritage resource that deserves appropriate protection and interpretation. Located just
south of Cayce, South Carolina, west of the Congaree River, and north of Interstate Highway 77, the pro-
posed research park contains the remains of multiple centuries of human activity in the Columbia environs.
Locked within its alluvial soils and terraces are the untold stories of the past preserved for the future.

This volume, Congaree Creek Archeological Park, A Historic Opportunity is a compelling account
of the known history of the Congaree Creek area. But it is much more than that: it is a guide and pre-
scription for unlocking untold stories of history and the local human saga for over 12, 000 years. The
stories are waiting to be told by archaeologists, historians, and teachers about how prehistoric peoples,
with limited technology, lived, struggled, and prospered. Locked within archaeological, and as yet bare-
ly explored archival records, are important details that will illuminate the history of early colonial South
Carolina, including a fortified trading post established in 1718, 18th century economy and settlement,
and human activities at plantations owned by Charles Pinckney and others. The important, but as yet,
incomplete stories of the American Revolution, such as the movements of colonial and patriot militia,
and a British retreat in 1781, wait to be revealed. A zigzag alignment of earthen breastworks in the pro-
posed park marks the location of Confederate defensive actions to delay Sherman’s army in 1865. Later
historical accounts, such as the travails of post Civil War Reconstruction, the exploits of 19th century
steamboats, and the events of the 19th and 20th century textile industry, will be more accurately told fol-
lowing archaeological and historical research at the park.

It has been my privilege to lead the development of this study, composed by award-winning authors
Sharyn Kane and Richard Keeton, which eloquently describes the archaeological and historical poten-
tial of the Congaree Creek park. Working with Michael Dawson of the River Alliance, and with the
invaluable input and support from numerous local and regional colleagues and experts, we are confident
that the citizens of South Carolina will seize the unprecedented opportunity described in this book to
create a resource that promises to be a fountain of knowledge for enhancing a rich cultural heritage.

The residents of Greater Columbia and the state of South Carolina have a unique opportunity to add

John H. Jameson, Jr.

Program Manager,

Archeology Education and Interpretation
Southeast Archeological Center

National Park Service
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though there is still much to learn about every
epoch and event.

The following chapters outline some of what
researchers hope to discover within the Archeo-
logical Park, with the understanding that surprise
is the constant companion of scientific study.

Researchers in this new park will conduct in-
depth studies into multiple time periods of human
occupation. They will sift through soils to learn
such diverse information as new details about Ice
Age humans to how military strategies changed in
the Civil War’s closing days. Working on many
projects at once, they will attempt to ferret out
myriad details about vast epochs of time stretch-
ing back as far as 12,000 years ago, perhaps even
earlier.

Columbia is notable for the high caliber of
archeological talent gathered at the University of
South Carolina’s Institute of Archaeology and
Anthropology, making the proposed park’s
location ideal for researchers. There are also
prominent archeologists based throughout the
South who have conducted important excavations
near Congaree Creek. These professionals, who
in the words of archeologist Michael Trinkley, are
“laboring in the vineyards of both research and
public education,” will be vital to the develop-
ment of the proposed park.

§§8

EVERYONE WELCOME

The endeavor will be particularly unusual
because the public will be invited to watch and
participate in the discoveries. Usually, archeologi-
cal digs are conducted in hard-to-reach locations
and are typically closed to the public. In marked
contrast, during the Congaree Creek studies,
individuals, including children, as well as groups
will be welcome to observe excavations and walk
through nearby exhibits showcasing what is being
learned from the scientific efforts.

Promoters of the park are just beginning to
consider how to make the park accessible to

visitors. One idea is to have a self-guided loop
trail leading past important attractions. Paths
leading off from the loop trail will end at archeo-
logical digs where guides will be on hand to
explain the research processes and what scientists
are uncovering in the soils.

For example, one such path might lead to
remnants of a prehistoric settlement where early
inhabitants cooked stews of venison and herbs in
earthen pits, heating the stews with rocks from a
fire. Another path might lead to an excavation of
a Revolutionary War camp, perhaps a site where
the “Gamecock,” Thomas Sumter himself, might
have planned his next assault against the British.

Park promoters think there might someday be
various exhibits near archeological digs that help
visitors visualize what once existed long ago.
Based on what archeologists discover, for in-
stance, workers could erect a replica or a partial
model of Fort Congaree, as it may have appeared
in 1718. Researchers recently discovered fort
remnants twelve feet beneath the ground surface
but have not yet begun conducting thorough
excavations.

As scientists make new discoveries, any
model or fort replica will be adapted to reflect the
findings. “You want models or reconstructions to
be fluid enough so you can alter them over time
as the research is being done and as the archeol-
ogists develop new ideas about what once ex-
isted,” explained archeologist John Jameson of
the National Park Service. Another possibility is
to someday use computers to create images of
what the fort may have looked like that could be
viewed over the internet or at exhibits at nearby
museums.

Knowledge gained in the excavations will also
provide insights into daily life for the fort’s inhab-
itants as well as information about the Indians
who frequented the area to trade with the colo-
nists. Informational signs in the park will share
some of this knowledge in easy-to-read formats.
Another possibility is to have guides and cos-
tumed actors, skilled in entertaining story-telling,
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to provide further help bringing the local history
to life. Scientists conducting excavations might
sometimes give brief talks at the site to visitors
explaining their methods and findings.

The park would also offer visitors chances to
learn about human life in the area during the years
before reading and writing began, the periods of
prehistory. “You could have a reconstruction, or
model, or computer generated views of what a
prehistoric community looked like in 3000 B.C.
and other similar exhibits to show life in 1000
B.C.,” explained Mike Dawson, executive direc-
tor of the River Alliance. “The archeologists
would be at the same time learning even more
about each of these time periods.”

Dawson also wants to make sure the earth-
works from the Civil War are preserved and
protected. Park employees might reconstruct part
of a bridge over Congaree Creek to show how the
structure looked when it was so hotly contested
on a cold, rainy February day in 1865. Archeolog-
ical studies will pinpoint where the two opposing
sides both placed cannons, and actual Civil War
cannons might be placed in the exact locations.
Trained guides one day could lead visitors on
tours around the trenches, explaining moment-by-
moment what happened during the engagement.

Promoters hope there will eventually be a
modern visitor center at the park with an audito-
rium where guests can see an introductory film
about the area’s colorful history. Such a film
could provide tips about how best to take advan-
tage of the park’s various attractions.

Another possibility is to use a visitor center as
a staging ground for educational camps. These
camps might last a day, a week, or several weeks
and be structured for students of varying ages, as
well as for teachers and adults seeking to learn
more about scientific techniques or history.
College students could participate in field schools
designed to train aspiring archeologists.

“One of the most fascinating and exciting
aspects about the park is that you have archeolog-
ical sites representing nearly every major episode
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in the cultural history of the United States,” says
Chad Long, archeologist with the South Carolina
State Historic Preservation Office. “These time
periods are also the focus of national and state
education standards.” For students visiting the
park, Long added, the experience “could make
history come alive.”

Interested citizens could come to a visitor
center to volunteer to help out at archeological
digs. They could also find out about how to
participate in the digs by visiting a park web site
on the internet that likely will be developed.

Another possibility is to have programs at a
visitor center for teaching and entertaining chil-
dren which would allow parents to explore by
themselves elsewhere in the park. Park promoters
also talk about one day perhaps installing picnic
tables, barbeque pits, playgrounds, and a snack
bar.

The park could also provide visitors with
various ways to enjoy the abundant natural beauty
of the area. One option might be to allow visitors
to rent canoes to float down Congaree Creek.
Following the creek’s winding path through the
park and adjacent public lands, boaters could
catch a glimpse of how the world might have
looked to prehistoric Indians thousands of years
earlier.

Tannic acid from decaying vegetation still
darkens the creek waters as it did long ago and
tree limbs still stretch across the creek, touching
limbs from the other side, creating a leafy canopy.
As Oz Nagler, an urban planner with the River
Alliance, put it, “This is a seriously attractive site,
a wonderfully visual place. The black water in the
creek is gorgeous.”

Matthew Lockhart, editor of the South
Carolina Historical Magazine, points out another
reason the park will be a welcome addition to the
greater Columbia region. “Although the park’s
primary purpose will be cultural presentation and
interpretation, it will provide much needed green
space in the rapidly expanding metro area.”

There could also be hiking trails of varying












peared in the region even sooner, according to
some archeologists, such as Albert Goodyear of
the South Carolina Institute of Archaeology and
Anthropology in Columbia. Much work remains
to be done to substantiate Goodyear’s theories,
but there is no argument among the experts that
humans were in the Congaree area near the end of
the ice age.

How did these early people look? They were
no doubt lean and muscular from lives spent
mostly outdoors in pursuit of food and materials
they could use as tools. Their clothing consisted
of the skins of animals they had slain with the
wooden and stone spears they carried, weapons
they relied on for survival, along with the carved
stone knives strapped around their waists.

These rugged prehistoric wanderers were
adept at using their environment. Hunting animals
and gathering plant foods likely occupied much of
their time. Hunters probably worked together in
pursuit of large prey, especially the wooly mam-
moths. They would have trailed a herd of the
animals, perhaps waiting until the creatures
stopped to drink or perhaps immerse themselves
in a watering hole. The hunters would have tried
to stay downwind to avoid alarming the mam-
moths as they edged closer.

The hunters, watching for their chance, would
perhaps spring into action when an older, weaker
mammoth strayed to one side of the herd, sloshed
into some mud at the edge of the swamp, and
sank up to its knees. Suddenly, the hunters would
rush forward, jamming their rock-tipped spears
into the animal’s leathery belly. The creature
certainly must have fought back, menacing the
men with its sharp tusks, but the outcome was
inevitable.

The mammoth, bleeding and weakened, was
eventually felled by repeated jabs, assaults that
could have taken place sporadically over one or
two days as the hunters trailed the wounded
giant. Their efforts were rewarded with enough
meat for everyone, as well as the animal’s hide

and bones, which the hunters could use for many
purposes.

Hunting mammoths, however, was not the
only aspect of survival. Fritz Hamer, historian at
the South Carolina State Museum, argues that it
is probably “overstating the case that early man
devoted a good deal of time to hunting big game.”
Archeologist David Anderson and Joe Joseph
think early inhabitants, at least in what we now
call the southeastern United States, hunted a
variety of animals, both large and small. They also
likely gathered nuts, seeds and leafy plants for
food, as well as dug up roots.

§8§

SPEAR TALES

Archeologists know that prehistoric people
spent time along Congaree Creek about 11,500
years ago because they have found their distinc-
tive stone spear points. Researchers classify
people of different cultural eras in prehistory by
the artifacts they made. The hunters who crafted
the late ice age spear points found near Congaree
Creek are called Paleoindians. The wooden
spears to which the points were attached disinte-
grated long ago, but scientists find the Paleoindi-
an spear points where prehistoric hunters either
intentionally discarded or lost them.

By examining these rock points and where
they appear, archeologists have pieced together
pictures of Paleoindian life and developed theo-
ries about how these people first made their way
to South Carolina. According to most theories,
the Paleoindians entered North America by
traveling across a narrow land bridge some 1,300
miles long connecting Asia with Alaska. This
finger of land surfaced in the Bering Strait be-
cause of lower sea levels during the ice age.
Archeologists speculate that the early people
were following game, a theory supported by the
finding of similar animal fossils on both sides of
where the land bridge extended.



As temperatures warmed, the great northern
glacier began to melt and split in two sometime
between 14,000 to 12,000 years ago, opening a
wide path leading through western Canada into
the western United States. Most archeologists
think Paleoindians followed this path south,
although some suggest that early people could
have arrived on the continent by boat and made
their way down the West Coast. Still others
speculate that people arrived in North America
after traveling by boat across the Atlantic Ocean,
and that there may be more than one origin of
early populations.

Paleoindians, however, probably moved into
the American West from Canada. From there they
encountered four great rivers — the Missouri,
Platte, Arkansas and Red — all flowing east.
Migrating people frequently follow rivers because
the waterways hollow out valleys through rugged
terrain, supply drinking water, and attract game.

Animal herds wear down paths near the
rivers, paths that people can follow, which is what
the Paleoindians did, leaving their spear point
calling cards along the way. When they reached
the broad Mississippi, the river must have seemed
to be a nearly impossible barrier. In time, how-
ever, early people forded the continent’s largest
river, perhaps by building crude boats or rafts
from small trees they felled with their stone
knives.

Once they reached the other side of the Mis-
sissippi, Paleoindians slowed their travels for a
time, according to archeologist David Anderson.
Bolstering his theory are the many early
Paleoindian spear points found in Kentucky,
Ohio, Tennessee, and northern Alabama, more
than in any other part of the United States.

Paleoindians, archeologists speculate, lived in
small bands consisting perhaps of no more than
50 people. Eventually, some of the bands broke
off from the cluster of Paleoindians in Kentucky,
Ohio, Tennessee, and northern Alabama and
headed toward the far reaches of the eastern

United States. These bands, consisting of men,
women, and children, sometimes traveled great
distances as they pursued migrating animals,
sought sources of their preferred rocks for spear
points and tools, and searched for new home
territories.

There is no way to know how many genera-
tions of Paleoindians lived and died in North
America before their descendants reached Conga-
ree Creek. The first arrivals may have been a
small group of male hunters on a long exploration
trip away from the women and children. Or,
perhaps the earliest humans in the area consisted
of an entire band that camped beside the creek
waters. We know so little about them because, so
far, only some rare, few bits of evidence have
been found from their existence.

§88

EARLY CLUES APPEAR

A few spear points discovered near Congaree
Creek appear remarkably similar to others left
behind by Early Paleoindians across the nation.
Often beautifully crafted, these artifacts reveal
handiwork of great care and skill.

The hunters exerted considerable effort
searching for just the right rocks to make their
spear points. They often chose chert, a type of
flint, which comes in various forms and colors.
Spear points formed from chert in South Carolina
can be tan, orange, grey, or black. Archeologist
Tommy Charles, tracing some of these rocks back
to their sources, discovered that Paleoindians
perhaps migrated as far as 200 miles to obtain
some of the chert for their weapons.

To make a spear point, Paleoindians struck
two rocks together in a process that is far more
difficult than it sounds. In unskilled hands,
knapping, or tool making, can result in cuts and
other injuries. The resulting spear point was
shaped like a laurel leaf and could be three inches
long. These points often share a feature of slightly



elevated ridges across their surfaces, almost as if
miniature waves were etched in the stone.

By studying these artifacts, archeologists have
discovered that many of them were actually used
as knives. Instead of attaching a spear shaft to the
point, the Paleoindians affixed a short wooden
handle.

Scientists call these early tools Clovis points
because they were first discovered in Clovis, New
Mexico. Paleoindians made the points with a pair
of shallow grooves in the base of the stones, one
on each side, both about an inch long. Called
flutes, the grooves helped connect the spear point
to a spear shaft. The Paleoindians cut a slit in the
top of the wood spear shaft, then slipped this split
end into the grooves. They then wrapped binding
around the wood and stone, perhaps using dried
animal tendons or strong plant fibers. At times,
they also applied a sticky tree resin as a glue.

Archeologists have discovered some of these
Clovis points at an archeological excavation on
the Manning site, which consists of 80 acres
bordering Congaree Creek. The land, primarily a
raised terrace, is named for its former owner, Burl
Manning, who encouraged archeologists to study
the property. Later, the SCANA Corporation
bought the land and continued to support archeo-
logical research. Recently, the company donated
part of the tract to the South Carolina Heritage
Land Trust, ensuring its protection from develop-
ment. The land will also serve as a buffer area for
the proposed Archeological Park. Depending on
how much money is raised to support the park,
the Manning site could be included within the
park boundaries.

Establishment of an Archeological Park that
includes the Manning site will assure that re-
searchers can continue to study the interesting
artifacts and other remnants of the past to be
found there. This work should prove invaluable
because the land is known to hold artifacts from
many different periods of human occupation
stretching back thousands of years, but also

10

including historic periods, such as the Colonial
era. Evidence about Paleoindians that may be
hidden in the soils could be especially enlighten-
ing.

Archeologists date the Paleoindian era in
South Carolina from approximately 11,500 years
ago to about 10,000 years ago (9500 B.C. to
8000 B.C.). A great deal changed during these
thousands of years. Besides the climate warming
and hardwoods enveloping open land, vast num-
bers of animals became extinct. Perhaps human
hunters helped push some of the species into
oblivion. Mammoths, mastodons, bison antiquus,
the giant sloth, and many other species perished.

As the climate warmed, there were more
animal species to hunt and plant varieties to
collect for food, but Paleoindians nonetheless had
to make adjustments. Jabbing their spears into a
gigantic creature was no longer possible. Increas-
ingly, they threw their spears at smaller, faster
prey, such as deer, making accuracy vital to their
hunting success. As a result, the Paleoindians
crafted smaller, lighter spear points. Toward the
end of the era, about 8000 B.C., hunters typically
made spear points with a concave base. Called
Dalton points, these weapons have flared corners
at the base. Archeologists studying the Manning
site discovered Dalton spear points along Conga-
ree Creek, as well as stone knives, both appar-
ently made by later Paleoindians. These knives,
called prismatic blades, tend to be more than
twice as long as they are wide.

Finding locations with significant evidence
from the Paleoindians is exceedingly rare, making
the Congaree Creek area especially important
because of the expectation that more early arti-
facts will be uncovered. Already, archeologists
have discovered Paleoindian spear points at
another location just west of the proposed Arche-
ological Park at a site labeled 38LX81.

Early artifacts have also appeared to the north
at a place called the Taylor site. These findings
enhance the tantalizing prospect that intensive






uncovered stone tools in South Carolina that may
date to between 15,000 and 20,000 years ago,
when the last ice age was at its coldest. Goodyear
located the artifacts — consisting of tiny blades,
scraping implements for peeling off animal hair,
rocks used as hammers, and other tools — deep in
soils near the Savannah River, the natural border
between South Carolina and Georgia.

Goodyear discovered these tools in the earth
beneath artifacts identified with early Paleoindi-
ans. Typically, the oldest artifacts occupy the
deepest layer or strata of soils in an excavation.

Goodyear’s findings have stirred a great deal
of interest nationally, among both scientists and
the media. If his discoveries withstand additional
scientific scrutiny, they could indicate that people
reached South Carolina much earlier than previ-
ously thought.

Adding credence to Goodyear’s research are
similar findings reported in Sussex County, Vir-
ginia, near the Nottoway River and the Meadow-
croft rock shelter in Pennsylvania.

Other excavations reveal the possibility that
humans reached both North and South America
even earlier. Scientists working high in the Andes
Mountains of Peru, for example, unearthed tools
that reportedly date to 20,000 years ago, while
research at a bog in Chile and a cave in New
Mexico all suggest human existence even earlier

12

8889

than 20,000 years ago. However, skeptics argue
that some of the objects identified as early tools
are merely rocks battered and chiseled by natural
forces such as glaciers, sand storms, floods, even
animals. Others question the validity of dating
techniques used at some of the sites and ask why
so few of these ancient occupation sites have
been found.

Even if the sites do represent much earlier
human existence, archeologist David Anderson
argues that the people who lived so long ago
probably died out long before the Paleoindians
appeared. Their passing would have left the
American continents devoid of humans until the
final stages of the ice age.

® How did the Paleoindian lifestyle change
over time?

The environment altered significantly between
the time when the first Paleoindians arrived
around 11,500 years ago and the end of the era,
about 10,000 years ago. Scientists have not
determined all of the ways Paleoindians adapted
their lives or the different rates of change in
various locations.

Archeologists are also unsure how human
migrating patterns changed over time. There is
some evidence that toward the end of the cultural
period Paleoindians spent much more time in one
major camp and in vastly reduced territories.









discarded food scraps, and an old, worn-out
mocassin into a basket, which she had woven
from materials collected around the settlement.
She carried the refuse toward the swamp.

The Indians had chosen this high ground for
their settlement because they would be protected
from flooding during the rainy season and would
have good vantage points for spotting game.
When they first arrived, leaves were cascading
from the many hardwoods and nuts were scat-
tered across the ground. The women and children
spent hours collecting the acorns and hickory
nuts, which would supplement their diet and
become essential if hunting was poor in the
coming winter months.

Another early task was building their shelters.
During the warmer seasons when they camped at
other locations, the Indians did not use huts.
Instead, they erected airy lean-to’s that offered
some protection from the rain and sun, but also
allowed cooling breezes to reach the occupants.
Sometimes they slept beneath the stars with no
shelter at all. Freezing weather, however, required
more substantial huts, which they formed by
cutting down small trees and hacking off all the
limbs with stone knives. They carried these tree
poles to the swamp and dumped them in the
water, leaving them to soak for several days until
the wood became more pliable.

Everyone cooperated in building one a-
nother’s dwellings. The men dug holes in the
ground, using shovels they made from sturdy
sticks tied to deer shoulder bones. They dug a
circle of holes for every hut, with the circles about
five yards in diameter and the holes about two
feet deep. The men placed one of the soaked
poles into a hole and held it in place, while the
women and older children helped shove and pack
dirt around the base. When they had erected a
circle of upright poles, some of the taller men
bent the poles toward the circle center and tied
the ends together, creating the dome frame.
Everyone helped pile deer hides onto the frame,

then the women laced the hides together with
sturdy vines, twining them through holes they had
punched with sharp stones. The women also tied
the hides to the frame, leaving a small opening on
the northwest side to serve as an entryway with a
strategic and pleasant view of the woods.

As the woman tipped over her basket, tum-
bling the trash into the murky water, an owl
hooted from the top of a dead tree, then swooped
low into the forest and out of view. She returned
to join other women preparing a meal. The cooks
stood near a roaring fire in which they had placed
quartz rocks, which were now heated thoroughly.
One of the women picked up a stick, flattened at
one end, and jabbed it into the flames to upend
one of the hot rocks. She expertly maneuvered
the rock onto the stick so she could carry it.
Slowly, she headed toward a shallow pit, balanc-
ing the rock as she walked. The pit, lined with an
animal skin, was about ten yards away, far e-
nough to keep burning debris from floating into it
and spoiling the contents of meat, herbs, and
roots. The ingredients, including the fresh venison
the men had provided, floated in enough water to
create a stew.

The woman carefully lowered the stick so that
the hot rock splashed into the stew, which began
to hiss and simmer from the added heat. The rock
instantly began cooling and cracking from the
rapid change in temperature. A second woman
soon arrived with another hot rock, then a third
followed. They would have to repeat this process
many times until the stew was thoroughly cooked.
Even so, savory aromas already wafted over the
camp, stirring everyone’s appetite.

§§8§

AN ANCIENT PRESENCE
A scene similar to this may have unfolded
thousands of years ago at the Manning site,
adjacent to Congaree Creek, where research by
archeologist Lisa O’Steen disclosed a human

15



presence in ancient times. Major sections of the
site not yet studied will be included in a protected
buffer zone just outside the boundaries of the
proposed Archeological Park and may someday
be part of the park.

O’Steen’s excavations so far have uncovered
impressive evidence of prehistoric human life at
this South Carolina location. Some of the most
notable findings appeared between six inches and
two feet beneath the earth surface. Here she
uncovered remnants of a camp dated between
8000 B.C. and 6000 B.C., an era known as the
Early Archaic period.

The Archaic cultural tradition, marked by
significant changes in human customs and the
environment, followed the Paleoindian years. The
entire Archaic period spans some seven thousand
years and is divided into three eras: Early, Middle
(6000 B.C. to 3000 B.C.), and Late (3000 B.C.
to 1000 B. C.). Evidence from all three eras has
surfaced at the Manning site.

In fact, an unusually large number of places
near Congaree Creek have revealed artifacts from
the Archaic years, an indication of how important
the location was to early people. Preliminary
investigations have already uncovered four sepa-
rate Archaic sites within the proposed Archeolog-
ical Park.

At least one of these sites, identified with the
official archeological number of 38LX80, con-
tains artifacts from many different prehistoric
eras. Preliminary research indicates that artifacts
from these various periods may be separated by
distinct soil layers, a promising prospect. Such
layering, which archeologists call stratigraphy, is
vitally important to determining how conditions
changed over time.

Many archeological sites, especially those in
sandy soils, lack easily recognized layers because
burrowing animals, tree roots, and human digging
churn the soils, making them difficult to read.
Even when distinct layers remain, the slight
variations in color or texture indicative of differ-
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ent periods of human occupation may be almost
indistinguishable. Acid in sandy soils and leeching
often erase clear stratigraphy and buried stains
that help scientists decipher what happened long
ago, points out archeologist Michael Trinkley.
Acidic soils also often mean that there is, in his
words, “little bone preservation and heavily
eroded floral remains.”

The possibility of so many potential human
occupation sites near Congaree Creek, coupled
with the many interesting discoveries already
made, lends credence to the proposed park’s
potential. The park will also help preserve sites
that may not appear to be significant now but
could be revealed to be important when new
research techniques are developed for unlocking
secrets in the sandy soils.

There are at least twelve places known to
hold Archaic artifacts near the proposed Archeo-
logical Park. These dozen sites will be part of
buffer zones adjacent to the proposed park. Park
promoters hope owners of land surrounding the
park will agree to conservation easements and
deed restrictions allowing future archeological
studies.

Already, archeologist David Anderson has
excavated a probable prehistoric hunting camp
near the proposed park, a site identified as 38L.X-
64. Such short-term camps reveal fewer numbers
and a lesser variety of artifacts than places, such
as the Manning site, where early people spent
more time. By comparing large sites with the
smaller ones nearby, archeologists can piece
together data about human migration patterns and
social systems.

§§8

MANY TOOLS & USES
What sorts of objects did Archaic people
leave behind and how did they use them?
Archeologists have discovered a variety of arti-
facts near Congaree Creek, including:



® Fire-cracked rocks

Like many prehistoric tools, these appear to
be nothing out of the ordinary to untrained ob-
servers. Careful examination, however, reveals
fissures and jagged edges that resulted from
sudden temperature fluctuations or exposure to
intense heat. Some of the rocks were apparently
dropped into cold liquids to aid cooking, while
others were used to enclose ancient campfires,
facts revealed from red splotches and black soot
smudges.

® Scrapers

Prehistoric people often shaped these tools
from stone flakes chipped off rocks during spear-
point making. Scrapers feature a sharpened edge
on at least one side, which the Indians used
primarily to remove hair from animal hides.
Prehistoric people also used scrapers to shave
animal bones, antlers, and wood, which they used
in a variety of objects, including shovels, fish
hooks, and adornments. During the Archaic era,
people sometimes attached wood handles to
scrapers, but they also sometimes simply held the
stones in their fingers. Archeologists call scrapers
without handles expedient tools. Prehistoric
people tended to use expedient scrapers once or
twice, then throw them away, while they often
preserved and reused the ones with handles.

® Wedges

Prehistoric people used these tools (some-
times called pieces esquillees) to split bone and
wood. Often rectangular, wedges show signs of
being battered on one end with a hammer stone.
The other end often is blunted, further indication
that the wedge was driven into solid objects.

Early people split wood and bone for multiple
purposes, including making practical items such
as spear shafts, as well as more decorative ob-
jects, such as necklaces. They also sometimes
split animal bones to extract the marrow, an
important source of nutrition, especially when
other food was difficult to find.

® Gravers and perforators

These stone artifacts have a projection on at
least one side. This stone tip, shaped by early
humans, served different functions. Archeologists
consider the tool to be a perforator when its tip
shows signs of being rotated rapidly. Early people
used perforators to drill holes in bone, wood,
shell, and hides so they could lace the hides
together, string shells into bracelets and neck-
laces, and make fish hooks from bones.

The stone tips on gravers tend to be shorter
and sharper than those on perforators. Early
people used these tools to engrave designs on
antlers, bone, and wood. Unfortunately, we can
only speculate how the designs looked because
most of the decorated objects disintegrated long
ago.

® Anvil stones and grinding basins

These rocks with comparatively flat surfaces
were used as work platforms. Anvil stones (also
often called pitted cobbles) feature V-shaped pits
or irregular gouges caused by sharp blows from
another rock. Prehistoric people hammered out
tools on these anvils. They also lodged nuts on
the stones so they could crack the shells.
Archeologists typically find many hickory and
acorn shells near anvil stones at prehistoric winter
and fall camp sites. They also often find many
stone flakes and broken hammer stones near anvil
stones, suggesting they were the likely results of
tool making.

Grinding basins have shallow, U-shaped
gouges. Early people used these rocks to pulver-
ize plants and seeds to eat. Prehistoric people also
used grinding basins to smash and mix pigments
for painting their skin, clothing, and other materi-
als.

Anvil stones and grinding basins are often
noticeably smoother on one side, indicating that
early people lodged these tools in the ground to
hold them in place while they used them.

Archeologists classify grinding basins and
anvil stones as site furniture because the Indians
often left them behind, perhaps because of their
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cumbersome size or weight, when they migrated
to another camp. If the Indians returned or an-
other group later camped at the same location,
they often reused these same tools, taking advan-
tage of the site’s “furniture.”

® Spokeshaves

These stone flakes are identified by a concave
notch, which early people used to push and pull
thin, round objects of bone or wood through to
scrape, shave, and sharpen. Spokeshaves were
used to make and maintain needles and other
tools.

® Abrading stones

Early people often used ferruginous sandstone
the way we now use sandpaper. In prehistoric
times, people rubbed bone and wood smooth with
these abrading stones. Many abrading stones have
grooves, perhaps used to sharpen thin pieces of
bone. Evidence suggests that prehistoric people
also rubbed abrading stones across animal hides
to soften them.

Ferruginous sandstone is coarse grained and
iron rich. The sedimentary rock was formed under
ancient seas and tends to be tinted red. Prehistoric
people sometimes gouged the rock to extract red
hematite, a mineral they made into paint to dye
their clothes and color their skin. The sandstone
rocks which appear on the ground surface in
many areas of South Carolina’s Coastal Plain
would have been readily available to Archaic
people camped along Congaree Creek who could
have collected them nearby or traded for them.

e Combination tools

Archaic people sometimes made tools for
more than one purpose. For example, archeolo-
gists have discovered stone flakes near Congaree
Creek that served both as gravers and scrapers.

There are also signs that Archaic people
altered the uses for some tools over time.
Archeologists located one such sandstone artifact
near Congaree Creek. Indeed, thousands of years
ago, human hands held this particular rock so
often that they rubbed parts of it smooth. A
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narrow groove on one side suggests where the
user’s index finger rested.

The artifact was first used to grind up antler
or other materials. At some point, a small piece of
the rock broke off, leaving a sharp edge. Some-
one then used this edge as a knife to chop food or
other materials. The chopping eventually dulled
the edge, so the blade was converted into an abra-
der used to rub bone or wood smooth. Someone
also turned part of the rock into a spokeshave,
using a notch in the stone for sharpening narrow
objects such as bone needles.

§§§

USEFUL INVENTIONS

Over time, Archaic people developed new
tools, including a device that must have signifi-
cantly improved their hunting success. Perhaps
during the Early Archaic era (8000 B.C. to 6000
B.C.) and most certainly during the following
Middle Archaic period (6000 B.C. to 3000 B.C.),
they began using a tool to propel their spears
farther.

Called an atlatl, the wooden spear thrower
was two to three feet long, about a third to half
the size of a typical spear. A hunter attached the
end of the spear to the atlatl’s end by means of a
hook, made of bone or wood. The spear then lay
atop the atlatl and rested on the hunter’s shoul-
der. When the hunter spotted game, he flung the
atlatal forward in a motion similar to that of a
baseball pitcher. The spear unfurled from the
atlatl and flew forward, while the atlatl remained
in the hunter’s hand. The spear hurtled toward the
target with more speed and power because of the
atlatl. To enhance the throwing action even more,
hunters attached a weight, often a polished stone
hollowed out in the center, to the atlatl.
Archeologists frequently find these weights,
sometimes called boat stones, at Archaic camp
sites, but the wooden atlatls, like so many organic
artifacts, rotted away long ago. People during the






Pottery was by far the most significant inno-
vation during the Late Archaic era. Around 2500
B.C., inhabitants near the Savannah River may
well have been the first people in North America
to use clay pots. The development of ceramics
eventually led to the end of soapstone bowls and
hot stones for cooking.

No one knows for sure where or how the
invention of pottery occurred. Archeologist Dean
Wood speculates that perhaps someone built a
fire in a clay-lined pit shortly after a rain, and
when the fire died and only ashes remained, he
might have noticed that he could pick up some of
the clay that had hardened and had a convex
shape. Perhaps he dipped the makeshift container
in a creek and learned that it would hold water.
Before long, he was collecting wet clay and
deliberately shaping it into a pot.

Experimentation eventually led to mixing
plant fibers into wet clay before fashioning the
mixture into pots. This tempering with grasses,
roots, or Spanish moss strengthened the final
product, a container that could hold food, water
or other important substances. When people
placed these early pots near fire to harden them,
the plant fibers burned away, leaving tiny holes in
the surface.

Pottery use spread fairly rapidly to nearby
areas of Georgia and South Carolina, reaching
people living near Congaree Creek through trade
or the exchange of ideas. Within a thousand
years, pottery also showed up in many more
distant areas of the Southeast, spreading as far
west as Louisiana.

Not long after pottery’s invention, prehistoric
Indians in South Carolina began strengthening
pots by mixing sand into the clay instead of plant
fibers. Scientists first identified this type of pot-
tery at a place called the Thoms Creek site not far
from the proposed Archeological Park

§88
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RESEARCH APPROACHES

Research at the proposed Archeological Park
can focus on many issues concerning the Archaic
era, including:

® How often did the inhabitants move and
how far did they travel?

Working along the Savannah River, archeol-
ogists David Anderson and Glen Hanson found
evidence that Early Archaic people migrated great
distances up and down the entire river, covering
some 200 miles annually. They contend that Early
Archaic people settled into a base camp during
the winter near the Fall Line, the juncture be-
tween the Piedmont and the Coastal Plain.

Women and children stayed at the camp while
older boys and men occasionally left on long
hunting trips, according to the archeologists. In
the spring, the entire community moved south
toward the Atlantic coast. While migrating, the
people frequently set up short-term camps, then
abandoned them. During these brief stops, the
men might leave to hunt, and the women might
walk some distance to gather plant foods, but
rarely did anyone stay away from camp for more
than a day.

In the late Spring and Summer, the people
migrated back north, heading into the rolling hills
of the Piedmont and perhaps traveling all the way
to the Appalachian Mountains.

Researchers do not have enough evidence yet
to know whether the practice of moving up and
down an entire river was typical of people of this
time period. Because of her research near Conga-
ree Creek, archeologist Lisa O’Steen speculates
that some Early Archaic people did not migrate
such long distances. It is possible that such migra-
tions took place only in the first several centuries
of the Early Archaic era or that this pattern of
movement existed only along the Savannah River
and was not the habit of people along many other
rivers in eastern North America. Archeologists
must conduct more research before they have
definitive answers.



® How do archeologists distinguish between
camps used by a single group for a long time and
places where many different bands gathered for
festivals?

Both types of sites would likely reveal a
similar quantity and variety of artifacts, compli-
cating the answer.

Scientists think Early Archaic people, similar
to their predecessors, the Paleoindians, organized
themselves into bands consisting of extended
families numbering perhaps no more than 50
people. These bands probably maintained fairly
egalitarian rule, although one or more older males
may have exerted the most influence.

Many archeologists theorize that at least once
a year different bands quit their separate wander-
ing and came together to trade, choose mates,
and exchange information in a festive gathering.
A logical place for such events would be near the
Fall Line, the boundary between the rolling hills
of the Piedmont and the flatter Coastal Plain. The
Fall Line passes through cental South Carolina.

Here bands migrating upriver from the Atlan-
tic coast encountered large boulders in the rivers
for the first time, facilitating crossings. Fall Line
areas also offered a rich array of resources.
Different kinds of plants and rocks found in either
the Piedmont or Coastal Plain were easily accessi-
ble and game was abundant.

Because Congaree Creek flows near the Fall
Line, some archeologists think some of the large
Early Archaic sites found near Congaree Creek
served as gathering places for different bands. So
far, however, they have not learned how to
distinguish between the remains that would be left
from such a gathering spot compared to the
evidence at a site where a single band stayed for
extended periods and returned year after year.
Some of the research in the proposed Archeologi-
cal Park will emphasize better interpretation of
such puzzling site differences.

For example, the need for formal, regular
gatherings of different bands may have diminished

during the Early Archaic era as the population
grew. Some archeologists think that with more
people in the region bands encountered one
another often enough without needing to make
special arrangements to do so. Many archeolo-
gists are fairly certain that by the Middle Archaic
era (6000 B.C. to 3000 B.C.) all such formal
gatherings had stopped. More research is neces-
sary to understand the interaction of different
bands over time.

® How significant were environmental
changes and growing populations in altering
lifestyles?

During the Middle Archaic years (6000 B.C.
to 3000 B.C.), people made many more of their
tools from quartz and a smaller percentage from
other rock types.

They also made fewer tool varieties, with a
noticeable decline in the number of knives and
scrapers with handles. The emphasis seems to
have grown on making tools quickly, using them
once or twice, then throwing them away.
Archeologists want to know more about what
caused these changes, prompting these questions:

Did Middle Archaic people choose quartz
more often because group territories were shrink-
ing, brought on by a growing population? With
smaller territories, perhaps they found fewer types
of preferred rocks readily available. Did trading
also decline, limiting their access to a greater
variety of rocks? If, as many archeologists think,
trade did decrease, what other changes could
have resulted?

Many scientists think the environment was
changing, with the climate warming slightly and
becoming drier. Significantly, pines gained promi-
nence in many areas at the expense of the hard-
woods. With the decline of hardwoods, the
quantity of nuts would have decreased, reducing
game, especially deer, which were so important to
prehistoric residents.

In the Piedmont in northern South Carolina,
archeologists have uncovered evidence that
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Middle Archaic people were almost constantly on
the move and rarely left behind many artifacts in
any one place. Gone were the winter base camps
that many archeologists think people of the Early
Archaic era favored.

The same sort of constant movement, how-
ever, may not have been the pattern in Fall Line
areas near Congaree Creek. Some of the Middle
Archaic sites, for instance, are quite large and
contain many artifacts. Does this mean that
Middle Archaic people near Congaree Creek were
beginning to settle down and move less? And if
they were, was it because the available resources
were so rich? It is also possible, however, that
these larger sites near Congaree Creek resulted
from small groups visiting the same spots repeat-
edly, year after year, for hundreds of years.

® How did the way people govern themselves
change?

Many archeologists think the climate stabi-
lized and became similar to what it is today during
the Late Archaic era (3000 B.C. to 1000 B.C.).
The Late Archaic period also saw the return of
long-distance trade, which helped spread new
ideas and technologies.

Particularly important in this period was the
use of soapstone bowls and pottery, which made
cooking more efficient and perhaps boosted the
nutritional value of meals. If nutrition did
improve, almost everyone would have been
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healthier and life spans would possibly have
increased.

Archeologists Albert Goodyear and John
House theorize that Late Archaic people spent
more time in one place, perhaps at base camps
that lasted for a season, or even longer.

Being more sedentary would have helped
boost the population, a fact anthropologists have
observed by studying contemporary migrating
people. When these groups move less, their birth
rates grow. Some archeologists note that Late
Archaic people often camped on high ridges near
the Congaree River and Congaree Creek, whereas
their predecessors during the Middle Archaic
years more often camped at the water’s edge.
This may be another indication that the Middle
Archaic period was drier and that during the Late
Archaic years residents were concerned about
floods destroying their camps.

There is evidence in some parts of the South-
east that different groups sometimes came to-
gether to harvest huge quantities of fresh water
shell fish or to catch migrating fish such as shad.
One of the things scientists will look for at the
proposed Archeological Park is whether Later
Archaic people in the Congaree Creek area
participated in such cooperative ventures. If they
did, perhaps this was the beginning of a new form
of governance, the emergence of a type of tribal
rule headed by chiefs.



3 — SEEDS OF CHANGE

young hunter moved stealthily through
Athe forest, tracking a deer. He moved so

quietly that he could be mistaken for the
animal he was pursuing, which was no coinci-
dence. Antlers rose above the hunter’s head and
a tawny-colored deer skin covered his shoulders
and back. He advanced several steps, crouched,
then froze. Perfectly still, he faded into the
foliage, seeming to vanish.

It was summer and hot. Low, dark clouds
blanketed the sky. Rain had fallen off and on
throughout the day, stimulating mosquitoes that
swarmed around the hunter, who seemed not to
notice. Much of his bare skin was exposed and
lathered in bear oil, which provided some pro-
tection from the incessant bugs.

The antlers on his head were light because
he had carefully hollowed out the insides. He
carried little else with him, apart from a deer-
skin quiver slung over his shoulder. Arrows he
had made from river cane were stored inside.
Each arrow had eagle feathers on one end and a
sharp point on the other chipped from quartz.
The hunter had shaped the arrows to be roughly
the same diameter and length, making it easier
for him to judge his aim.

He grasped a large bow, which he had fash-
ioned from the wood of a black locust tree. He
had polished the wood until it was smooth then
lathered it in bear oil, finishing the weapon with
a cord of twisted deer hide tightly strung.

Rising to full height, he sighed, discouraged.
The animal he had been tracking so carefully
had somehow escaped. The young man pushed
his way through thick underbrush, looking for
tracks, but found none. He had concentrated so
hard on following the deer that he had wandered
for miles through thick foliage without keeping
track of his path. The clouds hid the sun, ham-

pering his ability to determine directions, and
now it started raining again, heavily. Rain
drummed the nearby leaves and water streamed
down his face in sheets. His vision blurred.

This was the first time he had ever been alone
this far from his village. A picture of the elders
laughing at him flashed across his mind. The
young man knew if they learned that he had
become lost, even briefly, they would have every
right to ridicule him. Good hunters never lost
their way. They were trained to pay attention to
everything, to memorize what they saw and heard
so they could retrace their steps. They noted every
tree scarred by lightning, every crack in every
bolder, every rotted stump, every nest knocked
loose and dangling from a high tree.

How could this have happened? The young
Indian searched every direction. He forced him-
self to concentrate and slowly began to notice
important details. Even admitting that he was
lost, he was confident that no matter what the
weather was, he would not starve. His elders had
taught him from earliest childhood to be at ease
in the forest. He knew which trees and bushes
could nourish him or help him treat any wounds
and which ones were potentially lethal. He rec-
ognized the edible flowers and knew which
berries, although tantalizing in color and plump-
ness, were poisonous, lessons learned by earlier
generations through deadly experimentation. He
spotted a cluster of dainty Queen Anne’s lace in
a clearing. The slender stalks supported white
blossoms that floated like clouds but it was what
grew beneath the ground that interested him.
The roots were a type of wild carrot.

The young hunter also knew the various
leaves that were tender and tasty early in the
summer but which by now had turned bitter. He
identified, almost without thinking, white oak
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The dark waters of Congaree Creek have been important elements in human life from prehistoric periods through more
recent history. The banks and nearby ground may reveal new knowledge through scientific study, including archeological

excavations. The River Alliance

trees, their leaves sculpted into sharp points. He
recognized which white oaks produced sweet a-
corns with far less tannic acid than the red oaks.

He set about building a fire, even as the rain
continued. He rubbed two sticks together to
light pine-wood powder he dug from a stump.
Protecting the powdered pine from rain with
bark he stripped from nearby trees, he used the
friction from the sticks to ignite the powder into
hot coals. The coals set afire a mixture of small
cedar bark strips and fluff from cattail plants.
He coaxed the fire along by adding splinters of
pine wood and when these crackled to life,
added twigs. Soon, he placed small logs, then
larger ones on the fire.

The Indian knew that even in the rain, pine
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logs, once ignited, burn hot and fast. The heat
dried his skin as he rubbed his hands above the
flames. If it stopped raining, he would add hard-
wood from oaks or hickories, which would burn
slower. Besides, pine left a bitter aftertaste on
anything he might cook, while the hard-woods
would enhance the flavor. That is, if he could
find something to cook.

As the Indian stood in the downpour, he
wiped the rain from his face and glanced near
his feet, noticing a thin rivulet of water coursing
by his moccasins. He quickly scattered the fire
and began following the small stream as it
flowed down hill and picked up speed and size.

After about a mile, the stream flowed into a
wide, slower-moving creek. As the rain subsided,



the young Indian came upon a shallow pool on
one side of the creek where he soon spotted a
school of fish. He quickly climbed the bank and
pulled up a buckeye plant by the roots. Using
flat stones, he ground up the roots, carried the
residue back to the creek and sprinkled this over
the water. Within moments, stunned fish floated
to the surface, poisoned by the rotenone-like
substance.

That night the rain ended and the clouds
drifted away. As he sat around his campfire eat-
ing fish, the Indian saw a thin, but bright cres-
cent moon through the trees. He spied favorite
constellations and recalled the many stories his
elders had told about them. Studying the stars
and watching the moon’s slow journey across
the sky, the Indian now knew with certainty the
way North, South, East and West.

The next morning he followed Congaree
Creek until it flowed into the Congaree River.
He then followed the river south and before long
was back in territory he recognized. Within
another day, he reached his village.

§88

SPEARS GIVE WAY

Early writings by European explorers as
well as later chronicles demonstrate that
American Indians carefully studied every aspect
of the natural world, developing extensive
knowledge about animal and plant life and
using this awareness to aid survival and improve
their lives.

Survival was made easier during the
Woodland era (about 1000 B. C. to about A. D.
800) because of the bow and arrow.
Anthropologists do not know where the bow
was invented in North America or when. They
do know that the weapon existed much earlier in
Europe.

Some think Woodland people were experi-
menting with bows by about 500 B. C., tipping
their arrows with large stone points. The major-
ity of points from this time in South Carolina

formed isosceles triangles (two sides of equal
length) with a curved base.

There is a much broader scientific consen-
sus that the bow was being used in the later
stages of the Woodland era, after about A. D.
500, when the stone points shrunk dramatically,
although they continued to be triangular. These
smaller projectiles undoubtedly served as
arrowheads, most archeologists suspect.

As researchers explore the proposed
Archeological Park, they will try to determine
precisely when people living near Congaree
Creek began hunting with bows. Pinpointing
when inhabitants began to use the bows is
important because scientists suspect the
weapons fundamentally altered human exis-
tence. Certainly, the bow and arrow made hunt-
ing more efficient, allowing hunters to stand
some 50 yards from their prey, or even farther,
while spears demanded much closer contact.

Many people of the Woodland era also
improved their lives in another significant way
by growing preferred foods. Again, just as with
the introduction of the bow and arrow, there is
no certainty about when prehistoric North
Americans began cultivating plants. Archeolo-
gists speculate that the development probably
began sometime during the earlier Archaic era.
Certainly by then, inhabitants had been eating
wild seeds for thousands of years. Women like-
ly did much of the seed collecting, scientists
speculate, based on observations of modern
hunting and gathering societies in Africa,
Australia, and elsewhere.

Perhaps it was a woman who first noticed
that when she spilled seeds on the ground
and inadvertently kicked dirt on them, they
later sprouted. At first, she might have attrib-
uted the growth to magic, but over time she
saw the same thing happen again and began
selecting seeds from favored plants and
planting them. Paying close attention, she
observed how her plants thrived when she
plucked out competing weeds and how they sig-
naled their needs. Leaves curled when the
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Early inhabitants cleared the ground near Congaree Creek to make way for their shelters and gardens with stone axes like
this one. The wooden handle disintegrated over time. South Carolina State Museum collection, photo by Alt Lee

weather turned cold, for instance, turned yellow
when there was too much rain, and shriveled
when there was not enough. Her knowledge
about growing edible plants soon increased and
eventually the knowledge was passed down
through the generations until large numbers of
people over a wide area were tending gardens
and depending upon the produce to supplement
their diets of game and fish.

Today, archeologists uncover persuasive evi-
dence that gardening was widespread during the
Woodland era. The evidence consists of ancient
sunflower seeds discovered at occupation sites
that are virtually uniform in size and larger than
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seeds produced in the wild. This suggests that
people long ago were selecting the biggest seeds
from favorite sunflowers and planting them.

Prehistoric gardeners did the same thing
with sumpweed and chenopodium, considered
weeds today, but once cultivated for food.
Sumpweed seeds found at some Woodland sites
are two to three times larger than sumpweed
seeds today. This demonstrates that when
humans stopped growing sumpweed and quit
collecting prized seeds for replanting, sump-
weed reverted to just another wild grass with
mostly average-sized seeds.

In the Archeological Park, scientists will



will carefully filter soils through screens and
flotation devices looking for old seeds, fos-
silized pollen, rinds and other remnants of
ancient plants. By studying these, they will
learn more about early human efforts to domes-
ticate plants.

Typically, when hunter-gatherer societies
come to depend more on gardens, they diversi-
fy their food sources, promote better health,
quicken population growth and make it easier to
settle down and remain in one place longer.
There is increasing evidence that at least some
Woodland people established villages larger
than previous settlements. These villages tended
to be more permanent, perhaps lasting up to a
year, possibly longer. In the Archeological
Park, researchers will look for evidence of larg-
er settlements and also for proof that housing
became sturdier during this time period. In
some parts of the eastern United States, includ-
ing a site in South Carolina near the upper
Savannah River, archeologists have found evi-
dence that dwelling walls consisted of upright
logs. These Woodland-era homes apparently
had cross beams or rafters supporting cone-
shaped roofs. The builders often covered their
walls with a wet clay and grass mixture called
daub. The hardened daub helped seal out cold
winds and kept the interiors cool in summer.
Researchers in the Archeological Park will look
for residue of daub to learn if longer-term shel-
ters once existed there.

Another research topic in the Archeological
Park will concern when prehistoric people
expanded their gardens and grew mostly corn,
beans and squash. These became vital crops
during the final stage of prehistory, the
Mississippian era, and understanding the transi-
tion to the crops will facilitate a better under-
stand of how societies evolved.

Scientists will also conduct detailed studies
of Woodland-era pottery. People during this
time significantly improved their ceramics
skills. Unlike earlier efforts, potters almost

always built their pots by coiling ropes of clay
resembling small snakes atop one another. They
then smoothed the walls of a pot with moistened
hands or a paddle. Potters also abandoned mak-
ing crude fiber-tempered pottery, which tended
to have thin, porous walls.

Woodland people strengthened their pots by
adding sand or grit consisting of crushed rock.
These pots consistently survived the hot flames
of cooking fires without shattering, improving
food preparation reliability for people who
savored thick stews. Woodland people also
began expressing more creativity decorating
their ceramics. For example, they carved paral-
lel lines (today called simple stamping) into a
wood paddle, then pressed the paddle into the
wet clay of a newly formed pot. Potters also
carved a series of small squares resembling a
waffle into a paddle and pressed this check-
stamping design into the wet clay. Another
favorite paddle design made tooth-like projec-

The brush and undergrowth are dense in the proposed
Archeological Park. The lack of commercial or residential
development has protected the site. The River Alliance

tions on the pots. Woodland potters also
wrapped fabric around a stick or paddle then
pressed the implement into wet clay.

By studying fabric-impressed pottery found
near Congaree Creek, scientists will better
understand how prehistoric fabric looked. Few
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examples of fabric from so long ago remain
because it deteriorates rapidly. Scientists know,
however, that people long ago hand wove plant
fibers into fabric because they have uncovered
examples in protected environments, such as a
Florida bog and a Kentucky cave.

The various swamps near Congaree Creek
may hold artifacts, such as items made of fabric,
that typically deteriorate in dry soils. Mud often
seals out corrosion, and archeologist Albert
Goodyear thinks there may be remnants of pre-
historic garbage dumps in some of the swamps.
After conducting preliminary studies near
Congaree Creek, Goodyear wrote, “The impli-
cations for preservation of organic....refuse are
enormous. If sufficiently covered by moist sed-
iments, such debris as nuts, leaves, wood, bone,
pollen, and other charred food remains would
be preserved and amenable to laboratory analy-
sis....Either a backhoe or hand tests should be
made of the moist swamp margins [of known
archeological sites] to test for the possibility of
buried deposits.”

Even if the swamps hold no significant
organic materials, Goodyear argues they can still
yield important artifacts because these areas
often have never been disturbed by plowing.
Many ancient artifacts are shattered or crushed
beneath steel plows and consequently lost.

Some of what archeologists consider fabric-
impressed pottery may have a textured appear-
ance because of being formed inside baskets.
Scientists suspect prehistoric Indians created
many baskets, some quite beautiful, but only a
few examples survive, again in protected envi-
ronments such as Salt Cave in Kentucky.

Woodland people also made cord by twist-
ing plant fibers together, then wrapped the cord
around a paddle and pressed the paddle into wet
clay.

Some Woodland-era inhabitants in South
Carolina created even more complex pottery
designs by carving squares, rectangles, concen-
tric circles, teardrops and other shapes into pad-
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dles. Researchers in the Archeological Park will
look for such complex stamping or any hints
that residents long ago traded with people who
created such decorations.

The more complex pottery designs have in
some places been associated with mysterious
ceremonies, including building tall earthen bur-
ial mounds. Tombs within some of these
mounds reveal exotic items, such as copper
beads, ax-like tools made from lustrous green
stone, elaborate copper ear ornaments, clay fig-
urines, smoking pipes formed into bird and
other animal shapes, and panpipe musical
instruments made from hollow river cane coat-
ed with copper or silver.

There is no evidence so far that such cere-
monial burying of the dead occurred near
Congaree Creek. Scientists, however, have dis-
covered that Woodland-era people living on
what is now the Savannah River Site near pres-
ent-day Aiken, South Carolina painted some
pottery red, a practice associated with ceremo-
nial burials elsewhere. Other Woodland people
living near the coast buried their dead in sand
mounds a few feet tall. Remains of women pre-
dominate in these mounds found on an island
off the Georgia coast. Archeologists David
Thomas and Clark Larsen speculate that the
societies represented by the burials were led by
women.

§§8§

MANY SITES FOUND

Researchers have already discovered four
separate sites in the proposed Archeological
Park containing Woodland-era artifacts. They
will likely uncover more sites once intensive
studies begin. The buffer zones around the pro-
posed park, which someday may be part of the
park, include at least eleven other places already
identified with Woodland-era remnants.

Even if these areas remain outside the park,
private land owners will be encouraged to sign



Recreation spaces are in big demand everywhere, making the proposed Archeological Park a likely favorite spot among
nearby residents and tourists alike. The River Alliance

conservation easements and deed restrictions
that will allow future archeological research.

Some locations within the proposed park
revealing Woodland artifacts also likely contain
items from the Mississippian period, the final
prehistoric era when society and art became
more complex. Scientists will use the
Archeological Park to define more clearly when
the Woodland ended and the Mississippian
began, perhaps learning in the process more
about what prompted the changes in human
behavior.

The park will enable scientists to seek
answers to other questions about the Woodland
era, such as:

* Did people change their settlement pat-
terns over time because of an increasing
dependence on agriculture?

Archeologist David Anderson, in 1978,

excavated a site identified as 38LX5, which was
located west of the proposed Archeological Park
and about a half mile from Congaree Creek.
He found many Woodland-era artifacts scat-
tered over five acres in a place where sandy
hills stand about 50 feet taller than where
Congaree Creek courses through the proposed
Archeological Park.

At 38LXS5, Anderson unearthed multiple
artifacts, including spear points, arrow heads,
knives, pottery pieces, and sandstone abraders.
The site also contained many pitted cobbles that
were once used as platforms for making tools or
for preparing plant foods. There were also many
remnants of ancient campfires.

The numerous artifacts, and the varied mate-
rials used to make them, indicate the location
could have once been the site of a large Woodland
community. Anderson, however, never located
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evidence of housing, so it is also possible that
the many signs of early life instead represented
multiple brief visits over thousands of years by
prehistoric people who never established sub-
stantial dwellings.

Even though Anderson was unable to make
a definitive determination about what actually
occurred at 38LX5, he noted the site was far dif-
ferent from two others he excavated nearer
Congaree Creek, both in the buffer area for the
proposed Archeological Park. These sites each
contained a few Woodland artifacts from the
first several thousand years of the period and
probably represent short-term camps.

This could mean, Anderson speculated, that
early Woodland people maintained their pri-
mary residences on higher ground in the sand
hills away from the low, swampy lands near
Congaree Creek and the Congaree River. If
future research confirms this theory, then per-
haps Early Woodland people ventured into low-
lying flood plains only to hunt, fish or collect
plant foods. Once they finished their tasks, they
retreated back to higher ground.

In the new Archeological Park, scientists
will look for definitive proof that such a pattern
existed. They will also try to determine whether
during the final centuries of the era, when peo-
ple perhaps became more dependent on agricul-
ture, they moved closer to low-lying rivers to
take advantage of more fertile soils enriched by
periodic flooding.

 How important was trade during the
Woodland era?

At 38LX5, David Anderson also noted that
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§§§

Woodland people used a great deal of quartz
rocks found nearby to fashion knives and other
tools. These same people, however, also used
many tools made from rocks obtained from
miles away, primarily slate-like rocks from the
Piedmont to the north and chert from lowlands
to the south in the Coastal Plain. This could
mean Woodland people engaged in significant
long-distance trade, Anderson speculates.

These residents near Congaree Creek per-
haps used trade as a strategy to cement alliances
with other groups or to prevent disagreements
with distant neighbors from erupting into war-
fare. Whether long-distance trade increased dur-
ing some parts of the Woodland era and
decreased in others will be another topic for
research in the park.

» Did Woodland-era people organize them-
selves differently?

Scientists will also seek to determine
whether residents near Congaree Creek devel-
oped more complex social organizations, per-
haps forming tribes. Whereas earlier bands
consisted of one extended family, tribes com-
bined two or more extended families.

As people became more adept at accumulat-
ing and storing food surpluses, which probably
occurred during the Woodland ear, they could
afford to designate some people as specialists.
For example, tribal leaders might select some
followers to spend significant time traveling.
These specialists, David Anderson speculates,
would have endured long periods away from
family and friends visiting far-off places to
trade or collect favored rocks for tool making.









guide was deliberately misleading them, which
was common, the Spanish unleashed their fierce
dogs on the offending guide. The dogs included
greyhounds, as well as a powerful Irish wolf
hound and perhaps several mastiffs, according to
anthropologist Hudson.

The dogs wore spiked collars of steel or
leather to fend off any attempts to choke them,
but victims rarely had the chance. The dogs ran
down and mauled their prey with ruthless effi-
ciency, ripping out their stomachs with their
teeth. There was no more fearful command,
according to Hudson, than when the Spanish
yelled to their dogs “Tomalos!”, meaning “Get
them!” The Indians could be equally brutal,
resorting to torture just as the Spanish did.

Besides horses, the Spanish brought hogs
with them, which they intended to slaughter only
when no other food was available. Whenever
possible, they took provisions from the natives,
especially stored corn which was vital to the
Indians’ existence. Some Indians willingly gave
the Spanish food and also provided them with
porters to carry supplies, but De Soto stole from
others and forced some natives into bondage, as
well as taking women to satisfy his soldiers’
sexual appetites.

The Spanish moved into what is now Georgia
in the spring of 1540. The natives in this region
had never seen Europeans and were more docile,
perhaps because they were unfamiliar with the
tactics of the conquistadors or because they were
awed by their unusual clothing, powerful weap-
ons and horses. It is also possible that some chiefs
genuinely preferred peace to war.

The Spanish encountered a number of pow-
erful chiefs whose spheres of influence extended
for miles. These rulers were seen as gods by their
followers, who practiced the Mississippian cul-
ture, a way of life originating near the Mississippi
River. Followers literally often elevated their
leaders atop pinnacles of earth that they labori-
ously built. From atop these flat-topped earthen

mounds, some of which were only a few feet tall
but others which soared some 60 feet or even
higher, the chiefs ruled societies which increas-
ingly depended upon the growing of corn, squash
and beans.

Construction of the larger mounds took
months, even years, with Indians carting baskets
filled with dirt, dumping the dirt, and tamping it
down with their feet. Long lines of workers
shuttled back and forth day after day, carrying
their loads of earth to add to the emerging
mounds, many of which were shaped like pyra-
mids.

Typically, the Indian builders leveled the
mound top, applied a layer of clay to retard
erosion, then built one or more structures on the
surface. The buildings included temples, dwellings
for leaders and their families, and ossuaries for
storing bones of revered ancestors. When an
important chief died, followers enacted elaborate
ceremonies to mark his passing. Frequently, the
Indians burned down the leader’s home or a
temple on the mound top. Then they added more
dirt to the surface and built another temple or a
residence for their new chief.

The Indians considered many of these mounds
to be sacred and bowed low when approaching
them, revering the earthworks and structures they
bore the way Europeans venerated cathedrals. For
some groups, the mounds were the focal points of
their daily lives. They built their own dwellings
nearby and planted food crops within a short
walking distance. Other Indians following the
Mississippian culture tended to visit mounds only
for important ceremonies and spent the rest of
their time living in small hamlets or villages
farther away.

Unlike earlier natives who practiced the
Woodland culture, Mississippian adherents were
much more hierarchical, segmented by rank and
position. Their chief, usually a man, but not
always (as the Spanish soon discovered), inherited
the position, as did most others in important
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roles. Some men and their mates, however,
advanced in rank by demonstrating valued skills,
particularly bravery in warfare.

The Indians paid frequent tribute to their
chief, offering their valued possessions, such as
corn, well-made shawls, cured deer skins, and
choice pieces of smoked deer meat. Chiefs, in
turn, redistributed food to their people during
religious festivals and during periods when crops
may have been poor or winters especially severe.
Some of the chiefs De Soto encountered influ-
enced inhabitants’ lives in vast territories. Lesser
chiefs frequently paid tribute to or formed alli-
ances with these paramount chiefs, according to
archeologist David Halley.

The Mississippian Indians’ cultivation of food
crops on a broader and more efficient scale than
earlier Woodland-era Indians gave them more
time to participate in public works, such as
mound building. However, while agriculture was
extremely important, Mississippian Indians also
continued to hunt and fish and gather wild plant
foods.

The tendency of Mississippian followers to
live in larger, more concentrated communities
than people of the Woodland era also made the
availability of warriors greater for them. There is
some evidence in parts of the southeastern United
States that Mississippians Indians forced their
way into areas occupied by Woodland peoples.

Besides their military prowess, Mississippian
Indians developed impressive artistic talents,
creating finely wrought pottery and jewelry,
engraved copper plates, ceremonial weapons,
figurines, animal-shaped smoking pipes, and
statues of wood and clay.

They also carved gorgets from sea shells.
These round or square pendants dangled around
the neck and often featured images of animals,
human warriors and mythological creatures that
were so finely crafted that they seemed almost
alive.

The mound building Indians believed in an
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elaborate spiritual dimension closely aligned with
their own, which included a netherworld often
dominated by fearsome creatures. They valued
talented healers and storytellers who seemed able
somehow to connect to this spirit world for
inspiration, and they especially prized oration
skills. Indeed, Spaniards recording their interac-
tions with the natives reported that welcoming
speeches often lasted for hours.

§8§

A HARD JOURNEY

As they moved north and east in Georgia
during the Spring of 1540, the Spanish encoun-
tered several chiefs who treated them extremely
well, offering the visitors gifts of food, finely
woven shawls and soft deer skins. These chiefs
also provided porters to carry the explorers’
supplies. De Soto responded by ordering wooden
crosses erected on the chief’s sacred mounds or
nearby. Spanish priests provided brief instructions
to the natives through interpreters about the
meaning of the crosses, then the Spanish de-
parted, trudging deeper into the wilderness. The
Indians probably grasped little of these cursory
religious teachings, but in at least one instance the
natives did bow before a cross, as they had wit-
nessed the Spanish do, according to anthropolo-
gist Hudson.

De Soto, moving north and east, sent out
orders, summoning to meet him the area’s most
powerful chief, Ocute. The Indian leader com-
plied, arriving with a group of retainers. Ocute
saw to it that the Spanish received generous
amounts of food, including cornbread, partridges,
two turkeys and many rabbits. He also offered
some 2,000 Indians to carry supplies for the
Spanish.

This Spanish force, now substantially en-
hanced with supplies and men, headed east to-
ward what is now South Carolina, following the
directions of an Indian teenager named Perico,









“The desert of Ocute.” The area consisted of
mixed pine and hardwood forests, similar to land
the Spanish had already traveled. In this area,
however, they found no villages or people. The
region seemed to be abandoned, as others had
predicted.

The Spanish endured four days of difficult
travel but found no sign of the rich chiefdom of
Cofitachequi that Perico had promised was near-
by. More significantly, they came across no stores
of Indian corn to plunder, and they were running
short of food, just as they had been warned would
happen.

When they reached the banks of the Savannah
River, today’s boundary between Georgia and
South Carolina, they found the waterway swol-
len from recent rains. If they were going to
continue their search, they had no choice but to
cross, even though the river was at flood stage.
The horse-back riders and some foot soldiers
waded into the swift currents somewhere near
present-day Augusta, Georgia. Here, where they
entered the water, the currents swept around two
large islands which cut the river virtually in half.

Flat stones covered the river bottom, making
footing slippery and hazardous for both men and
horses. The cold water rose chest high on the
foot soldiers and at times lapped above the stir-
rups on the horses, even reaching up to the saddle
bags. Getting across was so treacherous that
most horsemen refused to allow foot soldiers to
piggyback rides, although a few did allow the
men to grab their horses’ tails or hold onto an
outstretched lance.

Most foot soldiers forded upstream from the
horsemen where the water was a bit more shal-
low. They formed a human chain of thirty or forty
soldiers, linking themselves with a rope. They
struggled and sometimes faltered in the surging
current, but finally managed to push across.

The soldiers herding the pigs used dogs to
force the frightened, snorting animals into the
river, according to Hudson. The pigs resembled

wild boars because of their tusks, even though
they were domesticated. They had straight ears
and long snouts and were quite muscular, capable
of swimming for more than a mile in placid wa-
ters. But the river’s strong current overpowered
many of the animals and swept them down river.
The squealing pigs disappeared from view and
were lost.

Once the Spanish and their horses reached the
South Carolina side of the river, the search for
food became critical. De Soto had already or-
dered everyone to cut back on rations. He now
commanded them to quicken their pace. Instead
of the usual fifteen to seventeen miles a day, the
explorers began covering thirty miles a day.

Spring rains fell repeatedly, soaking the weary
army. Every river and creek they approached
seemed at or near flood stage, requiring more
strenuous efforts to cross. Sometimes the Spanish
halted to build barges, but at other times they just
plunged into the water. After six days, De Soto
and his soldiers reached the Saluda River, which
they crossed, then continued east. Two days later,
on April 21, the Spanish came to the Broad River,
north of present-day Columbia. Again they found
high waters surging around an island. The river
was perilously swift and deep, similar to the
Savannah River conditions. Nonetheless, the
soldiers again plunged in, forcing their horses to
swim when their hooves could no longer touch
the bottom.

§§8

THE HUNT FOR COFITACHEQUI

When the Spanish made it to the other side,
the trail they had been following became indistinct
and finally disappeared altogether in the thick
underbrush. Their bleak situation seemed to
brighten temporarily when a few soldiers reported
discovering a small group of Indian huts, but they
soon found that the shelters were abandoned and
at most represented only an old fishing camp. De

37



Soto and his army were now within a day’s ride
of Congaree Creek.

The exact route De Soto took through the
Southeast has been difficult to determine because
so many years have passed and because diarists
on the journey and others who wrote about the
expedition later were often imprecise. Research-
ers, over time, have adjusted the route they think
the conquistadors followed, and future investiga-
tions may well lead to more changes.

The most recent research, and the best docu-
mented, was produced by archeologists Chester
DePratter and Marvin Smith and anthropologist
Charles Hudson. Their findings show that at times
the Spanish army split up and headed in different
directions, making tracing the force’s exact
movements even more difficult.

One of the instances when De Soto sent
offshoots of his army in different directions
occurred on the eastern side of the Broad River,
near Congaree Creek.

The Spaniards, growing increasingly desper-
ate for food, camped in a pine woods near the
river, according to Hudson. The soldiers knew
they were lost in a vast wilderness with no maps
to guide them. No Europeans had ever been in
the region before them. Even the Indians accom-
panying them were at a loss about where to go
next, which De Soto found difficult to believe.
Nevertheless, the battles these Indians had fought
with their enemies, the Cofitachequi, had appar-
ently involved skirmishes between small hunting
parties, not large-scale engagements. Also, the
clashes appeared to have occurred in the broad
buffer zone between the Ocute chiefdoms in
Georgia and the Cofitachequi in South Carolina.

A frustrated De Soto turned his ire on Perico,
blaming the boy for the army’s predicament. The
Spaniard considered letting the dogs terrorize the
teenager, but changed his mind. Perico, besides
being their guide, served as a translator of Indian
languages, and De Soto apparently decided the
young Indian was too valuable a resource to
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waste. Besides, De Soto had more pressing
concerns: his soldiers were facing the growing
possibility of starvation.

This was a rare moment of indecision for the
Spanish leader. Pondering what to do, De Soto
even elicited advice from his soldiers. Some of
them argued they should turn back immediately
and head toward the region where they knew
there was food, but De Soto did not want to
retrace their steps and rejected the idea. Instead,
according to Hudson, De Soto decided to send
scouting parties in several directions with instruc-
tions to search the countryside for evidence of
human activity and food.

On April 22, nine days after they had left the
last village in present-day Georgia, De Soto dis-
patched four different scouts, each accompanied
by eight horsemen. These scouts scoured the
nearby countryside and it is possible one of them
reached Congaree Creek. While it is difficult to
know for sure exactly where all these scouting
parties explored, all four groups returned safe and
exhausted to camp after thrashing through wilder-
ness. Despite their efforts, none had found any
Indians, villages or food.

Over the next two days, De Soto dispatched
four more scouting parties. One of these groups,
led by Juan de Anasco, headed south along the
Broad River. His party of ten horsemen, accord-
ing to Hudson’s calculations, probably passed
through land now encompassed by the city of
Columbia and then proceeded south along the
Congaree River. The Spaniards probably traveled
along the east side of the Congaree River on the
opposite bank from where Congaree Creek enters
the waterway. If any Indians were living along
Congaree Creek, they possibly were aware the
Spaniards were in the area but none apparently
revealed themselves to the strangers.

It is impossible to know whether De Anasco’s
group explored on the Congaree Creek side of the
river. Getting there would have been difficult
considering the soggy conditions, but the Spanish






De Soto rode in front of the main body of
troops with a group astride the strongest horses.
Toward sunset, De Soto and this advanced party
were so exhausted, they let their reins go slack.
The horses meandered forward, following their
own lead. Sometime before night fall, the horse-
men arrived in an Indian village.

What happened next is a matter of historical
dispute. According to one chronicler who inter-
viewed some of De Soto’s soldiers when they
returned to Spain, the Indians from Georgia went
on a rampage, looting the village and scalping
everyone they could find. Their need for revenge
sated, the Indians then departed for home.

Three other chroniclers, who traveled with De
Soto, do not mention an Indian massacre, but
sanitizing their accounts was not uncommon for
the Spanish diarists. According to one of the
writers, De Soto was so exasperated by how little
help the Indians from Georgia were as guides that
he sent them home. They did not leave empty-
handed, however. According to this account, the
Spaniard gave them parting gifts. Whatever
happened, by the time the Spanish army settled
into the Indian village at the intersection of the
Congaree and Wateree Rivers, there were no
natives there. Of more immediate importance,
however, the Spanish found bountiful supplies of

corn. They called the village Hymahi or Aymay.

To the beleaguered soldiers, the village must
have seemed like a paradise. Mulberry trees,
loaded with ripe berries, filled the surrounding
forest, and there were also other fruit-bearing
plants, including plump strawberries. Blooming
wild roses filled the air with sweet perfume.

Another scouting party De Soto had earlier
dispatched arrived in the village on April 27, with
four or five Indian captives in tow, according to
Hudson. The scouting party probably had abduc-
ted the Indians far to the north, although exactly
where they were captured is unclear. De Soto
questioned these Indians himself, seeking to learn
what they knew about the location of Cofitacheq-
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ui and its woman chief. The Indians refused to
answer. De Soto ordered one of the prisoners
burned alive, trying to prod the others into coop-
erating. But the other Indians still refused to
reveal the location of Cofitachequi, and De Soto
ordered them all burned to death.

The next day another scouting party arrived
with a captured Indian woman they had found to
the northwest, perhaps along either the Broad or
Congaree Rivers or possibly even near Congaree
Creek. In this woman captive, the Spanish finally
had someone they could either persuade or coerce
to reveal the direction they should follow to reach
the principal towns of Cofitachequi.

§§8

THE INDIAN PRINCESS

Following the Indian woman captive’s direc-
tions, De Soto and his army headed north along
the Wateree River until they stood across the
water in sight of an Indian settlement, apparently
near the location of present-day Camden, South
Carolina. De Soto sent soldiers across the river to
summon the Indians’ leader, according to Hud-
son. Soon, natives carried a young woman on a
litter covered in white cloth toward the water
where she stepped into a canoe and took a seat on
cushions laid out on cane mats beneath a shade
awning. Male Indians rowed the canoe across,
accompanied by several more vessels filled with
an Indian honor guard.

When the canoes beached on the opposite
bank, the young woman climbed out and sat in a
chair her attendants provided. De Soto waited,
sitting nearby in his own “rest seat,” with which
he traveled. The young woman, called by the
Spanish the “Lady of Cofitachequi,” welcomed
De Soto. Her people were respectfully silent and
still as she spoke. The Spanish believed she was
the woman chief they had heard of, but apparently
she was instead a powerful relative of the chief’s,
perhaps a princess, speculates Hudson.



This “Lady of Cofitachequi,” whom the
Spanish later described as beautiful, beckoned her
followers to present gifts to the visitors. They
brought forward hand-woven cloth and soft
animal skins and presented them to the Spanish.
Then the “Lady of Cofitachequi” delicately
removed a necklace of large pearls from her neck
and held out the gift to one of De Soto’s transla-
tors, indicating she wished the Spanish leader to
have them. The translator instructed her to give
them to De Soto herself. The “Lady of
Cofitachequi” complied, walking to De Soto and
placing the pearls around his neck.

After the gift giving, she ordered her subjects
to transport the Spanish across the river in their
canoes. She declared that half the homes in the
village would be set aside for the Spanish and
showered them with more gifts of food, including
turkey and deer meat, according to Hudson.

The village, the Spanish noted, featured three
earthen mounds, typical of important Mississip-
pian culture centers. The community was neat
and orderly, according to the chroniclers, who
also remarked about how “civilized” the native
people seemed.

“All the Indians went clothed, down to their
feet with very fine skins well dressed, and blan-
kets of the country, and blankets of sable fur and
others of the skin of wildcats which gave out a
strong smell,” wrote one. “The people are very
clean and polite and naturally well conditioned.”
The writer also noted the Indians wore leather
leggings and deer-skin moccasins dyed black.
These shoes had color fringes and white laces.

De Soto demanded to see more pearls, as well
as silver and gold. The “Lady of Cofitachequi”
instructed her people to comply. The Indians
returned with lovely fresh water pearls, lumps of
copper and pieces of sparkling mica, apparently
thinking this is what De Soto sought. The Span-
iard was disappointed and expressed some skepti-
cism that there was no gold in the village. The

“Lady of Cofitachequi” insisted, however, that
her people had no other precious metals.

A short time later, some of the Indians led
Spanish soldiers on a tour of a mortuary where
corpses were decomposing in boxes placed on
platforms atop wooden posts. The Spanish exam-
ined the coffins and found that many of the dead
wore pearls on their arms, necks and legs. The
soldiers began taking the pearls and carting them
away, eventually removing some 200 pounds.
Many of the pearls were discolored from heat or
from contact with dirt or decaying bodies.

The “Lady of Cofitachequi” asked, “Do you
value that?” She proposed taking the Spanish to
her sacred town, Talmeco, where there were
more fresh-water pearls. The town, several miles
away, was largely vacant when the group arrived.
The Spanish headed for the most important part
of the sacred town of Talmeco, climbing the steep
steps to the highest point atop the most sacred
earthen mound. There, on the plateau-type sur-
face, they stood in front of a large temple with a
high roof of split-cane mats. Strings of pearls and
conch shells adorned the rooftop.

The soldiers stormed into the temple, passing
between six pairs of fierce-looking wooden
statutes. The statutes, each representing a war-
rior, became progressively smaller, with all of
them seemingly poised to attack. They bore
different weapons of war clubs, spears or bows
and arrows. Once inside, the soldiers took a few
seconds to let their eyes adjust to the darkness,
then noted the high ceilings that were decorated
with elaborate headdresses, pearls and large sea
shells. Some of these adornments dangled from
strings and seemed almost to be floating on air.

The Spanish spied two additional lines of
statutes, perched one above the other, near the
rear of the temple. Some of these statues were
bare handed, while others grasped weapons,
decorated with pearls and colored strings. Along
other walls, the Spanish saw ornate chests resting
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nearby wilderness. De Soto ordered some of his
soldiers to find her and bring her back.

In their search for the woman chief, the
soldiers took with them a high-ranking male
Indian as their guide. Surprisingly, the “Lady of
Cofitachequi™ was the person who assigned this
male Indian to the Spanish. Whether she did this
willingly or not is unknown. We do know the
Spanish were impressed with the Indian guide. A
proud man, he carried with him a sleek and highly
polished bow that gleamed in the sunlight.

When the Spanish search party stopped to
rest, after traveling about ten miles, the Indian
guide began sighing heavily. This was odd behav-
ior coming from a muscular man who appeared to
be only about twenty years old. The Indian’s
unusual behavior continued. He carefully began
removing arrows from his quiver, one at a time.
Each time he removed one of the arrows he held
it up so that the Spanish could see how the arrow
shone in the sunlight. Then he handed the arrow
to the Spanish, who must have been pleased and
fascinated.

Each arrow had a slightly different kind of
stone tip. Finally, the Indian carefully removed his
last arrow and without warning, suddenly stabbed
himself with the stone tip. The arrow head proba-
bly was smeared with some kind of poison,
because the Indian died almost instantly. The
Spanish were stunned by his suicide. Anthropolo-
gist Hudson speculates that the guide was per-
haps torn over whether to follow the instructions
of the “Lady of Cofitachequi”to help the Spanish
or remain loyal to the woman chief.

Without the Indian’s help, the search party
failed to locate the woman chief. De Soto dis-
patched a second search party, but they could not
find her either.

The Spanish were becoming increasingly
concerned that the people of Cofitachequi were
planning an insurrection against them. De Soto
ordered the “Lady of Cofitachequi” enslaved, and
took her along for protection as his army headed

north into what 1s now North Carolina. Later, as
the army struggled through the Appalachian
Mountains near present-day Asheville, the “Lady
of Cofitachequi” asked to be allowed to relieve
herself in the forest.

It was a cold day in May. The Indian, noticing
that her male guards were inattentive, used the
opportunity to flee into the woods and escape,
taking with her one female attendant and a box of
fine pearls that the Spanish had removed from the
Cofitachequi temple. De Soto sent search parties
after her, but they failed to find her.

De Soto’s army steadily headed west, fighting
a growing number of battles with Indians and
never finding any gold. Increasingly despondent,
De Soto eventually became ill and died near the
Mississippi River. His men, fearing that Indians
would be emboldened if they realized the fierce
Spanish leader was dead, attached weights to his
body and sank the corpse in the river.

After wandering through the wilderness, many
of De Soto’s soldiers escaped to Mexico after
floating down the Mississippi with angry natives
trailing behind in hot pursuit.

§8§

WHAT CAN BE LEARNED?

At least six different sites within the proposed
park are already known to contain Mississippian
artifacts. Some of these objects are deeply buried,
some five to six feet beneath the surface near
Congaree Creek. These deep deposits, the result
of modern flooding, probably mean there is much
more that can be uncovered by extensive excava-
tions.

Scientists have also discovered at least three
Mississippian sites just outside the proposed park
boundaries, areas that may someday be included
in the park.

The park, therefore, should offer scientists
and interested visitors intriguing glimpses into this
time period, which lasted from about A.D. 800 to
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about A.D. 1650. The Indians that De Soto
encountered, who followed the Mississippian
culture, created more complex societies than
earlier Woodland-era inhabitants. The Mississip-
pian period was a time of stratified chiefdoms,
elaborate art, growing dependence on agriculture
and increasing warfare.

De Soto’s soldiers also met Indians who
seemingly had no ties to more complex Mississip-
pian societies and who followed a Woodland-era
lifestyle, points out historian Fritz Hamer of the
South Carolina State Museum. The Indians who
lived near Congaree Creek, at least in the early
centuries of the Mississippian era, perhaps lived
such a Woodland-type existence. They apparently
built no mounds and continued to be dependent
on hunting, fishing and gathering.

§§8%

WAS CORN IMPORTANT?

As they sift through soils, scientists will look
for evidence of when people began growing corn,
an important aspect of the Mississippian culture.
If they find evidence of corn, it will help them
better understand the beginnings of extensive
agriculture in the area and how crop growing
transformed daily life. Archeologists will also
attempt to determine how native life changed
locally before, during and after the Spanish
incursion.

Scientists will carefully examine every Missis-
sippian site they find in the park to try to deter-
mine the exact years when Indians were present.
For example, they will look for complex pottery
decorations associated with the middle part of the
Mississippian era (between about A.D. 1150 to
about A.D. 1450). Preliminary investigations by
archeologist James Michie unearthed at least one
pottery piece that appears to have been made
about A.D. 1400.

Similar findings could be crucial to determin-
ing what happened in the years before the Spanish
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arrived in A.D. 1540. Historian Fritz Hamer
points out there is a strong possibility that Indians
abandoned Congaree Creek, along with much of
the surrounding area, perhaps a century before
the Spanish appeared.

When De Soto arrived, he discovered a wide
stretch of land between central Georgia and
central South Carolina that was virtually unoccu-
pied. Scientists still grapple with exactly what
happened to the former inhabitants and are trying
to determine the causes of their disappearance.
Increasing warfare among Indians that led them to
build protective stockades and dry moats around
many of their settlements, along with a drought
that hurt agricultural production, may have con-
tributed to spurring a great migration out of the
region, according to archeologist David Ander-
son.

Whether Congaree Creek was part of this vast
uninhabited wilderness requires more research. It
is also possible that at least some Indians contin-
ued to dwell in the area during De Soto’s pres-
ence or a short time later when another Spaniard,
Juan Pardo. arrived. There is still much to be
learned about this crucial time when two vastly
different cultures from the Old World and the
New World clashed.

Certainly, De Soto’s army explored near
Congaree Creek during that desperate Spring of
1540 when the Spanish army was lost and running
short of food. As extensive investigations are
conducted in the Archeological Park, scientists
will keep an eye out for Spanish artifacts, such as
the copper bells the conquistadors used to deco-
rate their horses. Indians greatly desired these
“Clarksdale bells,” which became a coveted trade
good.

Once the Archeological Park opens, scientists
will also seek answers to what happened after the
early Spanish incursions in the 1500s. One of the
most promising finds inside the proposed park
represents a large Mississippian-era village.
Archeologists have already completed cursory



surveys of this site, which is spread out over
several acres. Not enough research has yet been
completed to know exactly when this village was
occupied, but archeologist David Anderson has
seen enough to speculate it was after the initial
Spanish explorations during the later centuries of
the Mississippian era.

Because of preliminary research at the site,
scientists already know the location contains
significant deposits of Indian garbage, which
archeologists call midden. Mississippian Indians
often buried garbage outside the entrances of
their homes or on the outskirts of their communi-
ties. These dumps, when well preserved, almost
always provide important clues about the people
who left them. As they conduct more research at
this important site, archeologists will compare
their findings with what they may discover at
nearby places in the park and just outside the park
boundaries where artifacts from the same era
likely exist. These comparisons will help them
develop a picture of what society was like for the
villagers.

Some of the smaller sites near the village may
represent homesteads where one or two families
lived during at least part of the year. Scientists
will look for clues that the residents of these
homesteads perhaps traveled periodically to the
large village, perhaps to participate in religious
festivals or to pay tribute to a chief. Some smaller
sites may also represent temporary camps set up
by residents of the large village when they were
on hunting or fishing expeditions.

After the early Spanish explorations, many
years passed before Europeans ventured back
into South Carolina’s interior in any great num-
bers. There were a few expeditions in the 1600s.

§88

Then, in 1701, explorer John Lawson visited
Congaree Creek.

Sometime before Lawson arrived, the elabo-
rate Mississippian cultural system, established
around powerful chiefs, probably collapsed. What
happened in Georgia and South Carolina occurred
throughout most of the Southeast, with powerful
chiefdoms disappearing and the Indians abandon-
ing the mound centers that took so long to build.

Some scientists theorize that the Mississip-
pian chiefdoms were inherently unstable and
beginning to collapse before the Spanish arrived.
Others point out that the conquistadors wrought
irreparable damage to native societies. De Soto
stole vital food, killed many Indians and humili-
ated and enslaved chiefs. Even more damaging,
however, were the diseases the Spanish un-
leashed, such as small pox, for which the natives
had no immunity.

Thousands of native people died from this and
other illnesses the Europeans introduced. Less
centralized Indian societies replaced the great
chiefdoms. In South Carolina that meant groups
such as the Cherokee, Creek, Yamassee, Santee,
Catawba and Congaree Indians took hold. Their
leaders rarely controlled more than one or two
villages.

The Archeological Park offers tantalizing
possibilities for research into the development of
these native societies and the coming of the
British. At least three sites in the proposed park
contain artifacts from both the Mississippian era
and from early English colonial times. As
archeologists sort through and separate these
remains, they should develop a better understand-
ing of how one age evolved into the next.
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ingly encouraged friendly Indians to attack each
other merely to obtain slaves. Once the traders
had the Indian slaves in their hands, they often
used them to carry nearly unbearably heavy loads
to Charleston. There were also mounting reports
of fraud, with traders cheating the Indians in their
dealings, by using faulty weights or inaccurate
measuring sticks to gauge the worth of deer skins
or other items. Traders frequently plied the Indi-
ans with alcohol, making them easier targets for
deceit.

Many Indians became ensnared in debt.
Merchants in England and Charleston encouraged
traders to speed up collections, and traders often
used beatings or the threat of violence to collect.
Taking Indian land became a favored way to
cancel debts. Some colonial leaders warned that
pressure was building toward an explosion with
the Indians, but few colonists realized just how
dangerous the situation had become. Leaders
from different Indian groups began conspiring in
secret, airing complaints and agitating for war.

South Carolina was a relatively small and
vulnerable colony, with settlements extending
only a short distance inland from the coast. The
proprietors in Great Britain were encouraging
more settlers to cross the ocean and settle in the
new colony, especially individuals suffering
religious persecution.

The British saw the immigration as a way to
diminish the power of the colonists who were
already in South Carolina and who were challeng-
ing the proprietors” management. New immi-
grants began expanding into lands near present-
day Beaufort in the western area of the colony on
ground that the Yamassee Indians considered
theirs.

Rumors that the Yamassee might be planning
war against the colonists led the colonial govern-
ment to send Thomas Nairne to the Yamassee as
an emissary, but he was too late to avert disaster.
The Indians struck on Good Friday, April 15,
1715, attacking farms in the western part of the

colony, killing or terrorizing men, women, and
children.

The Yamassee also wiped out a settlement at
Pocotaligo, killing nearly one hundred residents.
Only two colonists escaped. The Indians captured
Thomas Nairne and tortured him to death, driving
wooden splinters into his skin and setting them
afire.

The Yamassee raids served as a signal for an
uprising among most southeastern Indians. The
Creeks, Catawbas, Congaree, Santee, and other
groups, including perhaps some Cherokee, joined
in the warfare, killing ninety percent of the traders
who lived among them, according to historian
Walter Edgar.

Terrified colonists spread the alarm. Every-
where settlers abandoned their homes and fled to
a few fortified farms or to Charleston. Anyone
beyond thirty miles outside the city risked being
killed or captured, and there was justifiable fear
that even Charleston would be attacked.

Governor Charles Craven rallied the settlers,
hoping to stave off defeat. He mobilized the col-
ony’s 1,500 white men into a militia and ordered
the arming of hundreds of slaves, who were orga-
nized into battalions, according to historian Lewis
Jones. The governor also ordered construction of
fortifications and directed government representa-
tives to offer payment to friendly Indians for scalps
they collected from slain enemies.

Other colonies provided some men and sup-
plies, but South Carolina faced the mushrooming
menace largely alone. The colonists struck back at
the Yamassee, soundly defeating them in two
battles near Port Royal and Salkehatchie. Surviv-
ing Yamassee fled west into Georgia and south
toward Florida.

Despite these victories, the war was far from
over. The colony was still imperiled, virtually
surrounded by hostile Indians who significantly
outnumbered the settlers. Warriors, for instance,
launched fierce attacks on the eastern side of the
colony, ransacking farms along the Santee River.
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Europeans called many of these Indians Cataw-
bas, although the name referred to often unrelated
groups such as the Esau, Nassaw, Sugaree and
Cheraw, according to historian Walter Edgar.
Over time the Catawba developed cohesion and
began to see themselves as one nation.

§§8

CHEROKEES ARE CRUCIAL

Colonial officials tried to entice the Cherokee,
living to the northwest in the foot hills and moun-
tains, to break with other Indians and wage war
against them. The officials promised money and
guns and seemed to convince the Indians to help,
but the warriors who were expected to join the
colonists’ fight failed to show up for a rendez-
vous.

Colonel Maurice Moore and about 300 armed
men marched into Cherokee territory in a show of
force to convince wavering Indians to join the
colonists. Moore had no idea he was moving into
a potential deathtrap. Almost simultaneously,
hundreds of Creek warriors arrived to urge the
Cherokee to launch joint attacks against Moore’s
force.

The fate of Moore’s troops, and perhaps the
entire colony, hung in the balance while the
Cherokees debated what to do. Powerful advo-
cates detested the English and argued in favor of
forming an alliance with their traditional enemies,
the Creeks. Other Cherokees argued just as
forcefully in favor of the English. The conflict
ultimately ended in the murder of some Creek
leaders by Cherokee supporters of the colonists.
The killings violated an unwritten Indian rule that
envoys should be accorded safe passage and
unleashed heightened acrimony between Creeks
and Cherokees which would endure for decades.
The Creek warriors fled, and Cherokee opinion
swung in favor of the colony. Soon, some 3,000
Cherokee warriors moved south to wage war,
turning the conflict in South Carolina’s favor.
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The war began winding down by early 1717,
although hostile Indian raids continued. While the
conflict was called the Yamassee War because it
started with the Yamassee attacks, colonial forces
had been compelled to wage war against many
native groups. The battles obliterated some Indian
societies, while the colonists allowed other groups
to survive because they accepted peace agree-
ments.

The Congaree Indians joined the uprising and
were crushed in the resulting warfare. By one
estimate, more than half of the Congaree were
captured and enslaved by the colonists, then
exported to the West Indies. The Congaree Indians
who escaped managed to merge with the Catawba,
living near the North Carolina border. Within a
generation, few people remembered the Congaree
Indians had ever existed. The Congaree were soon
one of South Carolina’s lost tribes.

The colonists in South Carolina were stunned
by the ferocity of the Indian wars, which few had
expected would ever happen. Some 400 settlers
died in the uprising. Livestock raising suffered in
many areas and vast farming acreage, perhaps one-
half of cultivated lands, lay fallow and deserted,
according to historian Walter Edgar. Some of
these lands remained vacant for more than a
decade, presumably because settlers were still
afraid to return to the frontier. The war’s costs
also placed colonial finances in shambles, with
mounting government debt and inflation.

The collaboration among the Indians against
the colonists was unprecedented and ominous for
the future. If the colony was to continue to sur-
vive, leaders had to act to prevent any further
attacks or alignments among the disparate native
groups. While some battles were still ongoing, the
colonial government seized control of all Indian
trade. The government hired agents, called factors,
who became the only settlers legally permitted to
trade with natives.

Five commissioners managed Indian trade
policy in consultation with the governor and other



colonial officials. The commissioners helped
decide where trade would be allowed, what
exchange rates would be, and who would serve as
trade agents. The commerce in Indian slaves,
which had already been declining, virtually disap-
peared.

Colonial officials also ordered the building of
forts on the frontier’s edge, where settlers could
seek protection from attack and soldiers would be
stationed to discourage any potential adversaries.
The forts would also serve as staging grounds for
military operations into Indian territory and as
storage depots for trade goods. Natives were to
bring deer skins to the forts where government
agents would ensure fair exchanges.

As early as July 1716, the Indian Trade Com-
missioners considered building a fort on the banks
of Congaree Creek at a site they called the
Congarees. A small colonial settlement had been
established at the location prior to the Yamassee
War and natives were accustomed to visiting the
place to conduct trade. A significant Congaree
Indian village had also been located nearby, but
was abandoned during the war.

The Congarees site was also well established
among colonists as a last stop before entering
Indian territory. Anyone traveling from
Charleston on foot or horseback followed a well-
trod path to Congaree Creek, where the path
forked in two directions. Those traveling to
Cherokee territory chose the left fork and headed
northwest. This Cherokee trail took travelers to
Keowee, the first major Indian village in the foot
hills, and then on toward the mountains.

Those headed to Catawba territory turned
right at Congaree Creek to follow the Catawba
trail. This path curved northeast, crossed the
Congaree River, and eventually reached the
Wateree River, where it turned north. Near the
North Carolina border, the Catawba trail inter-
sected another path leading toward Virginia.

As the Yamassee War moved toward a
conclusion, colonial officials considered ordering

the Catawba Indians to move south to Congaree
Creek. The Catawbas, now subdued, would serve
as guardians against future surprise attacks by
other Indians, while trade with the natives would
be restored to pre-war levels. The officials’ objec-
tive was to regain trade with the Catawbas, who
were increasingly diverting their exchanges to
traders from Virginia.

§§8§

CATAWBAS RESIST

The Catawbas, however, were reluctant to
move, and the Cherokee Indians, their traditional
enemies, objected to their foes settling nearby and
controlling access to a principal path into Chero-
kee territory. The colonial leaders subsequently
dropped their plans to relocate the Catawbas.

One of the first people to suggest building a
colonial fort near Congaree Creek, according to
researcher William McDowell, was a well-re-
garded Cherokee leader, Charite Hayge, who was
also known as “The Conjurer.”

As the Indian Trade Commissioners began
promoting the idea of a fort, they offered the job
of building and then managing the outpost to
Eleazer Wiggan, a tough frontiersman who had a
reputation for skirting government regulations.
Wiggan, however, turned down the position. Next,
the commissioners turned to Captain James How,
a soldier experienced in dealing with Indians.

Captain How accepted, and in January 1718,
the commissioners bought for his use a large, flat-
bottomed boat with two masts, a periaugue. He
planned to ferry men and supplies in the vessel
from Charleston and eventually travel up the
Santee and Congaree Rivers to Congaree Creek.

The boat apparently was not in the best condi-
tion because the commissioners had to hire a
contractor to make repairs. The commissioners
also approved buying oars for the trip, along with
various supplies, from Thomas Barton, keeper of
the public store. The purchases, according to
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go forward again....” The attempt to build a fort
on Congaree Creek came to a standstill.

Soon after, however, the proposed construc-
tion gained impetus again because of renewed
threats of violence. That summer of 1718, appar-
ently in July, colonial officials received word that
the French and Choctaw Indians planned to attack
the Cherokees, who had become the colony’s
principal native allies. The Indian Trade Commis-
sioners dispatched some fifty colonial troops to
bolster Cherokee preparedness and once more
ordered the start of fort construction at the
Congarees site.

The commissioners authorized on July 16
purchases of another “Periaugue and all manner
of utensils, stores, provision, and ammunition
fitting...for building, settling and defending a
sufficient fort.” Soon after, they hired Captain
Charles Russell to manage the fort and to serve as
trade agent for the Cherokees and Catawba. The
commissioners also bought a horse for Russell so
he could ride to recruit men for the mission.

The commission’s records are unspecific
about how Russell arrived at Congaree Creek. He
perhaps traveled with members of his command in
the periaugue boat. There is also the possibility
he rode the horse, accompanying soldiers travel-
ing by land to Cherokee territory. The troops
bivouacked at Congaree Creek on their journey.
Two historians interpret written records to mean
the soldiers’ pack horses hauled materials des-
tined for fort construction, as well as ammunition
to be distributed to the Cherokees.

Sometime in the fall of 1718, Captain Russell,
along with some 20 men assigned to him, began
building Fort Congaree. Cherokee warriors, sent
by Charite Hayge, the “Conjurer,” apparently
helped with the construction, according to re-
searcher Michael Trinkley.

The fort apparently consisted of a stockade
fence enclosing various buildings, according to
archeologist James Michie. The builders shaped
the stockade in a square or rectangle with the

back fence parallel to Congaree Creek. They also
dug a protective dry moat to enclose the fort,
except on the side next to the creek.

The South Carolina governor described Fort
Congaree in January 1719 as a place to “awe the
Indians and prevent their coming within us.”
Soldiers at the fort, according to the governor,
were ordered to determine what the Indians’
“designs are and to secure our people and goods
whilst we trade with them.”

§§8§

ENEMIES ABOUND

Fort Congaree existed at a dangerous time
when there were multiple threats to the colony.
Not only were colonial officials concerned about
more Indian uprisings, they were also worried
about the French, who were becoming increasingly
assertive, seemingly preparing to attack the Chero-
kees.

Spain would soon declare war on England, and
there was evidence the Spanish were ready to send
warships from Florida to pillage South Carolina
settlements. In addition, pirates constantly threat-
ened shipping to and from England, imperiling a
vital lifeline for the colony. Not everyone in South
Carolina viewed the pirates as a menace, however.
In fact, for many years colonial officials had turned
a blind eye to the many settlers trading with pirates
so they could obtain cheap stolen goods, but the
danger to the colony from the pirates had mush-
roomed to such a degree that the officials decided
they could no longer tolerate the risk.

A growing menace was Edward Teach,
known as “Blackbeard,” and his band of cut-
throats. They stormed aboard an ocean-going
vessel and seized several prominent Charleston
residents to hold for ransom. “Blackbeard” defi-
antly anchored his four ships near Charleston in
June 1718, and demanded that the governor hand
over expensive medical supplies, or the pirates
would kill the hostages. Colonial officials yielded
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to the ultimatum. The hostages did their part by
encouraging friends and families to pay fist-fulls
of cash to the pirates to guarantee their release.
Once the hostages were released, “Blackbeard”
sailed away, free to kidnap and plunder again.

Colonial anger, not only in South Carolina,
but also further up the coast, was mounting
against the audacious thieves. Colonists from
Virginia finally caught up with “Blackbeard™ and
made him pay for his crimes with his life.

South Carolina designated warships to track
down other pirates who were just as fierce as
“Blackbeard.” Two of the vessels, commanded by
William Rhett, engaged in a desperate, six-hour
battle in North Carolina’s Cape Fear River with a
pirate ship commanded by Stede Bonnet, a well-
educated and formerly wealthy and respected
citizen of Barbados. During the battle, all three
ships ran aground in the shallow waters. They
continued firing cannons, filling the air with
smoke, but the fusillade accomplished little until
one of the colonial ships managed to float free.
Bonnet, still trapped in the mud, was forced to
surrender.

The colonists put Bonnet on trial in Charles-
ton, where he somehow managed to escape. The
outraged colonists quickly caught him, however,
and returned him to the court room where he was
declared guilty as charged. On December 10,
1718, a large crowd gathered in a Charleston
square to watch Bonnet hanged. His death was
only one of many for the pirates that year. In all,
some forty-eight of the brigands were executed in
November and December, according to historian
Walter Edgar.

The executions had their desired effect. They
eliminated a number of the pirates and discour-
aged others from further assaults on the citizens.
Other dangers to the colony also gradually sub-
sided. Neither the Spanish nor the French
launched the feared attacks, and serious problems
with the Indians seemed to abate, at least for a
while. Fort Congaree never faced attack. Instead,
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the fort became an important trade center. Chero-
kee and Catawba Indians frequently camped on the
grounds near the fort walls to peddle deer skins
and other trade goods with the colonists, but
relations with the natives remained uneasy.

§§8

DANGEROUS DEALINGS

While Fort Congaree played an important role
in the Carolina government’s attempts to eliminate
abuses perceived as causing the Yamassee War, by
1720 it became apparent that the government’s
trade monopoly, controlled by five commissioners
of Indian Trade, was creating almost as many
problems as it was meant to solve. One of those
who observed the damage being inflicted was
Captain William Hatton, the government’s trade
agent (or factor) to the Cherokee Indians. Hatton’s
memoirs, written in 1720, detail how dangerous
the life of an Indian trader had become and how
difficult it was for him to gain the Cherokees’
trust.

Merchants based in Charleston, according to
Hatton, were upset by strict government controls
over everything they sold destined for the Indians.
These merchants raised prices sky high when
selling to authorized government agents. The
result of the expensive goods, along with precari-
ous government finances, was that shortages soon
developed in high-quality goods sought by the
Indians.

There was also a shortage of pack horses to
haul goods to the Cherokees and bring back their
pelts and deer skins. As a result, traders such as
Hatton were forced to hire Indians to act as bear-
ers, which he called burdeners. Although they were
paid, the Indians resented what they considered
menial work. As Hatton put it, the Indians thought
the government-sanctioned traders made a “horse
[of] them to carry skins.”

Using Indian bearers also resulted in severe
financial losses for the colony. Entire “packs of



goods,” as much as a third of the cargo, disap-
peared from Indian caravans because of theft,
according to Hatton. And because the guilty
bearers were “called at no time to a strict ac-
count....they at last was so emboldened in their
roguery that they thought it no crime, but would
go away’ to the Catawba Indians and trade away
the stolen goods.

Many trade goods traveled first from Charles-
ton to Fort Congaree over land or by boat,
before being traded to the Cherokees or Cataw-
bas. Captain Charles Russell, commander of Fort
Congaree, had a habit of intercepting the best
goods meant for the Indians, especially gun
powder. Russell’s actions and shortages caused
by the Charleston merchants’ high prices meant
the ammunition available for trade to the Chero-
kees was “damnified,” according to Hatton. The
gun powder “came in lumps as big as a man’s
head and as hard as a stone....I was ashamed to
offer it to sale.”

Outright abuse by some government-sanc-
tioned agents deepened the ill will between the
colonists and Indians. John Sharp, a trader, “used
them [the Cherokees] very roughly by beating and
abusing them,” Hatton wrote. Sharp even slashed
several Indians with his saber and called “them ill
names, such as rogues and old women, which
there cannot be a greater affront given to an
Indian than to call him an old woman.”

When traders from Virginia began dealing
with both the Catawbas and Cherokees, govern-
ment agents such as Hatton found themselves at
a distinct disadvantage. Unlike the Virginians, the
Carolina traders had to hew to strict prices set by
the Commissioners of Indian Trade. The Virgin-
ians undercut those prices and offered better
quality goods.

They also had no need of hiring Indian bearers
because they had hundreds of horses. Perhaps,
most importantly, they treated the Indians cor-
dially. The “Virginians used them [the Indians]
with all the mildness and moderation imaginable
which gained their hearts to their interest and

alienated their affections from Carolina,” Hatton
wrote.

As Hatton acknowledged, the Indians were
simply being smart to haggle with both Virginians
and the Carolina agents to gain “another string in
their bow.” The Virginians, however, had such an
advantage that the Carolina traders began “to feel
their [the Cherokees] slights and indignation, no
notice being taken of us, but in derision would
often come and tell us the hateful news....that the
Virginians [were] very good and had brought them
abundance of goods and sold them at such and
such prices.”

Some of the Cherokees grew so bold to threat-
en the Carolina traders. “They did not want us, nor
our goods, among them, and if that we
stayed....we should be killed. All their cry was that
the Virginians was very good, but they valued us
of Carolina no more than dirt. This they told us
often, and this we daily suffered.”

Tensions steadily mounted, spiking higher
when Indians began breaking into various storage
buildings belonging to Carolina traders stationed
throughout Cherokee territory. “When I made a
stir about the stores being broken [into] and
threatened them concerning it with the displeasure
of our governor,” Indians returned some of the
goods and “a few light skins of little value to make
satisfaction, but never to the hundredth part of the
value,” Hatton recounted.

The tension eventually erupted into violence. A
group of Carolina traders was guiding a caravan
south from the Catawbas, apparently in the direc-
tion of Fort Congaree, when they stopped for the
night. Indian warriors attacked the camp and
wounded several of the traders.

Charite Hayge, the Conjuror, who was leader
(or headman) of the Cherokee village of Tugaloo,
initially denied any knowledge of the attack. When
Hatton went to see the chief, however, and told
him he had proof that Cherokees were involved in
“breaking the peace,” Charite Hayge admitted “he
did hear some thing of it [the attack].” The chief
then claimed that a group of “young fellows” went
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out on their own, “unknown to him or any one
else.” Neither the Cherokees nor the Carolina
government reprimanded the perpetrators, “which
gave them good reason to think we was afraid of
them, and that we was obliged to take all wrongs
they should offer us,” Hatton wrote.

The lack of government response to the
attack and growing Cherokee impudence, Hatton
believed, were responsible for the murder soon
after of a trader named Benjamin Edward. “No
one knows how [this happened] except the Indi-
ans.”

Despite the mounting dangers, Hatton contin-
ued to trade. The number of deer skins he and his
assistant factors acquired began to pile up until
there were 10,000 of them that required transport
to Fort Congaree or they risked being damaged
by worms.

“It grieved me to see the skins lay there eaten
by worms and, I having no body but myself, it
was a thing impossible to keep them clean.”
Hatton added, “T was very uneasy at [the skins]
being in their [the Cherokee] nation for fire or an
enemy or several other accidents might have
happened to deprive the public of such a quantity
of skins.”

§§8

HATTON FACES TREACHERY

Hatton rode by horseback to Charleston to
obtain permission from the Commissioners of
Indian trade to hire Indian bearers “because I
durst not proceed to any thing without an order
from the Board.”

Permission granted, Hatton returned to Cher-
okee territory and persuaded enough Cherokees
to act as bearers to haul about a third of the skins
to Fort Congaree. Some 70 Indians assembled,
each carrying about 50 skins, substantially more
than the normal load of 30 skins, and some of the
“young fellows grumbled at the weight of their
packs.”

For their efforts, each Indian was supposed to
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be paid a yard and three quarters of blue duffel
blanket at the journey’s end.

When the caravan reached Fort Congaree, the
fort commander, Captain Charles Russell, provided
every Indian with provisions and pay, but the
blankets he distributed were four inches short. The
Indians were irate and when they returned home
immediately complained to Hatton “their measure
was not right to what I'd promised they should
have....The blame was laid upon me and I was
called a thousand rogues and liars, and they told
me they would never more carry a skin for us of
Carolina unless that I paid them in the [Cherokee]
Nation before they went away.”

Traders from Virginia helped stoke the Indi-
ans’ discontent, arguing that Hatton had obviously
cheated them and urging them never again to haul
goods for Carolina agents. Hatton, discouraged,
wrote, “This also contributed to the loss of their
[the Cherokees] friendship and was a very ill
action at this juncture when burdeners was so
much wanted.”

Hatton told the Indians an “abundance of fine
stories” to the effect that the short pay was not his
fault nor the colony’s governor and that “when the
governor came to know [what had happened] he
would be very angry.” By his fast talking, Hatton
persuaded the Indians to make a second trip to
Fort Congaree. When they arrived at the fort the
second time, they received the correct pay.

Hatton was preparing to dispatch a third
convoy when new dangers enveloped Cherokee
territory. Creek warriors invaded and attacked the
Cherokee town of “Nogoutchee.” The Creeks
carried “off an abundance of slaves and killed most
of the rest of the inhabitants.” The next day, the
invaders also killed three Carolina traders before
slipping back to their villages in what is now west
Georgia.

Hatton set off for the scene of the attacks to
investigate, but before he got there, the trader John
Sharp arrived first and kicked down the door of a
store house used by one of the deceased Carolina
traders. Sharp took “what he thought fit, which he






warned that the governor and the commissioners
of Indian trade would be upset, but Captain
Russell was unmoved. He said “he did not value
neither [the] governor nor commissioners. He
would do as he pleased in [Fort Congaree].” He
angrily told Hatton to go to Charleston and
complain “and be damned.”

As the two men argued, it became clear
Captain Russell was furious at Hatton for com-
plaining to the commissioners of Indian trade
about paying Cherokees from an earlier convoy
with short blankets. Captain Russell said he had
only being paying the Indians what the commis-
sioners had ordered.

Hatton tried to end the dispute by agreeing
that the real fault lay with the commissioners, but
the fort commander remained furious. “He told
me that,” Hatton wrote, “because I was with the
Cherokees they should see that it was on my
account that he slighted them, thinking I suppose
to lessen my credit amongst them.”

Hatton and the Cherokee leaders managed to
survive the next leg of their journey because the
Indian bearers shared corn with them. When the
caravan reached Charleston, however, there were
more tribulations. Community leaders ordered the
Indians to spend the night outside the town walls.
When the Cherokees set up camp on designated
land, the property owner sent servants to chase
them away.

“The little rotten wood which they [the Indi-
ans] had picked off the ground to boil their corn
with, [the servants] took it from them and threw
their things about the camp and drove them away
in the night when they was asleep and obliged
them to move further a mile or two.”

They were then driven from a second camp by
a man who “fell to swearing and cursing the
governor, and [saying things such as the] govern-
ment [be] damned and the Indians too.” Hatton
wrote that when the Indians leaders “saw all these
things, [they] told me that this was the first time
that ever they was down to see the English gover-
nor and it should be the last for they would never
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come no more.” The next day, however, Governor
James Moore and other important citizens treated
the Indians with respect. They invited the natives
on board a British warship where everyone wit-
nessed naval gun firing and were treated well by
the ship’s commander.

When the Cherokees returned home, they
delivered long speeches about what they had seen.
Some of this talk was highly positive, especially
with regard to the kindness shown them by a
British sea captain, but bitterness also lingered. As
Hatton wrote, they “cast reflection enough upon
their treatment in town saying they was willing to
sleep and parch their corn where the cattle dunged,
but the English would not suffer them to [even] do
that.”

Soon after, Creek raiders killed Charite Hayge,
the Indian who helped build Fort Congaree, when
he was returning from visiting the colony. Chero-
kees, in general, blamed the colonial government
for having made peace with the Creeks and sus-
pected the British were encouraging the Creeks to
carry out such raids. In particular, many Cherokee
blamed Hatton because he had encouraged Charite
Hayge to travel south into the colony. Indians
were “within a bow’s shot of” Hatton’s house on
a mission to murder him when Cherokee leaders
whom Hatton had befriended stepped in to order
the would-be assassins away.

§88

SKINS FOR PEARLS

There are no known documents that tell
precisely what deer skins were worth at Fort
Congaree. Historians have, however, uncovered a
price list from Fort Moore, which existed near the
Savannah River at the same time, and researcher
James Michie speculates that Fort Congaree
traders offered comparable rates.

Typically, an Indian at Fort Moore could buy
a pair of scissors for a single deer skin. One skin
could also buy a knife or a string of pearls. Three
skins fetched a metal hatchet or a hoe. Fire arms



were especially expensive, costing twenty skins
for a pistol and thirty-five for a trade gun.

Commerce thrived at Fort Congaree for four
years, but the outpost’s usefulness waned as
colonial officers grew complacent, falsely assum-
ing that the Indians, especially the Cherokee,
were no longer a threat. Colonists grew increas-
ingly unconcerned about carefully managing trade
as the memories faded about the injustices toward
the Indians that flourished before regulations were
put in place.

In 1721, colonial officials put a stop to the
carefully crafted government monopoly on trade
with natives and allowed entrepreneurs once
again to fan out deep into Indian territory. At
about the same time, colonial officials were
chafing at the significant costs involved in main-
taining Fort Congaree, according to researcher
Michie. So, in 1722, officials ordered the garrison
shut.

Captain Charles Russell, still the garrison
commander, distributed some of the fort’s gun
powder, ammunition and other supplies to settlers
living nearby. He then apparently packed the
remaining weapons and supplies, before making
the long trek back to Charleston to turn over the
materials to the colonial government.

At least three slaves served at Fort Congaree,
and perhaps more. When the garrison closed, the
colonial governor ordered the slaves to be sent to
Fort Moore, which remained open on the banks
of the Savannah River. No research has yet been
done about what these slaves’ lives were like at
Fort Congaree. When the Archeological Park
opens, researchers will conduct more study into
the slaves’ activities at the fort and their contribu-
tions to building the young colony.

After Captain Charles Russell and the rest of
the soldiers departed, Fort Congaree quickly fell
into disrepair. The land continued for a while to
serve as a settlement center, with some former
soldiers who had served at the fort remaining
behind as residents. Private traders probably
continued to use the old site as a meeting ground

for exchanges with Indians who still showed up to
haggle over deer skins, speculates historian Wil-
liam McDowell, but there are no written records
yet found that substantiate his assumption. Future
archeological digs may one day find proof that
commerce continued after the fort officially closed.

During the 1730s, the town of Saxe Gotha
developed a short distance away, north of the fort
site along the Congaree River. Patrick Brown was
among the prominent landholders outside the
town. He owned three hundred acres that included
the old fort site. Brown’s brother, Thomas, also
owned a major swath of land nearby.

The two brothers jointly operated a country
store, apparently located on or near the spot where
the old fort once stood. The store’s location was
ideal, adjacent to the wagon trail that stretched all
the way from Charleston into Cherokee territory.
This was the old Indian trading trail that had been
expanded to accommodate wagons.

Not everyone liked having the store in this
location, especially some nearby settlers who
complained in 1735 that Indians congregating at
the store were destroying their crops.

Thomas Brown, one of the store owners, had
a son from a relationship with an Indian woman.
The son apparently followed in his father’s foot-
steps and also became involved in commerce. The
young man was kidnaped in the 1740s by Iroquois
Indians, who also captured a trader named George
Haig. The Iroquois fled north with their two
captives on what must have been a harrowing
journey. Eventually the Iroquois released the
young Brown, but they murdered Haig.

Settlers near the Congaree River were both
infuriated and frightened by the incident. Because
of their concern and heightened tensions with
Indians, colonists built a new Fort Congaree in
1748. The new fort was further north than the old
one and closer to the Congaree River. Many soon
forgot there ever was an earlier Fort Congaree.

Even though the first Fort Congaree held a
pivotal role in the early colony and was the first
major European outpost in the mid section of what
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tie to the fort. They did locate many artifacts,
however, a number of them from the mid-1700s.
They determined that these artifacts were rem-
nants of a small settlement called St. John’s, built
after Fort Congaree was abandoned. Future
research in the proposed Archeological Park will
likely determine much more about St. John’s and
the people who once lived there.

The next scientist to examine various spots
near Congaree Creek for the fort was Richard
Polhemus, again without success. As he searched,
Polhemus noted evidence of extensive flooding in
recent centuries. Some of the floods must have
been powerful enough to scour the land. Pol-
hemus speculated that the inundations could have
been extensive enough to wash away any remain-
ing traces of Fort Congaree. If his idea proved
true, future attempts to find the fort would prove
futile.

Still, other researchers did not want to aban-
don the search. When state engineers began
planning to build the Southeastern Beltway
(which became Interstate 77), a new urgency
gripped the archeological community. Archeolo-
gists became concerned that the proposed high-
way was probably going to be built through an
area where they suspected the fort once stood.
Unless they could discover the fort’s location
quickly, any remains might be bulldozed into
oblivion or buried under tons of concrete.

Three researchers, all affiliated with the
Archeological Society of South Carolina, were
determined to make another attempt to find the
fort. They scoured through the old documents,
trying to gain new insights, hoping to find some-
thing earlier researchers had missed.

These scientists identified an area they
thought looked the most promising. They trucked
in heavy equipment in 1974 to a site north of
Congaree Creek and excavated six long trenches.
In the process, they uncovered numerous arti-
facts, some left behind by prehistoric Indians who
lived centuries before Europeans arrived. The
scientists also discovered more objects they could

trace to the St. John’s settlement, which existed
after Fort Congaree, but they found nothing
related to the fort itself.

That same year, archeologist Michael Trinkley
conducted additional research nearby. He carefully
dug small holes in promising spots, but these test
holes turned up no artifacts from the fort. Trinkley
also examined the soil’s mineral content. These
tests revealed an area near Congaree Creek with
elevated levels of phosphate, which is often a
residue of extended human occupation. Conse-
quently, Trinkley thought he had found a place
with research potential. Funds for the investiga-
tions had run out, however, so all Trinkley could
do was recommend that someone else revisit the
area in the future.

§§8

PAIR FINDS PLANTATION SITE

Charles Gay, a graduate student, brought a
different perspective to the hunt in 1974. Perhaps
the fort was not located north of Congaree Creek
after all. He studied aerial photographs and noted
some distinctive shadings in the earth surface south
of Congaree Creek that he thought might indicate
where the fort had once stood. Gay also detected
what seemed to be remnants of ancient trails
converging in the area.

Determined to learn if his observations were
accurate, Gay and another archeologist walked
through and collected artifacts south of the creek.
Their efforts revealed nothing about the fort, but
they did make an important discovery. Gay and
archeologist David Anderson found artifacts that
apparently belonged to the plantation home of
Charles Pinckney, a signer of the Declaration of
Independence.

Pinckney was a powerful figure in early South
Carolina history, serving four terms as governor of
the state. He was also the first governor to serve in
Columbia after the city became South Carolina’s
capital.

While he was governor, Pinckney frequently
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traveled to his plantation, which he called Tacitus,
using an office there to conduct government
business. The plantation lands will be important
for future studies in the proposed Archeological
Park.

Nevertheless, despite all the potentially signif-
icant discoveries being made near Congaree
Creek, scientists seemed no closer to finding Fort
Congaree. The many important sites being uncov-
ered in the proposed path of the Southeastern
Beltway did cause state engineers to shift the
highway’s route further south. Although this was
a welcome reprieve from potential destruction of
historic sites, the change in the route had an
unexpected consequence. With the threat from
construction diminished, research monies became
difficult to obtain, and the search for Fort Conga-
ree seemed to stop.

§§§

ONE MORE TRY

Some fifteen years later, however, archeolo-
gist James Michie decided to make another
attempt to find the fort site. He reexamined the
historic documents and maps and concluded that
the structure might be closer to the Congaree
River than most scientists had earlier thought. To
test his theory, Michie visited the river in 1989,
using ground-penetrating radar to map contours
beneath the surface in a wide area. The radar,
capable of detecting artifact clusters and changes
in soil density, showed no patterns beneath the
surface that resembled a fort layout.

Ground-penetrating radar can miss important
clues, so Michie and his crew next went back to
the labor-intensive method of digging test holes.
As they dug in numerous places near the river,
their shovels bit down into thick layers of sand
and clay. They extracted these layers of modern-
era flooding and continued to dig deeper. When
they reached between five and six feet beneath the
surface, they began discovering Mississippian
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Indian artifacts, no doubt left behind by residents
who lived long before Europeans arrived.

As the scientists reached between eight and
twelve feet below the surface, they uncovered even
earlier prehistoric Indian artifacts. Still, despite the
extensive excavations, Michie and his crew found
no trace of Fort Congaree. With funds and time
running out, Michie decided to switch his search
back closer to Congaree Creek. He and his team
decided to take another look just north of the
creek in an area that archeologist Michael Trinkley
had previously suggested deserved more probing.

Merely getting a crew and excavation equip-
ment to the site proved difficult. The many trees
and tangled underbrush hindered the archeologists
as they approached the spot where they wanted to
dig. One crew member drove a backhoe tractor,
which lumbered forward, clearing an old, over-
grown dirt road. Pine trees bordered the north side
of the old road, while large hickories and oaks
grew on the other side, between the road and
Congaree Creek. It was late Spring 1989, and with
the growing season already well underway, vines,
brambles and bushes created almost impenetrable
barriers in every direction.

Michie decided the best way to attack the area
was to begin by digging two trenches in the old
road. The backhoe tractor’s engine strained as the
metal bucket banged down and bit into the earth.
It scooped up soil and dumped it to the side. As
the minutes passed, the tractor etched out trenches
that were about ten feet long, four feet wide and
about a foot and a half deep. Michie called a halt
to the digging. He did not want to risk going
deeper with the machinery, fearful that the digging
would destroy valuable soil layering and stains that
might reveal earlier human activity.

With the tractor pulled off to one side, the
archeologists and their assistants stepped into the
trenches with their shovels and began carefully
skimming away more dirt, always keeping a sharp
eye out for artifacts and changes in the color of the
soil.






dry moat, without success. Future excavations
may uncover the moat, although its remains could
have been erased by farming or flooding.

The old drawing shows no moat on the fort’s
south side, the part next to and parallel to Conga-
ree Creek. The creek’s steep banks protected this
area, along with a palisade fence. Michie theorizes
that there was a fence on all four sides. The fence,
probably about nine feet tall, would have con-
sisted of tall wood posts lined up side by side and
sharpened into points at the top.

When the Archeological Park is functioning,
scientists will try to determine the exact nature of
the fort’s defenses. They will search for post
molds, which are stains left from rotting wood.
Post molds could also help archeologists deter-
mine the shape of any bastions which projected
from the fort walls. The bastions would have
protected soldiers and allowed them to fire their
rifles down along the sides of the fort at any
approaching enemies. The old drawing research-
ers think represents Fort Congaree shows two
bastions at the corners furthest from the creek.
The illustration also shows a triangular bastion
jutting from the fort’s west side next to the en-
trance gate.

Michie and his crew did not explore ground
inside the site where the fort once stood. When
the Archeological Park opens, scientists will study
this area, probably by excavating large blocks
twenty feet square. Typically, researchers divide
these blocks into squares, each about a yard on
one side, so they can accurately pinpoint the
locations of any artifacts they uncover. Any
artifacts revealed and their locations could sug-
gest how a particular spot in the fort was used.
For example, if archeologists find an area with
beads and gun flints, this could denote where a
building possibly once stood housing trade goods.
If they uncover many clay pot pieces and animal
bones, they may be digging in a former kitchen.
An area with dice, coins and smoking pipes could
represent a former barracks.
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Researchers will also look for post molds
indicating foundation poles. Some scientists sus-
pect that fort buildings had dirt floors, but more
research is required to make more definitive
conclusions about structures inside the fort. Scien-
tists suspect builders constructed fireplaces and
chimneys with daub, a mixture of clay and plant
fibers. Excavations may uncover pieces of daub,
which will help determine the layout of buildings,
the locations of fireplaces, and where cooking
likely occurred.

Each new discovery will help scientists create
a detailed picture of how the inside of the fort
appeared and what life was like for the people who
lived there. Archeological Park managers will use
this information to create a replica of the fort or
model the fort’s appearance on a computer so
modern visitors can view what the scientists have
learned.

Because the fort’s occupants probably threw
some trash into Congaree Creek, the proposed
park will also be a promising place to conduct
underwater studies. Archeologists will strap on
scuba gear and comb the creek bottom for more
clues about frontier life.

Excavations in the Archeological Park will also
perhaps reveal what remains of the Congaree
Indian village which once stood in the area before
the fort was built. Scientific studies will also look
for remnants of camps built by Cherokee and
Catawba Indians who visited Fort Congaree to
trade. Some scientists think these Indians some-
times stayed for months at a time just outside the
fort.

§§8

ADDITIONAL RESEARCH
In the 1730s, about a decade after Fort Conga-
ree was abandoned, more settlers moved to the
area, spurred by government policy. Robert John-
son, the first South Carolina governor appointed
by the King of England after the Proprietors lost



control, established nine townships. These were
huge swaths of territory on the colony’s outskirts.
The colonial government then offered immigrants
free land in these townships. The government
provided other financial incentives to encourage
immigration, including a guarantee of no land
taxes (called quit rents) for ten years.

Congaree Creek flowed through Saxe Gotha
Township. To the north of the creek, along the
Congaree River, a town developed that was also
called Saxe Gotha. The town’s location is not
inside the proposed Archeological Park, but the
sites of some old outlying farms are. Immigrants
received grants of lots within the town, as well as
fifty acres per family member outside town, places
where they could raise crops, according to re-
searcher Natalie Adams. A letter written in 1735
by Jacob Gallman, a Swiss immigrant, captures
the excitement of the new residents:

“We were given an exceedingly beautiful
place only half an hour from the town. The whole
farm is garden-like ground. It is a good four-and-
a-half hundred acres in one piece, all black-brown
earth, nary a rock, all even land, wheels need no
brakes....Carolina lies under the sun which makes
it very warm. The land is real good and fer-
tile....You fell the trees, then you begin to till and
sow corn....They do not have fences here, only
where things are planted, as everything is left to
itself. Cattle, horses and pigs are left to roam.”

Saxe Gotha “was settled by German speaking
Protestants from its onset,” writes archeologist
Dan Elliott. “It was a very important non-British
part of the Carolina colony.”

§8§8%

Archeologist Natalie Adams uncovered pieces
of a distinctive pottery with buff-colored paste at
the location of Saxe Gotha town and at an outlying
area near the proposed park. Similar pottery pieces
show up at remains of a German settlement in
Georgia called New Ebenezer. These may repre-
sent “a potting tradition unique to” Swiss German
towns, Adams writes, adding she looks “forward
to the results of future excavations” into Saxe
Gotha’s outlying areas. Researchers in the Archeo-
logical Park may find remnants of farm houses and
mills built by the German-speaking settlers and will
conduct more study into the lives of these immi-
grants.

Residents of Saxe Gotha, despite the fertile soil
and ideal growing conditions, had far from an easy
existence. They apparently were afflicted both by
disease and flooding, according to researcher
James Michie. Some settlers gave up the struggle
and moved further south in the 1750s to a new
community they called St. John’s. They built this
small town near the former location of Fort
Congaree, which had disappeared many years
before.

But St. John’s did not flourish either. Within a
generation, most residents had abandoned the
community, and it soon became one of South
Carolina’s ghost towns. Archeologists think they
have found remnants of St. John’s, including at
least two house sites, within the proposed Archeo-
logical Park.

When the park opens, scientists will conduct
more research to learn about this forgotten frontier
town and its residents.
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son, watched helplessly as
the British ransacked her
property. Left an invalid
by infantile paralysis, she
defiantly refused to answer
questions about her hus-
band’s whereabouts. Soldiers
picked up her chair and car-
ried it out into the front
yard where she sat watch-
ing as the dragoons
stormed through her house,
then set it afire. Finally, as
the soldiers saddled up to
leave, one soft-hearted dra-
goon, according to histori-
an Robert Bass, placed
a ham beneath Mary
Sumter’s chair. Then the
dragoons rode away, con-
tinuing their drive to the
north, leaving behind a
determined and implacable
foe in Thomas Sumter.
At a time when many
. rebels lost nerve and hope,
Sumter vowed he would
never submit to British

Thomas Sumter, nicknamed the “Gamecock,” was a well-to-do landowner who became rule. He fled into swamps
the leader of South Carolina militia fighting the British during the Revolutionary War. near the North Carolina

United States Forest Service

his fervor for military combat. But as Sumter rode
north to evade British dragoons and news reached
him about what the British were doing to his
countrymen, his attitude changed, a shift that
would affect the course of the fledgling nation.

When Tarleton’s dragoons invaded Sumter’s
plantation, they stormed through the residence
and nearby buildings, knocking over prized pos-
sessions and breaking anything fragile in their
way. They emptied the storage sheds, hauling
away all of the food and supplies.

Sumter’s wife, the former Mary Cantey Jame-

border and onto lands held

by the Catawba Indians.
There he began plotting his revenge. He would
soon figure prominently in fighting that erupted
near Congaree Creek.

As Sumter gathered recruits, his efforts
were boosted by his nemesis Banastre Tarleton.
Tarleton’s more than 200 dragoons galloped
north, barely halting for food or rest, traveling
some 150 miles in a little more than two days.
They soon caught up with a rebel army of
Virginians trying to flee the colony.

Despite the exhaustion of his troops, Tarleton
demonstrated a determined boldness. On May 29,
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1780, he demanded that some 400 Virginians
surrender, even though they significantly out-
numbered the British. Rebel Lieutenant Colonel
Abraham Buford, perhaps suspecting he had the
advantage, replied, “I reject your proposals and
shall defend myself to the last extremity.”
Tarleton ordered a charge.

The Virginians held their fire until the
British horsemen were almost upon them. Then
the rebel muskets exploded in a deafening bar-
rage. The deadly gunfire, however, did not break
the British momentum. Horses thundered for-
ward, the British riders charging into the midst
of their foes before they had a chance to reload
their cumbersome weapons. The dragoons
slashed down with long, razor-sharp sabers,
tearing into the rebels who were on foot.

The battle became a massacre. Rebel soldiers
crumpled to the earth. Others began fleeing while
still others threw down their rifles, held up their
hands and yelled, “Quarter!” the well-known term
indicating surrender and a plea for mercy. One
rebel soldier waved a white flag.

What happened next is a point of contention
among historians who argue whether Tarleton
deserves blame for the ensuing slaughter. There is
no doubt, however, that confusion reigned.
Tarleton’s horse was shot and keeled over, pinning
the British commander to the ground and perhaps
knocking him momentarily unconscious.

Seeing their commander spilled on the
ground and presuming he had been killed, some
British troops continued fighting and were
caught up in a frenzy. This led some rebel sol-
diers to pick up their weapons and reload,
actions that reinvigorated the British attack even
more. The dragoons slashed with their sabers at
kneeling patriots holding their hands in the air
while they pleaded for quarter and also struck at
the wounded lying on the ground.

Major Patrick Ferguson, a Scottish officer in
Tarleton’s force, was so outraged by the actions
of Tarleton’s dragoons that he had to be
restrained to stop him from shooting them,
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according to historian Lewis Jones. Tarleton
blamed the wanton killing on “a vindictive
asperity not easily restrained.” In his official
written report, he coldly concluded, “They [the
rebels] refused my terms. | have cut 170 off’rs
and men to pieces.” The British lost five soldiers
killed and 12 wounded.

Andrew Jackson, a boy of thirteen, helped
tend the wounded rebels after the battle, his anger
rising as he went from man to man. With his
brother Robert, he soon joined Sumter in the
swamps, his first step in a military career that
would eventually lead him to a successful run for
the White House. Many others were also infuriat-
ed by the Tarleton force’s actions and responded
to Sumter’s call to arms. Soon a ragtag force of
determined frontiersmen elected Sumter their
leader and brigadier general. Sumter, stern, taci-
turn and fierce, spoke to his assembled troops,
“Our interests and fates are identical. With me as
with you, it is liberty or death.” The militia
already had its battle cry, “Tarleton’s Quarter.”

The tone was set for a bitter struggle pitting
neighbor against neighbor, militia against mili-
tia. Atrocities occurred on both sides. Tories,
who were colonists loyal to Britain, stole live-
stock, burned houses, tortured and murdered.
The revolutionaries responded in kind.

The British military reacted to the rebels’
guerrilla tactics by clamping down on and bru-
talizing the civilian population. British officers,
even more than in their initial campaign,
increasingly condoned plundering, house burn-
ings, torture and prisoner executions. In some
instances, not even women and children were
sparred from the violence. Had the British been
conducting their campaigns in modern times,
international war crime trials would have been
justified, according to historian Walter Edgar.

Another tactic the British used to control the
countryside was to seize control of established
forts in the back country and to build new ones
in strategic locations. Fort Granby, located just
north of the proposed Archeological Park, was



one of the new British bastions. This war-time
fort would become pivotal in the struggle for
control of the colony’s center.

§88

UNUSUAL TRAINING

Thomas Sumter would lead the first assault
on Fort Granby, but before he could attack he had
to prepare his militia. He undertook the task in an
unconventional approach. The militia leader did
not emphasize close-order drills and discipline,
the usual staples of military training. Instead he
encouraged his frontiersmen to participate in vig-
orous exercise and athletic contests, according to
historian Robert Bass. The soldiers swam, ran and
jumped, building physical conditioning, individ-
ual initiative and esprit de corps.

Sumter, dressed in his blue uniform,
trimmed in red with gold shoulder epaulettes,
reminded two blacksmiths who saw him of a
fighting rooster when he was in North Carolina
to buy arms. According to historian Bass, the
blacksmiths were impressed with Sumter’s
resolve to battle the overwhelmingly superior
number of British forces and began calling him
“the Gamecock.” The nickname stuck, and was
ultimately repeated by friend and foe alike.

Sumter’s soldiers soon began launching guer-
rilla raids against small groups of British troops,
supply trains, and the hated loyalists. The militia
also won victories against larger forces, but their
record in major battles was spotty, and they expe-
rienced significant setbacks. For their part, the
British high command at first was arrogantly con-
fident. Cornwallis wrote in early summer 1780
that he had “put an end to all resistance in South
Carolina.” Soon, however, Sumter and his uncon-
ventional force became a major irritant. The
British went to great lengths to eliminate the
“Gamecock,” offering higher and higher rewards
for his capture and designating special squads to
assassinate him.

Even when surprised or defeated, however,
Sumter proved elusive and resilient. Wounded in
one battle, he carried on despite having a mus-
ket ball in his thigh. On another occasion,
British troops stormed his camp on a frosty
night, catching Sumter asleep. As enemy sol-
diers moved toward the front of his tent, Sumter
slithered out the back and began running.
Wearing only undergarments, he sprinted
through a briar patch in bare feet. While they
searched for him, Sumter somehow managed to
cling to a ledge and ultimately escaped.

In November 1780, Sumter led his militia of
about one thousand men east of the Broad River.
Cornwallis sent Tarleton to hunt him down.
Now commanding an army of mounted infantry,
foot soldiers, and artillery, as well as dragoons,
Tarleton advanced into the Dutch Forks, an area
between the Broad and Saluda Rivers northwest
of present-day Columbia.

Eager to confront Sumter’s militia, Tarleton
left most of his army behind, ordering them to
catch up, while he raced ahead with 270 mount-
ed infantry and dragoons. After riding hard all
day, Tarleton and his small force arrived at the
foot of the high ground that Sumter had chosen
for his defense above the Tyger River on the
William Blackstock Plantation.

A cold drizzle fell, as Tarleton deployed his
troops on hill tops late in the afternoon of
November 20, 1780. He could see Sumter’s
rebel soldiers outnumbered his own force and
held what Tarleton conceded was “unapproach-
able” high ground. Tarleton decided to stall,
choosing to avoid a major battle until the rest of
his army arrived. At the same time, he wanted to
keep Sumter’s rebels from slipping away as they
had done so often.

As he faced the rebel militia, Tarleton’s right
side consisted of 80 red-coated infantrymen. He
ordered them to dismount to make them a more
formidable defensive force. The British left side
consisted of the rest of Tarleton’s soldiers, the
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dragoons. Tarleton hoped the Americans would
remain in place, but what happened differed con-
siderably. Sumter was tipped off by one of his
many spies, in this case, a woman, Mrs. Mary
Dillard. She rode six miles to the rebel camp to
tell Sumter that Tarleton had no artillery and few
infantry soldiers with him. Sumter, suspecting
that the rest of Tarleton’s army could not reach
him before nightfall, decided to attack.

§88

SUMTER ATTACKS

He sent 400 militia men streaming down an
open field and then up a hill to confront the
British infantry. The militia men were so nerv-
ous that they fired their muskets too soon when
they were still well out of range. Their gunshots
caused no damage and their haste to shoot left
them vulnerable to their foes.

A British officer, Lieutenant John Money,
spotting an opportunity, ordered the infantry to
charge the rebels as they rushed to reload. The
militia men, seeing the red-coated British regu-
lars running toward them with raised bayonets,
began retreating. The British continued their
pursuit, racing within range of a farm house and
other log buildings where more rebel militia
were hiding. Suddenly, muskets jutted out
through every available opening and exploded
with gunfire and smoke. British soldiers, caught
in mid stride, tumbled to the ground, wounded
or dead. The British commander, John Money,
was among those seriously wounded.

On the other side of the battlefield, Sumter’s
mounted militia were attacking the dreaded
British dragoons. Rebel musket fire knocked 20
dragoons from their saddles, but the British
reformed and drove Sumter’s soldiers back.

Tarleton, seeing that his dismounted
infantry was pinned down, disorganized and in
grave danger, led a number of dragoons in a
charge at the heart of rebel defenses. Out in
front, Tarleton ignored a blizzard of bullets. As
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Nathanael Greene was one of George Washington's most
trusted officers in the Continental Army. Washington
picked him as his own replacement if he should ever
become incapacitated. National park Service

he spurred his horse forward, Tarleton spotted
his fellow officer, John Money, lying wounded
on the ground. Tarleton reined his horse to a
halt, dismounted and bent down to aid the lieu-
tenant, lifting him up onto the saddle and climb-
ing on behind him.

His dragoons faced a steady barrage of gun-
fire from the rebel militia, who were crouched
behind a fence and trees and inside the log
buildings. The dragoon charge, however, rein-
vigorated Tarleton’s infantry and helped stabi-
lize the British position. Only the coming of
darkness eventually enveloping the battlefield
forced an end to the fighting. Tarleton had suf-
fered his first military defeat.

The British lost 92 killed and 76 soldiers
wounded in the battle, according to historian
Walter Edgar. British officer John Money was



among those who eventually died from his
wounds. The rebel militia losses were much
fewer with only three soldiers killed. However,
the rebels also experienced a stunning blow.
During the battle, as drizzle continued to fall,
Sumter rode across the battlefield with a few
aides. A small knot of British infantrymen spot-
ted unfamiliar horsemen approaching, turned
and fired. Sumter shifted in his saddle at the last
moment, perhaps saving his life as a musket
blast slammed into his side. The projectile
missed his heart, but plunged deep into his right
shoulder, nicked his backbone, and came to rest
in his left shoulder. Historian Robert Bass
writes that Sumter tried to conceal the severity
of his wounds. Only the sound of his blood drip-
ping on dry leaves alerted a fellow officer of
how seriously the general was hurt.

That night, followers sneaked Sumter away
from the battlefield on a crude litter of cow hide
stretched between two poles and rigged between
two horses. A cold rain continued to fall.
Sumter’s militia built campfires that burned
through much of the night, but left them unat-
tended. The rebel soldiers split up, then van-
ished into the darkness.

§88

FORT GRANBY

Nathanael Greene was another figure
important in the story of Congaree Creek.
Greene arrived in Charlotte, North Carolina in
December 1780 to command the southern
Continental Army. He was one of General
George Washington’s most trusted lieutenants
and, according to historian Joseph Ellis, the
officer Washington chose to replace him if he
were disabled or killed.

Greene was known as the “Fighting
Quaker.” Quakers generally were pacifists, but
in spite of his religion, Greene joined the mili-
tary in support of the revolution and was
expelled by the Quakers for his decision.

Historian Tom Elmore points out that Greene
had no formal military training, but learned
quickly.

“He [Greene] came to us the...most untu-
tored being I ever met,” according to General
Henry Knox, Washington’s chief of artillery,
“but in less than twelve months he was equal to
any General officer in the army, and very supe-
rior to most of them.”

Greene’s involvement in Rhode Island poli-
tics, as well as his intelligence, propelled him to
high military rank. He also proved to be a brave
and capable warrior in Washington-led cam-
paigns at Trenton, Brandywine, and elsewhere.
He was with Washington during the hard winter
at Valley Forge in Pennsylvania and became his
quartermaster general, in charge of securing
supplies for the Continental Army, while still
commanding troops in the field.

Greene was thoroughly schooled in
Washington’s viewpoints, including Washington’s
misgivings about the capability of the militia.
Often poorly disciplined, most militia members
were extremely independent. “To expect then
the same service from raw and undisciplined
recruits as from veteran soldiers,” Washington
wrote, “is to expect what never did, and perhaps
never will happen.”

In South Carolina, Greene had to deal with
militiamen who often served only 60 days, and
then returned home. Greene, a firm adherent for
traditional drilling and stringent discipline, also
had to accept Sumter’s more relaxed approach
toward the militia.

Sumter, withdrawn and austere, was perhaps
bound to clash with the affable Greene, who was
prone to lecture his subordinates on proper
behavior. Greene also expected Sumter, and all
militia leaders, to carry out his orders promptly
because he considered the militia to be sub-
servient to Continental troops. This was an inher-
ent conflict because Sumter prized the militia’s
independence. More than once, Sumter paid little
heed to what Greene wanted. Even so, the two
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developed an uneasy, but stunningly successful
cooperation. Greene overcame his prejudice
against the militia and developed a strategy
dependent on them. Increasingly he used diplo-
macy and flattery with Sumter and other militia
leaders, often requesting their cooperation
rather than demanding it.

Greene controlled some 1,400 troops,
although only about 800 were well-equipped
regulars. Nearby, Cornwallis led some 4,000
soldiers. To disrupt this British advantage,
Greene acted boldly, splitting his forces, send-
ing General Daniel Morgan and a thousand sol-

flags fluttered. The two sides fired at each other
at close range.

Morgan used the militia to take advantage of
Tarleton’s characteristic aggressiveness. After
the initial exchange of gunshots, the militia
feigned panic and fled. Tarleton’s troops fol-
lowed, and in their rash pursuit, ran smack into
Morgan’s well-trained Continental soldiers.
Morgan, at the precise right moment, also sent
in his cavalry, and the British army suffered a
devastating defeat, Tarleton’s second setback in
a month.

Nathanael Greene had attained sufficient

The British were a formidable force against the more loosely trained American revolutionaries. Artist Martin Pate depicts the
British Army on the march in South Carolina. Southeast Archeological Center, National Park Service

diers west into northern South Carolina. In a
countermove, Cornwallis also divided his army,
dispatching Tarleton and about 1,150 infantry
and dragoons to shadow Morgan.

Marching with Morgan was much of
Sumter’s militia, although Sumter was not with
them. He was convalescing from battle wounds
so painful that he could barely move his arms.

Morgan and Tarleton’s armies collided on
January 17, 1781 on fields used by frontier fam-
ilies to corral cattle. Called the Battle of
Cowpens, the clash was the sort favored by reg-
ular armies, with troops marching in orderly
columns to face one another as drums beat and
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confidence to consider deep strikes into South
Carolina. As part of his planning, he met with
Sumter, who had recovered enough to resume
active command, although he was still greatly
hobbled by injuries.

Sumter outlined an audacious strategy. He
would launch a lightning quick raid with his
militia against Fort Granby near the Congaree
River. The element of surprise would be on his
side, he argued.

The British military had built Fort Granby on
high ground at an important trading post which
had existed since 1765. The prominent location
was near the intersection of an important wagon



trail to Augusta, Georgia and the Cherokee
Trail, which led north into Indian territory. The
Cherokee Trail eventually became known local-
ly as Old State Road.

The British military seized the trading post
because of its excellent location and vantage
point above the Congaree River, according to
Leo Redmond, director of the Cayce Historical
Museum. The trading post, and the subsequent
fort, assumed greater importance because of
being positioned next to a major river crossing
known as Friday’s Ferry, named for the original
owner Martin Fridig. The ferry likely consisted
of a flat boat capable of carrying a horse-drawn
wagon and passengers.

The village of Granby sprang up near the
ferry and the trading post, attracting settlers,
many of whom moved north from the old town
of Saxe Gotha, which was plagued by flooding
and disease. By the time of the Revolutionary
War, Granby had become an important commer-
cial crossroads and a way station for weary trav-
elers. The city of Columbia, which one day
would thrive across the river, did not yet exist.

To establish Fort Granby, the British built a
palisade fence around several buildings, includ-
ing the large two-story structure built as a trad-
ing post by James Chesnut and Joseph Kershaw
which became fort headquarters. (Today, the
city of Cayce celebrates early history at the
Cayce Historical Museum, an exact replica of
the original 17-room building.)

At Fort Granby, troops kept constant watch,
patrolling ramparts behind the stockade fence.
Altogether some 300 British troops and loyalist
militia were stationed at the fort with weaponry
that included at least two cannons, making this
a formidable outpost. To further protect the fort,
soldiers dug deep dry moats outside the palisade
fence.

Sumter thought he could capture the fort
quickly, then move south to attack other British
outposts. Greene did not think much of Sumter’s
plans and said so, according to historian Robert

Bass. But Sumter was undeterred and called out
his militia anyway. On February 16, 1781, he set
out with 280 armed men on a long ride south to
Fort Granby. Allowing themselves little time to
rest, the militia rode hard, covering some 90
miles. At about four in the morning on February
18, Sumter’s men reached the Congaree River.
Just before dawn, they forded the river and
attacked Fort Granby in a frontal assault. But
instead of catching the British and loyalists off
guard, they came under heavy fire, forcing
Sumter’s men to retreat. Soldiers inside the fort,
commanded by Major Andrew Maxwell, had
been tipped off by a spy about Sumter’s inten-
tions. They had securely boarded the gates and
were armed and alert when the militia assaulted.

Sumter regrouped his men and resumed the
attack, but this time using cover. The militia
shielded themselves behind large rolls of dried
tobacco leaves which they pushed in front of
them as they advanced. When they were within
range of the fort, they hastily built additional
barriers by piling logs atop each other. Behind
these shields the militia kept up steady gunfire
at the fort, but the soldiers inside showed no
signs of yielding control.

§§8§

THE FIRST SIEGE

The militia settled into a siege, intending to
outlast the British. Sumter maintained patrols
along Old State Road and placed guards to con-
trol access to Friday’s Ferry, the main route
across the river. His militia also kept an eye on
the Congaree River to insure that no British sup-
plies came anywhere near Fort Granby.

The siege tactics might have worked if they
could have been kept in force long enough, but
Sumter had little time. He was deep in enemy
territory in an area where much of the popula-
tion supported the British. Hostile militias and
British armies were nearby, already on the move
to relieve the beleaguered troops of Fort Granby.
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With pressures building on them to succeed,
Sumter and his men built a tower from wooden
fence rails where sharpshooters could position
themselves to shoot down into Fort Granby, the
first time such a strategy was used in South
Carolina. Still, the British refused to surrender.
Sumter’s militia was beginning to run short of
ammunition.

Sumter’s plans seemed to be falling apart as
an army of Irish soldiers commanded by
Lieutenant Colonel Welbore Ellis Doyle swept
toward the outpost. On their march, the army
sealed off all major passageways across the
Congaree and the Broad Rivers because they
expected Sumter to flee north in that direction
toward his usual hiding places. With the trap set,
the Irish troops closed in.

Sumter, however, slipped out of the tighten-
ing noose by doing the unexpected — he broke
off the siege of Fort Granby and headed south.
He and his militia galloped down Old State
Road, passing through an area which will be
included in the proposed Archeological Park.
The rebels kept on going, heading deeper into
territory thought to be under British control.

The militia rode thirty-five miles on the
morning of February 21, 1781, reaching the
vicinity where the Congaree and Wateree Rivers
meet. Sumter then boldly attacked another fort,
a stockade built around a house at Belleville
Plantation.

§88

SUMTER ESCAPES

Again, Sumter’s men sealed off access to the
fort and captured all boats on the nearby
Congaree River. Through much of the rest of the
afternoon Sumter’s militia exchanged scattered
gunfire with troops inside the fort. Then the
militia charged the stockade. Sumter’s men
scaled the walls and reached the ramparts, but
were thrown back by determined defenders.
Sumter ordered his troops to sling burning
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wood over the stockade and onto the house, but
every time the flames ignited the structure,
British soldiers doused them with water. Thick
smoke curled across the fort walls, but the
house remained intact and the garrison refused
to surrender.

Sumter left part of his militia to maintain the
siege, then pulled back the core of his force. A
British supply train consisting of twenty wagons
and fifty British guards rumbled toward them.
Part of Sumter’s militia attacked. The British
soldiers put up a spirited defense, getting off
seven rounds of musket fire, according to histo-
rian Robert Bass. The battle seemed to be at a
standstill when additional rebel militia charged
on horseback.

Seeing they were about to be overwhelmed,
the British raised a white flag, but the rebel
militia ignored the sign of surrender. Galloping
directly toward the now helpless British, the
rebels fired, killing seven British soldiers and
wounding seven more. The incident was anoth-
er bitter episode in a war during which both
sides were angrily accusing the other of brutali-
ty and ignoring the rules of combat.

Soon after, Sumter returned with his entire
force to try to subdue the fort at Belleville
Plantation, but another British army was bear-
ing down on him. The 64th Regiment, consist-
ing of veteran infantry, moved rapidly south
from Camden, accompanied by dragoons on
horseback and at least one mobile cannon. This
dangerous British force suddenly appeared late
one afternoon within sight of the Belleville fort.
The defenders inside the bastion began celebrat-
ing — jumping, shouting, singing, and firing
their weapons into the air.

Despite the jubilation of their foes, Sumter’s
militia did not panic. He turned his men to face
this new threat and arranged them into tight bat-
tle formations. The British commander, decid-
ing he was not ready for combat, ordered a
retreat. His force backed up about four miles.

Sumter’s bold gambit had bought his troops



some time, but he knew the militia was in an
untenable position. Once again, his troops had
to flee, and once more Sumter headed south.
There were now two separate regiments of
British troops closing in on the rebels There
were also Hessians, hired German soldiers, and
a number of armed loyalists in hot pursuit. As
Sumter’s men rushed south, they moved farther
and father away from their usual hiding places
near North Carolina. Ahead lay the road to
Charleston, which was about sixty miles away.
The city was a British stronghold, bristling with
troops.

Sumter had to change directions. He could
try to swing right and attempt to sweep far to the
west around the major British outpost at Ninety
Six. Or he could turn to the east and attempt to
cross the Santee River, which was at or near
flood stage. Sumter chose the latter course,
choosing to face the rampaging river. South of
the town of Eutaw Springs, he brought his
troops to a halt on a high bluff overlooking the
surging brown waters. His soldiers began scour-
ing the banks, looking for some way to get
across. They knew they had little time before the
British closed in on them.

Some solders discovered a cypress-wood
canoe that was sturdy enough, but quite small.
Only four men could fit in the vessel at a time,
with three soldiers making the crossing and a
fourth to paddle the boat back, according to his-
torian Robert Bass.

§88

PERILOUS CROSSINGS
Sumter ordered his men to start fording the
river. The small craft bobbed and dipped in the
swift currents and seemed to take forever get-

ting to the other side. The men’s horses swam
near the craft, straining against the current. A
round trip required a half hour, an agonizingly
slow passage for each group of soldiers. By
nightfall, at least half of Sumter’s militia still
had not made the crossing. These soldiers were
now especially vulnerable if the British
attacked. Dawn arrived, however, with still no
sign of the British army. The militia continued
the feverish crossings. Finally, everyone was
safely across the water. Sumter staged another
quick attack on a British fort, then made his
way to the house where his invalid wife and
teenage son were staying. Sumter quickly
explained that they needed to ride with him to
flee the danger.

Soldiers strapped a mattress across a horse
to serve as a soft saddle for Mary Sumter and a
black slave rode behind her to help keep her on
the horse. The militia rode hard across the pine
tree barrens in central South Carolina, with the
British army scouring the countryside searching
for them.

Now down to 200 soldiers, because of battle
losses and desertions, the militia rode all day,
covering some forty miles. Sumter held the
reins of his horse in one hand and leaned back
with his painfully stiff right hand to hold the
reins of his wife’s horse.

Finally, the militia reached the safe haven of
the wilderness they knew so well in the northern
part of the state, but not before charging loyalist
militia and driving them into a swamp.

The first phase of the struggle for forts in
the central part of the colony was ending. After
three weeks of campaigning, Sumter had failed
to dislodge the British and their sympathizers
from Fort Granby, or from any other stockades.
But Sumter had survived and would try again.

§88
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they had experienced from their foes. As Corn-
wallis later wrote, “I never saw such fighting
since God made me.”

Nearly one-fourth of Cornwallis’s soldiers,
more than 500 men, were killed or wounded in
the battle. While such a loss would be consider-
able for any army, the number was especially
significant for the British, because replacements
would have to sail from England in the long
voyage across the Atlantic Ocean. Cornwallis
now could no longer safely pursue Greene’s
Continentals without risking serious defeat. He
ordered his troops to march toward the coast and
Wilmington, North Carolina, a secure British
stronghold where they could obtain fresh sup-
plies, treat their wounds and reassess strategy.

The British departure left Greene, who suf-
fered about half the casualties as the British, in
control of central North Carolina. But Greene
also faced a hard decision about where to find
food for his men. The two armies had stripped
bare North Carolina’s pine-studded landscape of
any provisions, with hungry troops butchering
farmers’ livestock and raiding their crops.

§8§

A MESSAGE ARRIVES

A messenger galloped into Greene’s camp.
The rider, Captain Wade Hampton (whose grand-
son would distinguish himself in the Civil War as
one of Robert E. Lee’s top Confederate lieuten-
ants), had traveled far from the south, dispatched
by General Thomas Sumter. Sumter, still hobbled
by a wounded shoulder and right hand, was
unable to write lengthy accounts about his plans
or his recent campaign, so he sent Hampton to
speak for him.

Sumter had managed to write a short intro-
ductory note to Greene, in which he described
Hampton. The captain, he wrote, was “a valuable
and intelligent officer...on whose information you
may rely — and to whom you may communicate

with safety. He is fully acquainted with my late
operations and partly with my designs in [the]
future.”

While there is no detailed account of what
Hampton verbally reported to Greene, he no
doubt recounted Sumter’s attacks on Fort Granby
and other British bastions, which his force had
almost toppled. Hampton must have also stressed
that the rebels could have captured all the forts,
if only they had just one cannon, because soon
after, Greene wrote Sumter with a pledge that he
would send a field piece as soon as possible.

Greene also altered his own strategy. Once
opposed to the idea, he now encouraged the
militia to attack Fort Granby and other small
forts. Greene further decided, according to
historian Walter Edgar, to abandon North Caroli-
na altogether. In a letter to General George
Washington, Greene wrote that he was “deter-
mined to carry the war immediately into South
Carolina.”

Greene planned to use his Continentals to
attack the British bastions at Camden and Ninety
Six, while Sumter’s militia would simultaneously
move south along the Congaree River, attacking
various British forts. Meanwhile, Francis Marion,
known as the “Swamp Fox,” would lead his
militia against British forts further south along the
Santee River and then move north.

Marion, as his nickname suggests, was al-
ready something of a legend among the rebel
forces. Standing less than five-feet tall, he was
physically unimposing, yet commanded attention
with his determination, toughness, and resource-
fulness. He slept on the ground with his men and
shared the same meager food, often nothing more
than a few sweet potatoes. When no fresh water
was available, he drank from the fetid swamp,
mixing in vinegar to create a toxic-tasting liquid
that he hoped would ward off any diseases lurk-
ing in the water.

Marion had spent many hours as a child
exploring the swamps near Georgetown on the

£






some of his own soldiers to other units, and,
according to historian Robert Bass, that is exactly
what happened.

Tension had already been mounting between
Marion and Sumter, who was technically Mari-
on’s superior, because Marion refused to rush to
Sumter’s aid when summoned. The “Swamp
Fox,” like Sumter, highly prized his independ-
ence.

Despite Marion’s opposition, Sumter carried
through with his plan and distributed slaves to
recruit soldiers, whom he planned to use in a
second assault on Fort Granby. About the same
time, Nathanael Greene decided to bolster Mari-
on’s small force for attacks further south along
the Santee River. Greene had two key cavalry
officers, William Washington, George Washing-
ton’s cousin, and Henry Lee, also known as
“Light Horse Harry” Lee. Both Virginians had
served George Washington as trusted officers in
some of the northern campaigns against the
British.

Greene decided to dispatch Lee and his horse-
mounted regular troops to join the “Swamp
Fox’s” guerrillas. Lee had already gained renown
for his hit-and-run attacks. Later, after the war, he
fathered Robert E. Lee, commander of Confeder-
ate forces during the Civil War.

With some 400 troops, Marion and Lee
besieged Fort Watson near the Santee River on
April 15. The siege went poorly, with small pox
spreading quickly in the squalid rebel camps.
Even among those who escaped the disease, the
idle hours waiting for the British to surrender
took a toll. Marion himself reportedly sank into a
deep depression which Lee tried to lift.

The rebels’ fortunes brightened on the night
of April 22, 1781, when, directed by Major
Hezekiah Manham, they finished building a tower
of pine logs, similar to the structure Sumter had
used to attack Fort Granby. Sharp shooters then
fired down from the tower into the fort at dawn,
creating havoc among the British inside. Lieuten-

ant James McKay surrendered the post within
hours.

Two days later, on April 25, a major battle
erupted between Greene’s Continental Army and
the largest British force in northern South Caroli-
na consisting of some 900 soldiers commanded
by Lord Francis Rawdon. Rawdon, an Irish lord,
marched his troops out of their fortress at Cam-
den and surprised Greene’s soldiers camped
nearby in pine trees on Hobkirk’s Hill. Many of
the rebel troops were having breakfast or carrying
out routine chores at the time.

§8§

VICTORY AT A HIGH PRICE

When the British began firing, the rebels
rushed for their weapons, but showed little panic.
Greene and his lieutenants calmly organized their
troops into a stout defensive line, then ordered
the artillery to open fire. British soldiers tried to
storm the artillery, according to historian Bass,
but were repelled.

Greene, observing that the British lines were
fairly compact, spread out his own forces in
hopes of attacking the British from the front and
on both sides. Lord Rawdon countered the
American moves by pulling in reserves and ex-
panding his own lines to prevent them from being
outflanked.

While advancing and enduring heavy fire,
some troops at the center of the American forces
began faltering. Colonel John Gunby ordered his
Maryland troops to back up so they could
reorganize. This movement, along with mounting
casualties, unnerved more rebel soldiers. As panic
spread, the British pushed through the hole
opening up in the American lines and stormed to
the top of the ridge. The entire rebel army was
close to buckling, but Greene and his officers
managed to restore some order and prevent a
rout.

The British had once more captured a dis-

79






ons “if we can hold our ground a little longer.”
Nonetheless, despite his confidence, how much
longer Sumter could continue the attacks was in
question.

Greene was growing increasingly concerned
because spies reported that Cornwallis’s army
was leaving Wilmington, North Carolina. If
Cornwallis headed into South Carolina and linked
up with other British forces, Greene’s soldiers
would probably have to flee or risk being over-
whelmed by them. Greene again summoned
Sumter’s militia to join his regulars, but once
more Sumter failed to obey. Instead of moving his
soldiers toward Greene, Sumter crossed the
Congaree River and took command of the forces
tightening their grip on Fort Congaree. J u st
when the battle of wills was escalating again
between Greene and Sumter, the crisis passed.
New scouting reports reached Greene that Corn-
wallis had turned north and was heading into
Virginia. Greene again backed away from de-
manding that Sumter commingle the militia with
the regulars. “Be in readiness to join us if neces-
sity should require it,” Greene wrote Sumter, “but
you may depend upon not being called from the
Congaree [and Fort Granby]| but from the most
pressing necessity....for I am as fully impressed
with the advantages of your continuing there as
you can be.”

For his part, Sumter repeated his urging for
Greene to supply him with a cannon to help
topple Fort Granby. “I will endeavor to employ it
[the cannon] to the best advantage,” Sumter
promised.

Meanwhile, the 400 troops commanded by
“Light Horse Harry” Lee and Francis Marion, the
“Swamp Fox,” advanced toward Fort Granby
from the south, stopping first at Fort Motte, near
the juncture of the Congaree and Wateree Rivers.
This bastion, erected around a colonial mansion,
was fortified with a stockade fence and a moat.
The fort served as a stopping off point for wagon
trains laden with supplies that were traveling

north from Charleston toward Fort Granby and
other British outposts.

The assault on Fort Motte had settled into a
monotonous siege when suddenly on the night of
May 11 the defenders inside the fort began shout-
ing and celebrating. The faint flickering of
campfires in the distance ignited their glee,
because they knew this signified that a major
British army was approaching.

The rebel commanders also saw the campfires
and decided to intensify their efforts to take the
fort. The next morning, Lee went to see Rebecca
Motte, the owner of the plantation which had
been transformed into the fort. Since forced from
her home, she had been living in a frontier cabin.
Lee asked her permission to burn her mansion.
Apparently, without hesitation, Mrs. Motte
answered defiantly: “If it were a palace, it should
20.” She even handed Lee a bow along with some
arrows, the prized gifts from a sea captain, ac-
cording to historian Robert Bass. “This will serve
your purpose,” Motte reportedly told Lee.

Soon after, rebel soldiers began flinging
burning wood inside the fort and firing flaming
arrows from bows, including the one supplied by
Mrs. Motte. Other rebel soldiers used a giant
slingshot to loft a burning ball of tar and sulphur
onto the mansion roof.

§88

CONFIDENCE GROWS

Beneath this rain of fire, pandemonium erupt-
ed inside the fort. Defenders dashed about,
throwing water on the flames. When soldiers
crawled out on the roof to try to snuff out the
fires, rebel sharp shooters drove them back. Soon
the entire house was engulfed in flames. When the
heat became unbearable and rebels kept firing into
the fort, the British began throwing down their
weapons. In a subsequent report about the loss of
Fort Motte, a British general wrote, “It was a
simple redoubt....Lieutenant [Charles] McPherson
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had maintained it gallantly till the house in the
center of it was set in flames by fire arrows, which
obliged his men to throw themselves into the
ditch, and surrender at discretion.”

Further north near the Congaree River, Sumt-
er’s 500 soldiers had Fort Granby cut off from
resupply, and more militia were reporting for
service daily. Sumter, expecting soon to have 800
or possibly 1,000 men under his command, had
every reason to be confident that they would
force the fort to fall. However, he was also in-
creasingly pained by his battle wounds, which
were aggravated by the onset of summer. He
wrote to Greene, “My hand is still very stiff....My
shoulder very uneasie [sic], and I fear as the
weather grows warmer, [I] shall be obliged to
retire [from the war].”

Greene dispatched a cannon to Sumter, no
doubt thinking the weapon would deliver the
punishing blows Sumter needed finally to conquer
Fort Granby. But Sumter, now so close to vic-
tory, suddenly did the inexplicable. He rode away
from Fort Granby, accompanied by a large body
of his troops, taking the cannon as well.

Sumter left behind a contingent of militia
commanded by a top lieutenant, Colonel Thomas
Taylor, to continue besieging the fort. Sumter and
his other soldiers galloped south down Old State
Road through the area of the proposed Archeo-
logical Park, then turned toward the town of
Orangeburg, a hotbed of Loyalist support. Loyal-
ist troops were stationed in fortifications centered
around the town’s brick courthouse and jail, but
a few well-placed shots from Sumter’s new
cannon caused the garrison to surrender.

“I have the pleasure to inform you that at 7
this morning it [Orangeburg] was surrendered to
the troops under my command,” Sumter wrote
Greene on May 11, 1781. The triumph, however,
cost Sumter a much bigger prize, one he had long
coveted, Fort Granby. He lost the chance to
capture the fort because, instead of returning
immediately to resume the attack, Sumter instead
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sent his troops raiding the nearby countryside to
root out Loyalists and to ransack their properties.
Many Loyalists fled into nearby swamps, remain-
ing hidden for at least five days, according to
Bass.

Sumter, perhaps fearing his abandonment of
the Fort Granby siege might lead to another rebel
force stepping in and taking the victory, wrote
Green, “No assistance will be wanted there [at
Fort Granby] to keep them [the defenders] close
until I return with the troops and the field piece.”

§88

LEE TAKES CONTROL

Greene, however, possibly again exasperated
with Sumter, ordered “Light Horse Harry™ Lee to
ride with his regular troops to Fort Granby,
where, on May 13, Lee took command of the
siege. Militia officers were incensed at being
shunted aside and quickly sent a messenger down
Old State Road toward Orangeburg to inform
Sumter of Lee’s arrival.

Sumter appealed to Greene to call off Lee’s
regular troops and to let his militia finish captur-
ing the fort. “Not withstanding I have greatest
respect for Colonel Lee, yet I could wish he had
not gone to that place [Fort Granby] as it is a
circumstance I never thought of. His cavalry can
be of no service there....” Sumter added, “I have
been at great pains to reduce the [Fort Granby]
post, I have it in my power to do it, and I think it
for the good of the public to do it without regular
[troops].”

Greene would not relent and neither did Lee,
who had bigger concerns than the bruised feelings
of the militia. Spies reported that Lord Rawdon
and a powerful British army were advancing
toward Fort Granby. Lee had little time left if he
was going to capture the fort. He initiated negoti-
ations with the fort commander, Andrew Max-
well, offering generous terms. Maxwell agreed to
surrender with the promise that his troops could















militia under his immediate command, according
to historian Bass.

With his forces bolstered, Greene advanced
toward Orangeburg where Rawdon and the
British army were now stationed. On the morning
of July 12, Greene, accompanied by Sumter,
Marion, and Lee, looked down on the British
encampment in Orangeburg.

Because of the strength of the British posi-
tion, Greene opted not to storm the enemy.
Instead, the Continental Army and militia spent
the day firing at the British, defiantly proving that
with the fall of Fort Granby the revolutionaries
now controlled much of the northern half of the
colony.

That summer the main opposing armies spent
time recuperating, but momentum was increas-
ingly flowing with the revolutionaries. On Sep-
tember 5, 1781, Greene’s army, after dominating
early, was ultimately driven from the battlefield at
Eutaw Springs. The British, however, according
to historian Walter Edgar, again suffered irre-
placeable losses.

On October 19, 1781, Cornwallis surrendered
at Yorktown, Virginia to George Washington.
The following December 14, 1782, the British
military, along with 4,000 Loyalists and 5,000
slaves, evacuated Charleston, leaving all of South
Carolina free of British rule.

§§8

MUCH TO LEARN

Researchers have uncovered little about the
Revolutionary War through excavations so far in
the proposed Archeological Park. Nonetheless,
with all the troop movements through the area,
there is surely much to be discovered. “Light
Horse Harry” Lee and William Washington rode
with their cavalries through the area pursuing the
British army. They were aided by the “Swamp
Fox,” Francis Marion, and his militia. Archeolo-
gists may be able to uncover evidence of the

skirmishing that occurred as the British retreated
toward Orangeburg.

Thomas Sumter, the “Gamecock,” traveled
Old State Road with his militia several times.
Archeologists might find evidence of Sumter’s
camps or other evidence that they can tie to the
rebel militia. There may also be remnants of
campsites used by the British or their Loyalist
allies. By carefully excavating different types of
sites, archeologists may be able to piece together
a great deal about the habits and strategies of the
combatants during a crucial stage of the Revolu-
tionary War.

Another topic for future research, according
to archeologist Dan Elliott, concerns the Loyal-
ists. Residents in this part of the colony (including
the proposed Archeological Park) perhaps
overwhelmingly supported the British, Elliott
points out. “Were they Germans from Saxe
Gotha? Their story should not be ignored. In-
deed, perhaps it should be a focal point.” Re-
searchers will delve into the Loyalists’ experi-
ences and motivations.

After the Revolutionary War, planters turned
much of the Archeological Park area into cotton
fields. Creation of the park will provide scientists
with opportunities to flush out details about the
plantation economy and its impact on white
residents and the black slaves who labored in the
fields. Researchers will trace what happened to
individuals through census records, agricultural
reports, probate wills and land titles to determine
family histories, as well as the tragedies and
triumphs of everyday existence.

Preliminary research concerning the planta-
tion owned by Governor Charles Pinckney, for
example, reveals his two-story house had a small
porch in front with columns (a portico). The
structure sat on high ground near Congaree
Creek and was surrounded by tall poplar trees.

Pinckney maintained a small, brick office
nearby. This building had a dome on top, a cu-
pola. Despite having contributed many ideas
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which were incorporated in the U. S. Constitu-
tion and having held numerous high offices,
Pinckney was apparently deeply in debt when he
died in 1824. His plantation, named Tacitus to
honor a Roman historian, was near bankruptcy at
the time.

§§8

A DARING GIRL

As Nathanael Greene’s Continental troops
pursued the British commanded by Lord Francis
Rawdon in the summer of 1781, both armies were
exhausted. The British forces, which included
many soldiers from Ireland, were debilitated by
the incessant heat and discouraged by their inabil-
ity to catch Greene’s Continentals. For their part,
Greene’s troops were also disheartened because
the long siege at the town of Ninety Six had failed
to dislodge the Loyalist defenders. Greene real-
ized that he would have to rally his forces to
attack the British to keep them from re-establish-
ing Fort Granby near the Congaree River.

Greene'’s forces were too weak to face the
British without help from large numbers of militia,
who had done much of the fighting in South
Carolina. The key to bringing about the needed
consolidation of the rebel forces was for Greene
to get word to Thomas Sumter, the militia leader
commanding the most troops.

Sumter was about one hundred miles away
near the Wateree River, according to historian
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John A. Chapman. Greene needed to find a
courier willing to make the long journey and pass
through British lines.

Emily Geiger, just eighteen years old, volun-
teered for the dangerous task. She apparently
rode south, planning to ford the Congaree River
at or near Friday’s Ferry, but was stopped by
suspicious British troops on July 3, 1871. They
took Geiger to what remained of Fort Granby,
according to information supplied by the Cayce
Historical Museum, and there she was interro-
gated by Lord Rawdon himself. The young girl
did her best to appear innocent, but Rawdon was
not convinced and locked her in a room until she
could be searched. Either before she was cap-
tured or while she waited to be searched (sources
differ on the details), Geiger memorized Greene’s
message. She then ripped the incriminating paper
into small shreds and swallowed the pieces.

When a woman loyal to the British arrived to
search Geiger, she found the teenager was con-
cealing nothing treasonous and Rawdon finally
released her.

A British soldier escorted the girl to a friend’s
house a few miles away where Geiger ate and
rested before setting out again on horseback, this
time with a guide sympathetic to the revolution.
She rode all night and much of the next day,
eventually reaching Sumter to deliver Greene’s
message about a suggested meeting. Sumter and
Greene did eventually join forces, and pursued
the British to Orangeburg.


















Wheeler’s Cavalry Corps, which had also
reached South Carolina, was made up of more
than 4,000 horsemen who were just as tough and
wily as Butler’s men, but not as well known
because they were not associated with Lee. They
had spent much of the war in the central Confed-
eracy under the command of Major General
Joseph Wheeler from Augusta, Georgia. Nick-
named both “Little Joe,” because he was only five
feet, five inches tall, and “Fighting Joe,” because
of his fearlessness, Wheeler had been wounded
three times. He had fought in many engagements
and was considered especially adroit at garnering
accurate intelligence about the enemy.

As the threat to South Carolina mounted,
Butler’s and Wheeler’s cavalry were thrown
together and forced to cooperate. They were not
yet unified under a single command, which hap-
pened later, but both units were represented at the
Battle of Congaree Creek, the key confrontation
on the outskirts of Columbia. The unfamiliarity of
these two contingents with each other perhaps
contributed to missed communications during the
battle.

Wheeler’s cavalry had become the most
effective force opposing Sherman after he con-
quered Atlanta. As Sherman’s soldiers drove on
toward Savannah, Wheeler’s troopers harried
them with guerilla tactics, picking off Union
stragglers and attacking foraging parties sent to
strip farms and plantations of food and supplies.
Wheeler’s cavalry struck suddenly, then fled
before the Union commanders could summon
reinforcements.

Wheeler’s men learned to live off the land,
accepting food from sympathizers, as well as
scavenging abandoned plantations and farms and
plundering Union supply wagons. In fact, the
cavalry had been cut off for so long from Confed-
erate Army resupply that many of them no longer
wore uniforms. Some were in rags, too embar-
rassed to ride into towns because of their appear-
ance, while others wore navy blue overcoats
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stolen from Union troops. Wheeler’s soldiers
continued to fight ferociously, even though,
according to historian Elmore, they had not been
paid since mid-1864.

§§8§

WHEELER’S TACTICS

Wheeler’s Southern troopers grew accus-
tomed to functioning without orders from distant
commanders, making them virtually independent
operators. They carried a wide assortment of
rifles and pistols, many of them captured from
Union soldiers, from whom they also took bullets.
Wheeler’s command also included a number of
Texans who preferred carrying shotguns. These
firearms were ineffectual at a distance but at close
range were terrifying and deadly. Besides the
Texans, Wheeler’s force consisted of men from
Tennessee, Kentucky, Georgia, Alabama, and
Arkansas.

Some of Wheeler’s forces, disguised in Union
uniforms, became adept at slipping into enemy
camps without being detected. More than once,
these Confederates walked out of enemy
encampments leading fresh horses, displaying a
characteristic recklessness that sometimes re-
sulted in their capture. Some Southern newspa-
pers and Confederate officials maligned Wheeler’s
troopers as undisciplined, criticisms which may
have been based primarily on the cavalry’s often
disheveled appearance and unorthodox tactics.

Sherman’s troops began moving into South
Carolina from Savannah in early January 1865.
Some of the Union soldiers traveled by boat to
Beaufort, South Carolina, chosen as a staging
ground.

From there, the troops would launch a feint
toward Charleston to mislead the Confederates
about their true target: Columbia. Other Union
forces moved into South Carolina on foot from
north of Savannah, crossing the Savannah River
at Sisters Ferry on a pontoon bridge.



These early Union movements toward South
Carolina were not trouble free. Soldiers, among
other challenges, had to disassemble wagons to fit
aboard the boats bound for Beaufort, vessels
which were at times also dangerously crammed
with troops and equipment. Cold rains were
frequent and heavier than usual for midwinter,
with blinding downpours forcing the pontoon-
bridge crossings to halt. This left units separated
and bogged down on both sides of the Savannah
River. It rained 28 of the first 45 days of 1865,
according to historian Elmore.

Even so, by February 1, 1865 Sherman’s
powerful juggernaut was moving north. To
further confuse his opponents and to speed the
advance, the general divided his army into two
wings, which at times traveled along different
routes. He also sent cavalry racing toward Aiken,
South Carolina, to create havoc by destroying
Southern supplies and railroad tracks. Sherman
hoped his cavalry would further confuse the
Confederates about his ultimate destination, but
the tactic backfired when Wheeler’s cavalry
ambushed the Union horsemen. The resulting gun
battle turned into a rout, with the Union cavalry
hastily retreating five miles before escaping.

The real threat to South Carolina was the
Union infantry, which aimed straight at Columbia,
although their journey was also far from easy.
Rain soaked the soldiers and turned the dirt roads
into slippery mud. Creeks, rivers, and swamps
rose, with some becoming treacherous to cross.
The Confederates further hampered their foes’
progress by felling trees across the roads, often
near water crossings, and burning bridges. Small
clusters of Confederate cavalry would then attack
as the Union troops halted at these obstacles.

These skirmishes, however, were only tempo-
rary setbacks for the Union forces and usually
ended as quickly as they began, when the Confed-

§§§

erates galloped away and disappeared into the
countryside.

Confederate troops did mount a major battle
at Rivers Bridge on the Salkahatchie River in the
southwestern part of South Carolina, but even
this did not seriously impede the Union advance.

As Sherman’s soldiers closed in on Columbia,
anxiety increased in the capital, where many
women and children seeking protection from the
war had congregated. The city’s prewar popula-
tion of 4,000 had mushroomed to about 20,000,
with refugees crammed into every available living
space. Women, at the time, outnumbered men 40
to one in Columbia, according to historian El-
more.

Although Sherman’s soldiers were still several
days away from the city, his lead troops, Union
General John Logan’s XV Corps, were on a
direct path toward Congaree Creek. Logan’s First
Division of some 5,000 soldiers spent several
days near the small town of Bamberg, ripping up
tracks of the strategically important Augusta to
Charleston railroad. They burned the wooden ties
in bonfires and melted and bent the metal rails so
that the enemy could not easily reassemble the
track. Twisting track rails was such a common
Union practice that the mangled results were
called “Sherman’s neckties.”

By February 11, 1865, the First Division
crossed the South Edisto River. At this point
“...the movement on Columbia was fairly inaugu-
rated,” wrote the Union commander Logan. On
February 12, Governor Magrath ordered all state
documents in Columbia to be packed and re-
moved from the city for safekeeping.

Word of this action further fueled anxieties,
with rumors abounding that Sherman was already
just outside the city. One resident, Harriet Mid-
dleton, wrote, “There was wild hurrying to and
fro, pale agitated faces, intolerable anxiety .... "~

95












and spread out on both sides, forming an arc,
according to archeologist Wayne Roberts. The
military term for such an obstacle is tete-de-pont,
a French phrase meaning at the head of the point
or, more loosely, the tip of the spear.

The Confederates probably positioned this
long barricade so that it ended on both sides of
the road near forests that hugged Congaree
Creek. They had also cleared trees from areas
near the road, leaving only stumps, so they would
have a clear view from behind the barricade of the
road and open fields on either side.

They also placed two cannons behind the
barricade near the road. Stationed behind this
forward barricade was a division of Wheeler’s
cavalry, consisting of more than one thousand
troops from Kentucky and Tennessee. These men
expected to bear the initial brunt of the Union
onslaught, so they were especially on guard.

As the Confederates faced the road, to the
right of the barricade, the right flank, there was
additional protection from a heavily wooded
swamp, which merged into Congaree Creek and
one of its tributaries.

As the Union Army edged closer, some of the
Confederate cavalrymen, who continued to stage
quick assaults, galloped back to Congaree Creek.
Riding through small gaps in the barricade, they
dismounted and handed their reins to handlers,
who led the horses a short distance to the rear.
The cavalrymen then hurried to positions behind
the barricade, joining their fellow troopers who
were preparing to fight on foot. The horses, damp
with sweat, remained saddled, ready for the
soldiers to mount in a hasty retreat over the
bridge to the earthworks on the other side. Other
cavalrymen had no horses behind the forward
barricade. When the time came to flee, they
would have to escape on foot over makeshift
bridges they had built over the fast-moving creek.

Colonel George Dibrell commanded the
troops stationed behind the forward barricade. A
successful Tennessee farmer and merchant before

the war, Dibrell was one of the most trusted
officers in Wheeler’s cavalry, but he was unaccus-
tomed to reporting to Butler, his new superior at
Congaree Creek. With the Union Army fast ap-
proaching, the two had little time to become
acquainted.

Butler met with Dibrell sometime early in the
morning behind the forward barricade. Butler
reported that he had examined the defenses on
both sides of the creek and was well satisfied. The
Confederates, he predicted, could hold their
position no matter how many Union soldiers
attacked. If Sherman’s men tried to circumvent the
defenses, Butler wanted there to be reserves
behind the creek ready to respond to counter any
such Union move. Butler’s comments about the
fortifications were based upon his experience in
Virginia where he had participated in battles from
behind extensive barricades at Petersburg. “Peters-
burg was the pinnacle of this sort of warfare in the
19" century (the 1800's),”according to historian
Joe Long.

For his part, Dibrell worried that the bridge
behind his troops would not catch fire as intended
when they were forced to retreat over the creek.
Rain continued falling and Dibrell noted that the
wooden structure was thoroughly soaked. Another
worry was the trampling by horses and soldiers
moving back and forth across the bridge, which
had caused the surface to become slippery and
coated with mud.

Dibrell ordered soldiers to stack even more
timber on the bridge. He hoped there would be
enough fuel to ignite a bonfire that would thor-
oughly consume the structure. But if the fire failed,
Dibrell commanded a group of cavalrymen to be
ready to sever the bridge from its moorings. Once
all Confederates were safely across, these cavalry-
men would have little time to topple the bridge
into the creek.

The fog began to lift by about nine that morn-
ing, although the rain continued. Dibrell’s cavalry-
men were able to spot the Union soldiers advanc-
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them. But then Confederate cannons unleashed a
barrage on the bridge approach, ripping craters
out of the earth and spewing curtains of hot
shrapnel. These artillery blasts sent the Union
soldiers racing for cover. For precious moments,
the Confederates kept the Union troops away

from the bridge while the fire continued to burn.

Some distance away, however, on both sides
of the bridge, Union troops were making head-
way. Some of Catterson’s Second Brigade sol-
diers had moved far enough downstream to reach
an area where Confederate forces on the other
side were considerably thinned. Safe from enemy
fire, the Union Second Brigade soldiers began
chopping down trees. The thud of their axes was
muffled by the noise of battle. Soon, one of the
trees shuddered then fell, its crown crashing onto
the other side of the creek. A second tree fell,
then another. The Second Brigade now had
makeshift bridges to pursue the Confederates.
Catterson sent a courier to his superior, Woods,
seeking permission to begin crossing Congaree
Creek.

About the same time, far upstream, Union
Third Brigade troops made similar progress
despite having to navigate the swamp and ford a
tributary of Congaree Creek. lowa troops, reach-
ing an area where there were no more Confeder-
ate trenches on the other side of Congaree Creek,
rushed across on bridges they hastily made from
trees. They then charged the Confederates in their
ditches from the side. With no barricades to
defend against this flank attack, the Confederates
began fleeing.

All along the creek, Confederates pulled out
of the earthworks. Some panicked and ran, but
many backed away deliberately, firing their rifles
and preventing the retreat from becoming a rout.
In most cases, the infantry left first, while cavalry-
men mounted their horses and continued to shoot,
forming a protective shield for the infantry and
artillery men as they made their escape.

The fire on the bridge was dying. Flames

flared here and there, but the structure was too
wet to be consumed. Dibrell considered ordering
his men to cut the bridge down, but time had run
out. Union cannons now plastered the Confederate
side of the creek, making any attempt to reach the
bridge almost surely suicidal. Dibrell decided the
effort would cost too many lives and ordered his
cavalrymen to ride away.

Within minutes, Union troops with the Second
Brigade charged the bridge. They quickly scattered
the burning timbers and snuffed out the remaining
flames. More Union soldiers then streamed across
the blackened structure to the vacated earthworks.
Wisconsin troops led mules pulling a cannon
across the bridge. The Battle of Congaree Creek
was over.

§§8

BATTLE QUESTIONS

The preceding account explains how the battle
may have unfolded. The description is based on
information from historians and the sometimes
contradictory versions penned by participants,
some of whom wrote about the battle years later
when their memories may have been clouded.
Historian Joe Long of the South Carolina Confed-
erate Relic Room and Museum also helped by
developing a step-by step sequence of what may
have happened by synthesizing various accounts.

So much time has passed since the battle,
however, that no retelling could capture accurately
everything that happened, and many unanswered
questions remain. The battle lasted some five or six
hours, according to Dibrell, the Confederate
commander. Dr. John Lewis, one participant,
estimated the battle began about nine in the morn-
ing and ended around 2:30 that afternoon. Another
account indicates the fighting continued until about
four in the afternoon.

Despite the fierceness and length of the battle,
there were apparently relatively few casualties.
Five or six Union soldiers were killed. Most, if not
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other delayed the Confederate retreat across
Congaree Creek and contributed to the Confeder-
ates’ failure in destroying the bridge.

In a report filed shortly after the conflict,
Dibrell seemed defensive about the issue: “Had I
been allowed to retire from the barricade [in front
of the creek] when I requested it, my intention
was to cut the bridge down. I feel that I am not
responsible for the failure to destroy the bridge
and know that the officers and men under my
command are not. They displayed great
gallantry....” Ill will persisted between members
of Butler’s and Wheeler’s cavalry long after the
war ended and resulted in conflicting written
accounts about which unit did what in the final
months of combat.

Even if the Confederates had succeeded in
destroying the bridge over Congaree Creek, their
efforts to defend the earthworks there were surely
doomed anyway. The estimated 2,500 South-
erners could not possibly have fended off the
hordes of Union troops surging toward them on
Old State Road.

There is still much to be learned about the
Battle of Congaree Creek, one of many compel-
ling reasons for preserving the battlefield. Exten-
sive remnants of the Confederate earthworks still
exist within the proposed Archeological Park.
These earthworks are important assets, especially
because so many Civil War defensive structures in
South Carolina and across the South have been
obliterated.

Confederate Major John Niernsee, architect
for South Carolina’s State House, which was
under construction at the time of the battle,
designed the earthworks at Congaree Creek.
Most of Niernsee’s records were destroyed in
fires that consumed Columbia after the battle, but
a report he filed late in the war survived and
recently turned up in a document search by Pat-
rick McCawley of the South Carolina Archives
and History Center.

Niernsee describes how Governor Andrew

Gordon Magrath ordered him to begin work on
Columbia’s defenses in late December 1864. At
that time, a Confederate Army surveying party had
already been at work for several weeks and “con-
siderable progress [had been] made in their recon-
naissance” of areas west of the Congaree River,
apparently including Congaree Creek.

Before construction began, Niernsee, who was
the state engineer, requested that the governor
help secure “engineers, assistant engineers, tools,
teams [of animals] and other implements and
materials and 2,000 Negro laborers [slaves] and
the necessary subsistence stores.” The laborers,
however, arrived slowly so that work began with
only 12 slaves.

§§8

SLAVES BUILD DEFENSES

“After a week or ten days time, hands came in
more rapidly and tools were collected and
engaged....in sufficient numbers to supply the in-
creased force™ so that three days before the battle
some 750 laborers were engaged in creating
earthworks. Niernsee thought these workers
“would have no doubt been largely augmented to
probably the original required number of 2,000....if
some further time for their arrival could have been
obtained.”

But with time running out and using “this
comparatively small force,” Niernsee managed to
establish two defensive lines west of the Congaree
River. One set of trenches, about two miles from
Columbia, stretched along Caseys Creek from its
juncture with the river. The outermost defenses,
about five miles from downtown, consisted of
more than four miles of trenches adjacent to
Congaree Creek and then continuing along Six
Mile Creek, according to Niernsee’s written
recollections.

As a part of the Congaree Creek barricades,
“there were five strong batteries [for cannon| com-
pleted,” Niernsee wrote, adding that laborers at
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of the creek. Dibrell, the Confederate com-
mander, wrote, “As soon as we were driven
across the bridge, it was set on fire. Our men
retired to the earthworks, and the enemy kept
away from the bridge until all the rails...upon it
had burned up, and until the enemy had effected
a crossing elsewhere, and the infantry supporting
our left flank had been withdrawn.”

Archeologists and historians involved in the
Archeological Park will conduct extensive re-
search to determine exactly which units partici-
pated in the battle.

Archeologists have already conducted prelimi-
nary investigations of what remains of the earth-
works and have determined that much of the
construction is well preserved. In one section, a
wide ditch extends about one hundred yards long
above the banks of Congaree Creek. This ditch is
several feet deep, according to archeologist David
Anderson, and about twenty-five feet wide.
Behind the ditch, Confederate workers piled up
enormous amounts of dirt, forming a barricade
some thirty feet wide at the base and about fifteen
feet wide at the top.

Confederate soldiers stood behind the barri-
cade during the battle, leaning their rifles across
the earthen top. Any Union troops approaching
from across the creek would have had to climb up
steep banks, drop into the ditch, then climb up
about ten feet to reach the top of the barricade, an
almost impossible task with Confederate soldiers
shooting down on them.

Other, less elaborate earthworks today stretch
out in both directions along the creek for hun-
dreds of yards. Because of thick vegetation, the
full extent of these remnants will not be disclosed
until more extensive archeological investigations
can be conducted. Mike Dawson, director of the
River Alliance, and John Jameson, National Park
Service archeologist, have already located earthen
platforms that perhaps supported Confederate
cannons. If additional archeological studies
confirm these findings, cannons will be placed at

these spots to give visitors a realistic view of how
the artillery was positioned during the battle.

Archeologists will also carefully map the
existing earthworks. After studying these maps and
historic records, they will make detailed estimates
about how far the defenses originally extended and
how many of the defenses have been lost because
of erosion, farming, and drainage ditch construc-
tion.

Relic hunters, using metal detectors and shov-
els, have already stripped the unprotected battle-
field of shells and other Civil War materials. Nev-
ertheless, if the site is shielded from further depre-
dations, archeologists will conduct excavations
that could uncover additional artifacts. In recent
years, similar studies elsewhere have disclosed a
great deal about how battles unfolded. For exam-
ple, Douglas Scott, a National Park Service arche-
ologist, traced the precise movements of troops at
the Little Big Horn Battlefield National Monument
in Montana from bullet fragments he unearthed.

Similar studies at Congaree Creek could
provide new information about the Civil War battle
and insights about how to restore sections of the
earthworks to resemble how they appeared on
February 15, 1865. Once the Archeological Park
becomes a reality, interpreters will use information
gathered by scientists to weave a compelling story.
These interpreters will walk visitors along paths
through the earthworks and explain what happened
at each stage of the battle. The earthworks could
also be used to stage battle re-enactments or other
forms of living history.

§§8

COLUMBIA BURNS
The Battle of Congaree Creek was the last
major effort to protect Columbia, which is another
persuasive reason to preserve the site. The Con-
federate defeat led directly to Columbia’s devasta-
tion, although the city was not lost immediately.
After being overwhelmed at Congaree Creek,
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Hampton, Wheeler, and Major General Mat-
thew C. Butler watched from just blocks away as
Union troops and the American flag advanced
steadily into the heart of the city. The cavalry
officers, lions of the old South, then wheeled their
horses around and rode away. Some Confeder-
ates soldiers set a railroad depot on fire as they
departed the city. This was “the last official act by
the Confederate States in Columbia,” according
to historian Elmore.

One Confederate soldier, Edward Wells, years
later wrote about the sadness troops felt “leaving
behind their near relatives, or dear friends: all
were parting from kindly acquaintances. As they
[the soldiers] had marched through the town,
many a woman'’s pale face was seen at windows
watching the retreating column, and no one with
the heart of a man could feel otherwise than
pained and humiliated at being obliged to leave
under such circumstances.”

That night, fires, stoked by gale-force winds,
transformed the city into a hellish nightmare.
Historians continue to debate whether General
Sherman purposely caused the destruction. Early
blazes likely had different sources, whether
ignited by the retreating Confederates, joyous
blacks celebrating their newfound freedom,
riotous riffraff, former prisoners of war bitter over
their treatment, or victorious Union soldiers.

Certainly, Union soldiers, emboldened by their
triumph, angered over what they considered
Southern atrocities, and many of them inebriated
by easily available alcohol, bore a large measure
of blame. Groups of victorious soldiers spiraled
out of control. Sometimes led by immediate
superiors, they rampaged through the city, ran-
sacking, stealing, burning and terrorizing, before
they were finally disciplined or simply returned to
their camps.

“First-hand accounts by former Union prison-
ers, a New York reporter and citizens™ clearly
demonstrate that Union soldiers were setting

fires, according to Frank Knapp of the Greater

Columbia Civil War Alliance. One woman resident
described the scene: “Such an awful sight!
The...street filled with a throng of men, drunken,
dancing, shouting, cursing wretches, every one
bearing a tin torch or a blazing lightwood knot.
The sky so dark a half hour before, was already
glowing with light, and flames were rising in every
direction.”

§§8§

BITTER TIMES

Multiple fires erupted in different places and
quickly spread. Wagons, loaded with cotton and
readied for flight out of town by the Confederate
military, stood unprotected in the streets and
added fuel to the flames. Streets were also strewn
with debris, remnants of the looters (some of them
Confederate soldiers) and fleeing residents. Gust-
ing winds swept burning bits of cotton, cinders,
and other fiery objects skyward, creating an incen-
diary blizzard.

Residents and former slaves cowered in parks
and open spaces to escape the searing heat and
collapsing buildings. A Union officer remembered,
“The broad beautiful streets were lighted as if it
were day. The heat in almost every direction was
overpowering. The thousands of shade-trees that
adorned the city were twisting and twining like
serpents.”

From the beginning, according to historian
Elmore, some Union troops fought fires and
heroically protected private property. Sherman,
exhausted from so many days of arduous marches,
apparently slept through the early stages of the
conflagration. He and his highest-ranking officers
eventually took decisive steps to subdue unruly
troops and to try to contain the blazes, but their
efforts came too late. By morning, at least one
third of the city, consisting of entire blocks of
buildings, was reduced to smoking ruins.
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While there are tantalizing hints that some
high-ranking Union officers, perhaps including
Sherman, planned the torching of Columbia, there
is no definitive poof of such a strategy. Some
evidence even suggests that Sherman had no such
intentions, only planning the destruction of facto-
ries and government buildings. There is little
doubt, however, that by the time of the South
Carolina campaign hatred ran deep on both sides
of the conflict. Once a glorious crusade for many
Northerners and Southerners, the Civil War had
descended into a bitter, ugly struggle that had
dragged on for years.

Fueling the enmity were several specific
instances. Northerners were incensed, for exam-
ple, when escaped Union prisoners of war began
telling of the horrid conditions at the Confederate
prison at Andersonville, Georgia, where thou-
sands of captured Union soldiers died. Confeder-
ate officials, including President Jefferson Davis,
argued that they provided the best conditions
possible for the captives, considering invading
armies and the Union naval blockade, but nothing
could assuage Northern outrage. Some United
States senators and top-ranking military officials
called for retaliation. Union soldiers discovered
another grim, though smaller war prison, Camp
Sorghum, on the outskirts of Columbia.

Sherman also became furious when his troops
stumbled on land mines planted by Confederates
outside Savannah. The general considered these
devices to be beyond the bounds of civilized rules.
“This was no war, but murder and it made me
very angry,” Sherman wrote. He ordered Confed-
erate prisoners to walk in front of his army,
risking their own maiming or deaths to remove
the explosives.

Southerners, for their part, were livid because
Sherman targeted civilians for punishment. In the
southern part of South Carolina, for example,
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Union troops burned major portions of at least
eight smaller towns, according to researchers at
the South Carolina Confederate Relic Room and
Museum.

While his troops apparently committed few
acts of physical harm against civilians and burned
arelatively small percentage of houses after leav-
ing Atlanta, Sherman’s foragers stripped many
residences of all food, farm animals, and supplies,
leaving families, who were already suffering,
desperate. What the army missed, clusters of
Union deserters trailing Sherman often took.
Wheeler’s Confederate cavalry also gained a
reputation for stealing.

During the South Carolina campaign, Sher-
man’s troops discovered eighteen dead Union
soldiers, whose throats were slit or heads bashed.
Some of these corpses wore signs saying, “Death
to all Foragers.” Sherman blamed the Confederate
cavalry for the killings and wrote a letter to Wade
Hampton promising retaliation. In the letter,
Sherman defended his troops’ foraging as “a right
as old as history.”

Both Hampton and Wheeler denied any knowl-
edge of the throat-slitting incident. Hampton wrote
back to Sherman, threatening to shoot two Union
soldiers for every Confederate killed in retaliation
for the atrocities. Hampton also complained about
the harm Sherman was causing women and chil-
dren and promised that his soldiers would shoot
any Union soldier caught burning a house. “This
order shall remain in force so long as you disgrace
the profession of arms by allowing your men to
destroy private dwellings,” Hampton wrote.

Sherman did not reply, but told one of his
officers to ignore Hampton’s concerns about
“...warring against women and children. If they
[the Confederates] claim to be men, they should
defend their women and children and prevent us
reaching their homes.”












more money than other visitors, according to the
Pearlman report. They “are more educated, more
environmentally aware and more sensitive to
unique and fragile community cultures. They are
interested in the authentic, real, natural and
interesting and do not need or want contrived
offerings or invented activities.” And the
Archeological Park’s appeal will likely not be
limited only to residents of the United States.
“People in Europe, South America, Africa and
Asia are increasingly interested in visiting the
United States and learning about its fascinating
history,” according to Nagler, the urban planner
with the River Alliance.

Another reason this park will generate so
much enthusiasm is because similar properties
once rich with historical resources elsewhere have
already been destroyed through development such
as housing, strip malls, and office buildings. “This
is the kind of place that is frequently bulldozed
before it can be preserved,” explained Dawson of
the River Alliance. That is why the River Alliance
and a coalition of interested individuals and
government officials are moving rapidly to
establish the park and preserve the land. The
creativity and planning that has already taken
place inspires hope that the park will soon
become a reality. The current landowner, South
Carolina Electric and Gas, is also encouraging.

Nevertheless, potential stumbling blocks lie
ahead. One serious obstacle to park development
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could come from untrained and unauthorized
people who dig up archeological sites. These
unauthorized “pot hunters” can destroy the
historical record forever. The pitted ground they
leave from their digging is symbolic of the
destruction they wreak on potential knowledge of
the human past.

As the Pearlman report put it, “Careful
planning of the (park) site must ensue to deter
theft and public degradation.” Planners are
already developing ideas for deterring such
trespassers and are asking everyone to join in the
goal of saving the site. Individuals are also
welcomed and encouraged to lend their support
to this rare chance to preserve a place so rich in
history and full of opportunities for study,
education, and recreation.

The distinguished archeologist Stanley South
recently wrote that this book does “a remarkable
job of synthesizing the archeological and historic
periods represented in the [proposed] park.” The
information presented in these pages, however,
recounts only what is now known, and there is so
much more to discover.

The Archeological Park will open up vast
opportunities for enhancing knowledge and
sharing what is learned with anyone curious about
the past. As Stanley South put it
“Congratulations to the River Alliance and to the
National Park Service for your efforts to create
this unique archeological park.”






Blanton, Dennis B.
1983  Lithic Raw Material Procurement and Use During the Morrow Mountain Phase in South
Carolina. Unpublished M. A. Thesis, Department of Anthropology, Brown University.

Brooks, U. R.
1990 Butler and His Cavalry in the War of Secession, 1861—1865. 1994 reprint by the Guild Bindery
Press, Germantown, Tennessee.

Brose, David S., and N "omi Greber (editors)
1979  Hopewell Archeology—The Chillicothe Conference. Kent State University Press, Kent, Ohio.

Cable, J. S.
1996 Results of the 1996 Manning Site Survey, Cayce, South Carolina. New South Associates, Stone
Mountain, Georgia.

Castel, Albert
1992 Decision in the West—The Atlanta Campaign of 1864. University Press of Kansas, Lawrence,
Kansas.

Cornelius, Kay and Arthur M. Schlesinger, Jr.
2001  Francis Marion, The Swamp Fox. Chelsea House Publishers, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

DePratter, Chester B.
1989 Cofitachequie: Ethnohistorical and Archaeological Evidence, from studies in South Carolina
Archaeology: Essays in Honor of Robert L. Stephenson. The University of South Carolina,
Charleston, South Carolina.

Dodson, W. C. (editor)
nd.  Campaigns of Wheeler and his Cavalry, 1862—1865. Undated reprint published by the Guild
Bindery Press, Jackson, Tennessee.

DuBose, John W.
1912 General Joseph Wheeler and The Army of Tennessee. Neale Publishing Company, New York,
New York.

Edgar, Walter
1998  South Carolina: A History. University of South Carolina Press, Columbia, South Carolina.

Edgar, Walter

2001  Partisans and Redcoats—The Southern Conflict that Turned the Tide of the American
Revolution. HarperCollins Publishers Inc., New York, New York.

118



Ehrenhard, John E. (editor)
1990 Coping with Site Looting: Southeastern Perspectives. Southeast Archeological Center, National
Park Service, Tallahassee, Florida.

Elmore, Tom
2004 The Burning of Columbia, South Carolina, February 17, 1865. Blue & Gray Magazine, Volume
XXI-Issue 2, Columbus, Ohio.

Freeman, Douglas Southall
1944  Lee’s Lieutenants, A Study in Command. Charles Scribner’s Sons, New York, New York.

Frison, George C.
1989 Experimental Use of Clovis Weaponry and Tools on African Elephants. American Antiquity.
54: 766-784.

Gardner, William M.
1989  An Examination of Cultural Change in the Late Pleistocene and Early Holocene (circa 9200 to
6800 B.C.). In Paleolndian Research in Virginia: A Synthesis, edited by J. Mark Wittkofski
and Theodore R. Reinhart, pp. 5-51.

Gay, Charles E.
1974  The History of Fort Congaree, 1716—1722. Unpublished Manuscript on file, Department of
History, University of South Carolina, Columbia, South Carolina.

Gedacht, Daniel C.
2004 George Washington—Leader of a New Nation. The Rosen Publishing Group, New York, New

York.

Goodyear, Albert C., James L. Michie, Tommy Charles
1990 The Earliest South Carolinians: The Paleoindian Occupation of South Carolina. The
Archaeological Society of South Carolina, Inc. Occasional Papers No. 2, American Systems of
the Carolinas, Inc., West Columbia, South Carolina.

Goodyear, Albert C.
1975 An Archeological Survey of the Proposed Alternate Three Route, Southern Alternate, of the
Southwestern Columbia Beltway Between 1-26 and S.C. 48. Institute of Archeology and
Anthropology, University of South Carolina, Columbia, South Carolina.

Goodyear, Albert C.
1976 A Proposed Study of the Archeology and History of the Otarre Development Company
Property. Research Manuscript Series, No. 99, Institute of Archeology and Anthropology,
University of South Carolina, Columbia, South Carolina.

119



Goodyear, Albert C.
2002 Research—Backhoes, BBQs, and B Horizons: the 2002 Allendale PaleoIndian Expedition.
Legacy, Volume 7, pp. 22-27. South Carolina Institute of Archaeology and Anthropology,
Columbia, South Carolina.

Hudson, Charles M., Marvin T. Smith, and Chester B. DePratter
1984 The Hernando de Soto Expedition: From Apalachee to Chiaha. Southeastern Archaeology.
3:65-77.

Hudson, Charles M.
1976  The Southeastern Indians. University of Tennessee Press, Knoxville, Tennessee.

Hudson, Charles M.
1997  Knights of Spain, Warriors of the Sun (Hernando de Soto and the South’s Ancient Chiefdoms.
The University of Georgia Press, Athens, Georgia.

Jones, Lewis P,
1978  South Carolina—A Synoptic History for Laymen, revised edition. Sandlapper Publishing Inc.,
Orangeburg, South Carolina.

Kane, Sharyn and Richard Keeton
2006 Ancient Mounds and Modern Attractions, Visiting the Mississippi Delta. Southeast
Archeological Center, National Park Service, Tallahassee, Florida.

Kane, Sharyn and Richard Keeton
1993  Beneath These Waters, Archeological and Historical Studies of 11,500 Years Along the
Savannah River. Russell Studies, Southeast Archeological Center, National Park Service,
Tallahassee, Florida.

Kane, Sharyn and Richard Keeton
1994  In Those Days, African-American Life near the Savannah River. Russell Studies, Southeast
Archeological Center, National Park Service, Tallahassee, Florida.

Keeton, Richard and Sharyn Kane
2003 Fort Benning—The Land and the People. Southeast Archeological Center, National Park
Service, Tallahassee, Florida.

Keeton, Richard and Sharyn Kane

1999  Fiery Dawn—The Civil War Battle at Monroe’s Crossroad, North Carolina. Southeast
Archeological Center, National Park Service, Tallahassee, Florida.

120



Lamont, Daniel S. (editor)
1971 War of the Rebellion: Official Records of the Union and Confederate Armies. The National
Historical Society, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania.

Larson, Lewis H., Jr.
1972 Functional Considerations of Warfare in the Southeast during the Mississippian Period.
American Antiquity. 37: 383-392.

Marshall, Eliot
2001 Pre-Clovis Sites Fight for Acceptance. Science, Volume 291, pp. 1730-1732.

Marszalek, John F.
1933 Sherman — A Soldier’s Passion for Order. The Free Press, a division of MacMillan, Inc., New
York, New York.

McDowell, William L., Jr.
1974 The 1718 Congaree Fort. Unpublished Manuscript on file, South Carolina Department of
Archives & History, Columbia, South Carolina.

Meltzer, David J.
1989 Why Don’t We Know When the First People Came to North America? American Antiquity.
54:471-490.

Michie, James L.
1969 Excavations at Thom's Creek. The Institute of Archeology and Anthropology Notebook.
October 1969, Volume 1 (10) 2—-16, University of South Carolina, Columbia, South Carolina.

Michie, James L.
1989  The Discovery of Old Fort Congaree. Research Manuscript Series 208. South Carolina Institute
of Archaeology & Anthropology, Columbia, South Carolina.

Morison, Samuel Eliot and Henry Steele Commager
1962 The Growth of the American Republic. Oxford University Press, New York, New York.

Morse, Dan F. and Phyllis A. Morse
1980 Zebree Archaeological Project Excavation, Data Interpretation, and Report on the Zebree
Homestead Site, Mississippi County, Arkansas. Unpublished Manuscript on file, U.S. Army
Corps of Engineers, Memphis, Tennessee.

O’Steen, Lisa

2003 Data Recovery on Three Areas of the Manning Site (38LX50) Lexington County, South
Carolina. New South Associates, Stone Mountain, Georgia.

121



Pearlman, David
2000 12,000-Year History Park—Development Feasibility and Target Market Identification.
Institute for Tourism Research, University of South Carolina, Columbia, South Carolina.

Roberts, Wayne D.
2003 The Battle of Congaree Creek—February 15, 1865. Fifteenth Regiment South Carolina
Volunteers Camp 51, Lexington, South Carolina.

Rudolph, James L. and David J. Hally
1985 Archaeological Investigations at the Beaverdam Creek Site (9EBSS), Elbert County, Georgia.
Russell Papers, Southeast Archeological Center, National Park Service, Tallahassee, Florida.

Russo, Michael
1994 A Brief Introduction to the Study of Archaic Mounds in the Southeast. In Southeastern
Archaeology 13(2): 89-93.

Sandburg, Carl
1966  Abraham Lincoln—The Prairie Years and The War Years. Harcourt, Brace & World, Inc., New
York, New York

Sassaman, Kenneth E.
1983 Middle and Late Archaic Settlement in the South Carolina Piedmont. Unpublished M. A. thesis,
Department of Anthropology, University of South Carolina, Columbia.

Scott, Douglas D. and Richard A. Fox, Jr.
1987 Archaeological Insights into the Custer Battle. University of Oklahoma Press, Norman,
Oklahoma.

South, Stanley
1978 Method and Theory in Historical Archaeology. Academic Press, New York, New York.

Southerlin, B., D. Reid, C. Huddleston, C. Smith, D. Leigh, and T. Neuman
1997  The Twelfth Street Extension Archaeological Data Recovery Project: Investigations at the
Godley Site (38LX141) and Manning (38LX50) Sites, Lexington, County, South Carolina.
Brockington Associates, Atlanta, Georgia and Charleston, South Carolina.

Tarleton, Banastre
1787 A History of the Campaigns of 1780 & 1781 in the Southern Provinces of North America.
Reprint in 1999, Ayer Company Publishers, Inc., New York, New York.

Toner, Mike

2004 Earliest Americans May Predate Ice Age. The Atlanta Journal-Constitution, November 18, A-
12.

122



Trinkley, Michael B.
1974 Excavations at Thom’s Creek (38L.X2) South Carolina. South Carolina Antiquities (2).

Trinkley, Michael B.
1974  Archaeological Survey to Locate Old Fort Congaree. University of South Carolina, Columbia,
South Carolina.

Trinkley, Michael B.
1976 The Search for the Old Fort Congaree Site. Institute of Archeology and Anthropology,
University of South Carolina, Columbia, South Carolina.

Warner, E. J.
1959 Generals in Grey: Lives of the Confederate Commanders. Louisiana State University Press,
Baton Rouge, Louisiana.

Warner, E. J.
1964 Generals in Blue: Lives of the Union Commanders. Louisiana State University Press, Baton
Rouge, Louisiana.

Wiencek, Henry
2003  An Imperfect God—George Washington, His Slaves and the Creation of America. Farrar,
Straus & Giroux, Union Square West, New York.

Williams, T. Harry, Richard N. Current, Frank Freidel
1960 A History of the United States Since 1865. Alfred A. Knopf, New York, New York.

Williams, T. Harry
1952 Lincoln and His Generals. Dorset Press. New York, New York.

Winn, William W.
1992 The Old Beloved Path, Daily Life Among the Indians of the Chattahoochee River Valley. The
Columbus Museum, Columbus, Georgia, and the Historic Chattahoochee Commission, Eufaula,
Alabama.

Wogaman, Ronald W., John H. House and Albert C. Goodyear
1976 An Archeological Reconnaissance of the Four Proposed Twelfth Street Extension Routes,
Lexington County, South Carolina. Institute of Archeology and Anthropology, University of
South Carolina, Columbia, South Carolina.

Additional Sources

Further information provided for this proposal included pamphlets supplied by the River Alliance, the
South Carolina Confederate Relic Room and Military Museum, the South Carolina Department of Archives
& History, the South Carolina State Museum, and the Cayce Historical Museum, as well as an unpublished

123



manuscript entitled: /2,000 Year History Park Resource Inventory (Preliminary)—author unknown,
prepared for the River Alliance.

World-Wide-Web Sites
HistoryCentral.com
HistoryofWar.org
MyRevolutionaryWar.com
Radix.net/~dalia/Tarleton/Banastre
RevolutionaryDay.com
RevolutionaryWarArchives.org
RoyalProvincial.com
SouthCarolinaParks.com
SouthernCampaign.org
TheAmericanRevolution.com

Supplied Additional Information

Natalie Adams, archeologist

Mike Dawson, director, the River Alliance

Daniel Elliott, archeologist

Tom Elmore, historian

Albert Goodyear, archeologist

Fritz Hamer, historian, South Carolina State Museum

John Jameson, archeologist, National Park Service

Jonathan M. Leader, state archeologist, South Carolina Institute of Archaeology and Anthropology
Frank Knapp, Greater Columbia Civil War Alliance

Matthew Lockhart, historian, editor of the South Carolina Historical Magazine
Chad Long, archeologist, the South Carolina Historic Preservation Office

Joe Long, historian, South Carolina Confederate Relic Room and Military Museum
Patrick McCawley, archivist, South Carolina Archives & History Center

Oz Nagler, urban planner, the River Alliance

Leo Redmond, Director, the Cayce Historical Museum

Stanley South, archeologist

Rodger Stroup, South Carolina Archives & History Center

Michael Trinkley, archeologist

§§8

124









	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



